

UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE SANTA CATARINA CENTRO TECNOLÓGICO PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM ENGENHARIA DE ALIMENTOS

Fernando Kahrin Cardoso da Costa

Biossíntese de ácido propiônico e análise do comportamento de Salmonella Typhimurium ATCC 14028 exposta a ácidos orgânicos

> Florianópolis 2023

Fernando Kahrin Cardoso da Costa

Biossíntese de ácido propiônico e análise do comportamento de Salmonella Typhimurium ATCC 14028 exposta a ácidos orgânicos

Tese submetida ao Programa de Pósgraduação em Engenharia de Alimentos da Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina como requisito para a obtenção do título de Doutor em Engenharia de Alimentos

Orientadora: Prof.^a Dr.^a Jaciane Lutz lenczak Coorientadora: Prof.^a Dr.^a Gláucia M. F. de Aragão

Florianópolis 2023 Ficha de identificação da obra elaborada pelo autor, através do Programa de Geração Automática da Biblioteca Universitária da UFSC.

Da Costa, Fernando Kahrin Cardoso Biossíntese de ácido propiônico e análise do comportamento de Salmonella Typhimurium ATCC 14028 exposta a ácidos orgânicos / Fernando Kahrin Cardoso Da Costa ; orientadora, Jaciane Lutz Ienczak, coorientadora, Gláucia Maria Falcão De Aragão, 2023. 166 p.
Tese (doutorado) - Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina, Centro Tecnológico, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Engenharia de Alimentos, Florianópolis, 2023.
Inclui referências.
1. Engenharia de Alimentos. 2. Bioprocessos. 3. Antimicrobianos. 4. Microbiologia preditiva. 5. Patógenos.
I. Ienczak, Jaciane Lutz. II. De Aragão, Gláucia Maria Falcão . III. Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina.
Programa de Pós-Graduação em Engenharia de Alimentos. IV. Título. Fernando Kahrin Cardoso da Costa

Biossíntese de ácido propiônico e análise do comportamento de Salmonella Typhimurium ATCC 14028 exposta a ácidos orgânicos

O presente trabalho em nível de Doutorado foi avaliado e aprovado, em 04 de maio de 2023, pela banca examinadora composta pelos seguintes membros:

Jean Carlos Correia Peres Costa, Dr. Universidade de Córdoba

> Prof.^a. Silvani Verruck, Dr^a UFSC

Sidnei Emilio Bordignon Junior, Dr. Biorigin

Certificamos que esta é a versão original e final do trabalho de conclusão que foi julgado adequado para obtenção do título de Doutor em Engenharia de Alimentos

Insira neste espaço a assinatura digital

Coordenação do Programa de Pós-Graduação

Insira neste espaço a assinatura digital

.....

Prof.^a Jaciane Lutz lenczak, Dr^a

Orientador(a)

Florianópolis, 2023

Dedico este trabalho aos meus pais, que sempre me incentivaram e me acompanharam em cada conquista.

AGRADECIMENTOS

Gostaria de expressar meus sinceros agradecimentos a todos que contribuíram com a minha tese. Primeiramente, agradeço a minha orientadora Prof^a. Jaciane por ter aceitado meu convite e ter me guiado em todo processo da pesquisa, por ter me fornecido conhecimentos valiosos que foram essenciais para o sucesso do trabalho. Agradeço a minha coorientadora Prof^a. Gláucia pelas contribuições para minha pesquisa, que foram fundamentais para meu desempenho pessoal e profissional.

Agradeço também ao Prof. Bruno Carciofi pelo compromisso e sugestões construtivas, que ajudaram a melhorar este trabalho em muitos aspectos. Ao Fernando Curbani por sempre se prontificar a me ajudar com as questões burocráticas.

Aos meus amigos e colegas de trabalho, que me apoiaram e incentivaram durante todo o período de estudos, especialmente, Camila Mota, Dani, Clara, Karina Andrade, Pedro, Gabi, Thalles, Romy, Callebe, Eulália, Clóvis, Renata, Amanda, Jaízia, Marcel, Ju, Lauren, Isa, Sandra, meu muito obrigado. Agradeço aos alunos de iniciação científica, que gentilmente se dispuseram a ajudar e participar deste trabalho. Não há dúvidas de que essa jornada foi longa e desafiadora, mas graças a presença de todos foi também repleta de momentos de alegria, motivação e companheirismo.

Um agradecimento especial aos meus pais Madalena, João Batista e Maria Eliane (*in memoriam*), e meus irmãos Felipe e Francisco, pelas palavras reconfortantes de encorajamento, pela presença constante que foram fundamentais para que eu não desistisse em nenhum momento. Agradeço por terem me ensinado a importância do trabalho árduo e da persistência, valores que foram essenciais para que eu pudesse superar todos os desafios que surgiram pelo caminho.

Por fim, agradeço a UFSC, PPGEAL, LiEB e CAPES pelo financiamento.

A todos, muito obrigado.

RESUMO

A utilização excessiva de antibióticos promotores de crescimento na cadeia produtiva avícola tem sido uma preocupação em relação ao desenvolvimento de bactérias resistentes. Os ácidos orgânicos (AO) de base petroquímica são amplamente utilizados na indústria avícola em substituição aos antibióticos, mas sua produção não é sustentável, pois dependem de fontes finitas e causam poluição ambiental durante o processo. Uma alternativa sustentável são os AO microbianos, que podem minimizar o impacto ambiental e garantir a segurança dessa importante cadeia mundial de produção de alimentos. Nesse contexto, o objetivo geral desse estudo foi testar o efeito de AO (petroquímicos e produzidos por via microbiana) em diferentes pHs (4,5, 5,5 e 5,5) e condições de oxigênio, além de modelar a cinética de crescimento e inativação de Salmonella Typhimurium, que é um dos patógenos mais pertinentes no setor avícola. Os compostos avaliados para inibir S. Typhimurium incluem ácido propiônico (AP) e acético (AA) de origem petroquímica, mistura de AO do caldo da fermentação propiônica, propionic fermentation broth, (PFB) produzida por Propionibacterium freudenreichii e dois produtos comerciais com misturas de AO. Todos os experimentos foram realizados em meio BHI ajustado para os pH desejados com HCI 1 M, assim como os AO do PFB para obtenção de soluções de PFB em cada pH. As concentrações de PFB analisadas foram calculadas com base na concentração de AP presente no caldo. Todos os testes foram incubados a 37 °C por 48 h sem agitação e a contagem dos sobreviventes foi realizada em tempos préconcentrações determinados. Determinou-se inibitórias mínimas (CIM) е concentrações bactericidas mínimas (CBM) dos compostos, como a menor concentração capaz de inibir o crescimento, e de reduzir 3-log de S. Typhimurium em 48 h de contato, respectivamente. Reailzou-se modelagem matemática para avaliar o efeito das concentrações dos ácidos sobre os parâmetros dos modelos primários e estimar concentrações do AP e do PFB para reduzir 3-log de S. Typhimurium em 3 h (tempo de trânsito intestinal de frangos) por modelagem secundária. Os resultados mostraram que a melhor condição para inativação de S. Typhimurium em contato com o AP foi em pH 4,5, com CIM de 7 mM e CBM de 10 mM. Em condições de oxigênio limitado, não foi possível determinar a CIM do AA em pH 4,5. No entanto, em aerobiose, a CIM do AA para S. Typhimurium foi de 4 mM. Em pH 5,5, a eficiência do AA aumentou em cerca de 3 vezes em condições de oxigênio limitado. Para inibição da cepa pelo PFB, a melhor condição observada foi em pH 4,5, com CIM de 3,5 mM e CBM de 10 mM. As concentrações de AP e PFB em pH 4,5 estimadas por extrapolação do modelo secundário exponencial para reduzir 3-log de S. Typhimurium em 3 h foram 94 e 46,4 mM, respectivamente. Embora o modelo tenha sido preciso na previsão da concentração de AP, no PFB, as 3 reduções decimais do patógeno só foram obtidas após 10 h de contato. A combinação do AP e AA no PFB teve efeito sinérgico apenas em pH 4,5, com índices de concentração inibitória fracionada (FICindex) menor que 1. Por fim, as reduções logarítmicas de S. Typhimurium em contato com o PFB em pH 4,5 e 5,5 foram tão eficientes quanto às obtidas pelos produtos de AO comerciais testados, demonstrando que o PFB pode ser uma solução alternativa promissora para substituição de AO de base petroquímica, sendo um antimicrobiano natural com grande potencial de uso em indústrias avícolas para o controle de S. Typhimurium.

Palavras-chave: Antimicrobiano natural; Antibióticos promotores de crescimento; Microbiologia preditiva.

ABSTRACT

The excessive use of antibiotics growth promoting in the poultry production chain has been a concern regarding the development of antibiotic-resistant bacteria. Petrochemical-based organic acids (OA) are widely used in the poultry industry as a replacement for antibiotics, but their production is not sustainable because they depend on finite sources and cause environmental pollution during the process. A sustainable alternative is microbial OA, which can minimize environmental impact and ensure the safety of this important worldwide food production chain. In this context, the general objective of this study was to test the effect of OA (petrochemical produced via microbial fermentation) at different pHs (4.5, 5.5, and 5.5) and oxygen conditions, as well as to model the growth and inactivation kinetics of Salmonella Typhimurium, which is one of the most pertinent pathogens in the poultry sector. The compounds evaluated to inhibit S. Typhimurium included propionic acid (PA) and acetic acid (AA) derived from petrochemical sources, a mixture of OA from propionic fermentation broth (PFB) produced by Propionibacterium freudenreichii, and two commercial products with OA mixtures. All experiments were carried out in BHI medium adjusted to the desired pH with 1 M HCl, as well as the PFB OAs to obtain PFB solutions at each pH. The PFB concentrations analyzed were calculated based on the concentration of PA present in the broth. All tests were incubated at 37 °C for 48 h without shaking, and survivors were counted at predetermined times. Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (MIC) of the compounds were determined as the lowest concentration able to inhibit growth, and to reduce 3-log of S. Typhimurium in 48 h of contact, respectively. Mathematical modeling was performed to evaluate the effect of acid concentrations on the parameters of the primary models, and to estimate AP and PFB concentrations to reduce 3-log S. Typhimurium in 3 h (chicken intestinal transit time) by secondary modeling. The results showed that the best condition for the inactivation of S. Typhimurium in contact with PA was at pH 4.5, with a MIC of 7 mM and MBC of 10 mM. Under limited oxygen conditions, it was not possible to determine the MIC of AA at pH 4.5. However, under aerobic conditions, the MIC of AA for S. Typhimurium was 4 mM. At pH 5.5, the efficiency of AA increased about three times under limited oxygen conditions. For inhibition of the strain by PFB, the best condition observed was at pH 4.5, with a MIC of 3.5 mM and MBC of 10 mM. The AP and PFB concentrations estimated by extrapolation of the exponential secondary model to reduce 3 logs of S. Typhimurium in 3 h at pH 4.5 were 94 and 46.4 mM, respectively. Although the model was accurate in predicting the AP concentration, in PFB, the 3 decimal reductions of the pathogen were only obtained after 10 hours of contact. The combination of PA and AA in PFB had a synergistic effect only at pH 4.5, with fractional inhibitory concentration (FIC_{index}) less than 1. Finally, the logarithmic reductions of S. Typhimurium in contact with PFB at pH 4.5 and 5.5 were higher than those obtained by the tested commercial AO products. This demonstrates that PFB can be a promising alternative solution to substitute AO from a petrochemical base, being a natural antimicrobial with great potential for use in the poultry industry for the control of S. Typhimurium.

Keywords: Natural antimicrobial; Antibiotics growth promoters; Predictive microbiology.

LISTA DE FIGURAS

Figure 3.3 - Secondary Exponential model of t3DR as a function of PA concentration for t3DR = 3 h. Filled squares (\blacksquare) represent the t3DR values for each PA concentration evaluated at pH 4.5. The solid lines (—) represent the values predicted

Figure 4.1 - Growth of *S*. Typhimurium (Ln OD/OD00 630 nm) under oxygen-limited (A) and aerobic (B) conditions for the Control experiments at pH 4.5 (**■**), pH 5.5 (**●**), and pH 6.5 (**▲**). The lines represent only the connection between the points......90

Figure 4.2 - Growth of S. Typhimurium (*Ln OD/OD*00 630 nm) exposed to different concentrations of AA in limited-oxygen conditions at pH 4.5 (A) with 0.9 mM (\blacklozenge), 1.8 mM (\blacktriangle), 3.5 mM (\triangledown), 7.1 mM (\blacktriangleleft), 14.2 mM (\blacktriangleright), 28.4 mM (\blacksquare), 56.8 mM (\bigcirc), 113.5 mM PA (\blacktriangle), 227 mM PA (\bigtriangledown); at pH 5.5 (B) with 0.9 mM (\blacklozenge), 1.7 mM (\blacktriangleleft), 3.4 mM (\triangleright), 6.9 mM (\blacksquare), 13.8 mM (\bigcirc), 27.5 mM PA (\vartriangle), 55 mM PA (\bigtriangledown), and at pH 6.5 (C) with 80 mM (\bigstar), 130 mM (\blacktriangledown), 180 mM (\blacklozenge), 230 mM (\blacktriangleleft), 280 mM (\triangleright), 330 mM (\blacksquare), 380 mM (\bigcirc), 390 mM PA (\blacktriangle); 400 mM PA (\bigtriangleup), 410 mM (\bigtriangledown), 420 mM PA (\triangleleft); 430 mM PA (\triangleright). Lines represent only connections between the points.

Figure 5.1 - Ln (*Abs/Abs*0) for two sets of samples. The first set (A) includes 24h (\bullet), and 48h (\bullet) pre-inoculum culture. The second set (B) includes 24h (\bullet) and 48h (\bullet) inoculum cultures. (C) and (D) represent the profile of sugars, products and cells of the pre-inoculum and inoculum of *P. freudenreichii*, respectively. PA (\bullet), AA (\blacktriangle), SA (\triangledown), glucose (\bullet), Glycerol (\square), DCW (\bullet). The solid lines (-) represent the linear fit.115 Figure 5.2 - PA production by *P. freudenreichii*. PA (\bullet), AA (\bigstar), SA (\triangledown), glucose (\bullet), DCW (\bullet). The solid lines represent polynomial fits (A). Specific growth rates ($\mu_X \dots$), substrate consumption ($\mu_S -$) and PA production ($\mu_{PA} -$ --) for propionic fermentation (B).

Figure 5.6 - Concentration for required for 3-log reductions of *S*. Typhimurium in 3 h of contact with PFB at pH 4.5 (A) and pH 5.5 (B). The solid lines (—) represent the values predicted by the secondary exponential model, the dotted lines (^{——}) represent the data extrapolation up 3 h.

LISTA DE TABELAS

Tabela 2.1 - Lista de substâncias proibidas no Brasil e legislação correspondente40
Tabela 2.2 - Propriedade físico-químicas do ácido propiônico. 48
Table 3.1 - Final pH after 48 h of bacterial growth or inactivation and the finalconcentration of undissociated PA, HA.70
Table 3.2 - Parameters (± standard deviation) and statistical indices by fitting the BAR and Weibull models to the experimental data of the growth and inactivation curves of <i>S</i> . Typhimurium in BHI medium with buffered PA at pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5
Table 3.3 - Estimated values of the empirical parameters a and b by fitting the exponential secondary model to the β values, c and $[PA]lim$ by fitting the square root model to the μmax values and statistical indices of each model
Table 4.1 - S. Typhimurium cell concentration after 48 h of contact with different AA concentrations at pH (4.5, 5.5, and 6.5) under limited oxygen and aerobic conditions. 92
Table 4.2 - Parameters (± standard deviation) and statistical indices by fitting the Weibull and BAR model to the experimental data of inactivation or growth curves of <i>S</i> . Typhimurium in BHI medium with buffered AA at pH 4.5, 5.5 and 6.5 under aerobic conditions.
Table 4.3 - Estimated values of the empirical parameters (a, b, c) , $[AA]lim$ by fitting the exponential and square root secondary models to the β values, and the coefficient of determination $(R2)$
Table 5.1 - Equations for determining the kinetic parameters of fermentation109
Table 5.2 - Kinetic parameters of PA fermentation by <i>P. freudenreichii</i>
Table 5.3 - Concentration of organic acids present in PFB at pHs (4.5, 5.5 and 6.5).
Table 5.4 - Parameters (± standard deviation) and statistical indices by fitting the BAR

LISTA DE ABREVIATURAS E SIGLAS

- h₀ Estado fisiológico da célula
- X₀ Concentração inicial de célula em base seca
- Y_{AP/S} Fator de conversão de substrato em ácido acético
- $Y_{AS/S}$ Fator de conversão de substrato em ácido succínico
- $Y_{X/S}$ Fator de conversão de substrato em célula
- y₀ Concentração inicial de células de acordo com o modelo de Baranyi e Roberts
- Y_{AA/S} Fator de conversão de substrato em ácido acético
- *y_{MAX}* Crescimento da população máxima de acordo com modelo de *Baranyi e Roberts*

 μ_{max} - Velocidade específica máxima de crescimento de acordo com o modelo de *Baranyi* e *Roberts*

- AA Ácido acético
- AO Ácidos orgânicos
- AP Ácido propiônico
- APC Antibiótico promotor de crescimento
- AS Ácido succínico
- ATCC American Type Culture Collection
- ATR- Acid tolerance response
- BAR Baranyi & Roberts
- BHI Brain-Heart Infusion
- CBM Concentração bactericida mínima
- CIM Concentração inibitória mínima
- DCW Dry cell weight, concentração de célula em base seca [g L-1]
- DNA Desoxyribonucleic acid
- FIC Fractional inhibitory concentration
- PFB Propionic fermentation broth
- pH Potencial hidrogeniônico
- RNA Ribonucleic acid
- TGI Trato gastrointestinal
- UFC Unidades formadoras de colônias
- X Concentração de célula em base seca

pKa - Constante de dissociação ácida

y - Concentração de células no instante *t* de acordo com o modelo *de Baranyi e Roberts*

 α - Fator de forma de acordo com o modelo de Weibull

 β - Fator de escala, tempo para redução de um ciclo logarítmico de acordo com o modelo de Weibull

 λ - Duração da fase *lag* de acordo com o modelo de Weibull

DIAGRAMA CONCEITUAL

Biossíntese de ácido propiônico e análise do comportamento de Salmonella Typhimurium ATCC 14028 exposta a ácidos orgânicos

Por quê?

A contaminação por Salmonella enterica em animais produtores de alimentos ainda é um problema recorrente que ocasiona perdas econômicas nas indústrias avícolas, além de apresentar uma preocupação mundial de saúde pública.

O uso de antibióticos, especialmente pertencentes às classes usadas na medicina humana, com a finalidade de combater as infecções e melhorar o desempenho de animais produtores de alimentos, foi progressivamente suspenso em diversos países, devido à preocupação dos organismos internacionais de saúde quanto ao tema de resistência aos antibióticos.

A remoção dos antibióticos promotores de crescimento levou a um desempenho reduzido no ganho de peso dos animais produtores de alimentos e também aumentou a persistência de *Salmonella* no ambiente aviário. Diversos compostos antimicrobianos são usados como substituintes aos antibióticos, como por exemplo, ácidos orgânicos de cadeia curta. Esses ácidos são usados há décadas como aditivos na alimentação contribuindo para o ganho de peso de aves e para a redução de populações microbianas. Entretanto, a produção desses ácidos ocorre a partir de fontes petroquímicas, ou seja, não contribuem para a sustentabilidade dessa importante cadeia de produção de alimentos. O ácido propiônico, produzido majoritariamente por fontes petroquímicas, é um aditivo alimentar considerado seguro e utilizado como antibacteriano e antimicótico. Na produção desse composto por via biotecnológica é possível obter uma mistura de ácidos orgânicos naturais, que podem apresentar uma alternativa com grande potencial antimicrobiano para substituir os antibióticos e os ácidos de base petroquímica.

Estado da arte

Está bem documentada a eficiência de diferentes ácidos orgânicos para inibir o crescimento de Salmonella Typhimurium em diferentes condições ambientais.

Já foram relatados trabalhos comprovando que mistura comerciais de ácidos orgânicos reduzem o crescimento de *Salmonella* spp., bem como favorecem um melhor desempenho no ganho de peso de aves de corte.

Foi reportado que o ácido propiônico é eficaz na inibição de S. Typhimurium, favorece o ganho de peso em animais de corte e aumenta a digestibilidade de proteínas.

De acordo com a literatura consultada, há poucos trabalhos que demonstram os efeitos do ácido propiônico e acético em cepas de *S*. Typhimurium expostas a diferentes concentrações dos ácidos levando em consideração o pH ambiente e a condição de oxigênio. E ainda não há estudos que demonstram o comportamento de *S*. Typhimurium quando exposta ao caldo da produção microbiana do ácido propiônico.

Hipóteses do trabalho

Os ácidos orgânicos possuem propriedade específicas como tamanho da cadeia carbônica e pKa, que influenciam na sua atividade antimicrobiana. Tratamento com misturas de ácidos orgânicos possuem um espectro mais amplo de pKa e podem apresentar maior eficiência na atividade antimicrobiana, atingindo o efeito desejado em baixas concentrações dos ácidos.

Acredita-se que os produtos da fermentação propiônica (AP, AA e ácido succínico demonstre um efeito inibitório sinérgico, sendo mais eficaz do que os ácidos propiônico e acético de grau analítico e um produto comercial de ácidos orgânicos, usados para evitar infecções por *S*. Typhimurium.

Estratégia

Determinar a concentração inibitória mínima (CIM) e bactericida (CBM) do ácido propiônico de grau analítico para S. Typhimurium em diferentes pH (4,5, 5,5 e 6,5), que correspondem a média de pH do trato gastrointestinal de frangos;

Utilizar modelagem matemática para estabelecer a concentração de ácido propiônico necessária para reduzir 3 log de *S*. Typhimurium em 3 h;

Determinar a CIM do ácido acético em pH 4,5, 5,5 e 6,5 para S. Typhimurium;

Produzir o ácido propiônico por *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* baseado em condições já estabelecidas na literatura;

Determinar a CIM e CBM do caldo da fermentação propiônica, com base na concentração de ácido propiônico presente, em pH 4,5, 5,5 e 6,5 para S. Typhimurium;

Utilizar modelagem matemática para estabelecer a concentração do caldo da fermentação propiônica necessária para reduzir 3 log de *S*. Typhimurium em 3 h (tempo de trânsito intestinal de frangos);

Avaliar o efeito sinérgico dos ácidos presentes no caldo da fermentação propiônica, comparando os valores de CIM de cada ácido isolado.

Comparar os resultados dos ácidos orgânicos de base biológica com um produto comercial de ácidos orgânicos de base petroquímica.

Resultados esperado

Espera-se que os ácidos orgânicos presentes no Caldo da Fermentação Propiônica sejam tão eficientes quanto misturas comerciais de ácidos orgânicos já utilizados como antimicrobiano, e apresente um efeito sinérgico para inativação *S*. Typhimurium.

ESTRUTURA DA TESE DE DOUTORADO

Este trabalho foi estruturado em capítulos. A metodologia, resultados e discussões do trabalho foram apresentados em capítulos na forma de artigos conforme a organização a seguir.

As referências bibliográficas de todos os capítulos são apresentadas ao final do trabalho.

Capítulo 1: INTRODUÇÃO E OBJETIVOS

Capítulo 2: REVISÃO BIBLIOGRÁFICA

Capítulo 3:

MODELAGEM DA INFLUÊNCIA DA CONCENTRAÇÃO DE ÁCIDO PROPIÔNICO E PH NA CINÉTICA DE SALMONELLA TYPHIMURIUM Este capítulo está apresentado como artigo científico e submetido à revista científica International Microbiology.

Capítulo 4:

EFEITO INIBITÓRIO DO ÁCIDO ACÉTICO EM DIFERENTES PH NO CONTROLE DE *SALMONELLA* TYPHIMURIUM EM CONDIÇÕES AERÓBICAS E COM LIMITAÇÃO DE OXIGÊNIO

Capítulo 5:

MODELAGEM MATEMÁTICA DO EFEITO DO CALDO DE FERMENTAÇÃO PROPIÔNICA PARA O CONTROLE DE *SALMONELLA* TYPHIMURIUM EM DIFERENTES PH

Capítulo 6:

CONCLUSÃO E SUGESTÕES PARA TRABALHOS FUTUROS

SUMÁRIO

1	INTRODUÇÃO	.24
1.1	OBJETIVOS GERAL	.27
1.1.1	Objetivos específicos	.27
2	REVISÃO BIBLIOGRÁFICA	.28
2.1	SALMONELLA	.28
2.1.1	Características microbiológicas	.28
2.1.2	Ilhas de patogenicidade de Salmonella	.29
2.2	PRODUÇÃO AVÍCOLA E LEGISLAÇÃO	.30
2.3	CONTAMINAÇÃO POR SALMONELLA NA INDÚSTRIA AVÍCOLA	.32
2.3.1	Incidência de S. Typhimurium na avicultura	.34
2.4	INFECÇÃO POR SALMONELLA EM HUMANOS	.35
2.4.1	Evidências de surtos de salmonelose humana	.36
2.5	IMPACTOS ECONÔMICOS E DE SAÚDE PÚBLICA CAUSADOS P	OR
	CONTAMINAÇÕES POR SALMONELLA	.37
2.6	USO DE ANTIBIÓTICOS PARA O CONTROLE DE PATÓGENOS	NA
	INDÚSTRIA AVÍCOLA	.38
2.7	RESISTÊNCIA MICROBIANA	.40
2.7.1	Resistência de Salmonella aos APC	.40
2.8	ÁCIDOS ORGÂNICOS	.41
2.8.1	Histórico e aplicações de AO na indústria de animais produtores	de
	alimentos	.41
2.8.2	Aplicação de AO como promotor de crescimento	.43
2.8.3	Aplicação direta de AO em alimentos	.44
2.8.4	Ação antimicrobiana dos AO	.45
2.8.5	Ácido propiônico (AP)	.47
2.8.5.1	Ácido Propiônico: Produção e Mercado	.48
2.8.5.2	Produção biotecnológica do ácido propiônico	.49
2.8.5.3	Ação antimicrobiana do AP	. 52
2.9	RESPOSTA DE TOLERÂNCIA DE SALMONELLA AOS ÁCIDOS	.53
2.10	MICROBIOLOGIA PREDITIVA	.55
2.10.1	Modelo Primário de crescimento	.56
2.10.1.1	Modelo de Baranyi & Roberts (BAR)	. 57

2.10.2	Modelo primário de inativação57		
2.10.2.1	Modelo de Inativação Weibull58		
2.10.3	Modelos secundários59		
3	MODELAGEM DA INFLUÊNCIA DA CONCENTRAÇÃO DE ÁCIDO		
	PROPIÔNICO E PH NA CINÉTICA DE SALMONELLA TYPHIMURIUM .60		
3.1	INTRODUCTION		
3.2	MATERIAL AND METHODS64		
3.2.1	Bacterial strain and inoculum64		
3.2.2	PA solutions64		
3.2.3	S. Typhimurium treatment with PA64		
3.2.4	Microbial enumeration65		
3.2.5	Mathematical modeling66		
3.2.5.1	Primary models		
3.2.5.2	Secondary model		
3.2.5.3	PA concentration for 3-log bacterial reduction in 3 h67		
3.2.6	Statistical analysis67		
3.3	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION		
3.3.1	Effect of PA and pH on S. Typhimurium68		
3.3.2	Modeling the effect of PA on S. Typhimurium behavior72		
3.3.2.1	Primary models72		
3.3.2.2	Secondary models		
3.3.2.3	Prediction of PA concentration to promote 3-log reductions in 3 h77		
3.3.2.4	Secondary model validation78		
3.4	CONCLUSION		
4	EFEITO INIBITÓRIO DO ÁCIDO ACÉTICO EM DIFERENTES PH NO		
	CONTROLE DE SALMONELLA TYPHIMURIUM EM CONDIÇÕES		
	AERÓBICAS E COM LIMITAÇÃO DE OXIGÊNIO81		
4.1	INTRODUCTION		
4.2	MATERIAL AND METHODS		
4.2.1	Strains, stock preparation, and Inoculum85		
4.2.2	Buffered Acetic Acid Solutions85		
4.2.3	Determination of the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of AA is		
	limited oxygen conditions for S. Typhimurium85		

4.2.4	Determination of the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of AA in
	aerobic conditions for S. Typhimurium86
4.2.5	Undissociated AA concentration87
4.2.6	Microbial count87
4.2.7	Primary and secondary mathematical models87
4.2.8	Statistical analysis89
4.3	RESULTS
4.3.1	Growth of S. Typhimurium in the BHI medium at pH (4.5, 5.5, and 6.5)
	without AA89
4.3.2	Treatment of S. Typhimurium with AA under oxygen-limited and aerobic
	conditions90
4.3.3	Mathematical modeling of AA effect on S. Typhimurium95
4.4	DISCUSSION100
4.5	CONCLUSION
5	MODELAGEM MATEMÁTICA DO EFEITO DO CALDO DE
	FERMENTAÇÃO PROPIÔNICA PARA O CONTROLE DE SALMONELLA
	TYPHIMURIUM EM DIFERENTES PH103
5.1	INTRODUCTION105
5.2	MATERIAL AND METHODS107
5.2.1	Propionic acid production107
5.2.1.1	Strain
5.2.1.2	Pre-inoculum and inoculum107
5.2.1.3	Batch fermentation
5.2.1.4	Analytical methods108
5.2.1.5	Kinetic analysis
5.2.2	Inhibitory action of Propionic Fermentation Broth (PFB) on S.
	Typhimurium109
5.2.2.1	Bacterial strain and seed culture109
5.2.2.2	Preparation of PFB solutions at pH 4.5, 5.5 and 6.5
5.2.2.3	Determination of the Minimal Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) and minimum
	bactericidal concentration (MBC) of PFB110
5.2.2.4	PFB undissociated minimum inhibitory concentration111
5.2.2.5	Determination of the fractional inhibitory concentration (FIC)

5.2.3	Evaluation of the behavior of S. Typhimurium in petrochemication	al-based	
	OA	112	
5.2.4	Microbial enumeration	112	
5.2.5	Primary and secondary mathematical modeling	112	
5.2.6	Statistical analysis	114	
5.3	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	114	
5.3.1	Pre-inoculum and inoculum for fermentation	114	
5.3.2	Batch production of PA	116	
5.3.3	Inhibitory action of PFB in <i>S.</i> Typhimurium: MIC, MBC and fi	ractional	
	inhibitory concentration index (<i>FICindex</i>)	118	
5.3.4	Evaluation of petrochemical-based OA on S. Typhimurium	125	
5.3.5	Primary and secondary mathematical modeling126		
5.3.6	Prediction of PFB concentration to promote 3-log reductions in	3 h.128	
5.4	CONCLUSION	131	
5.5	SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL	133	
6	CONCLUSÃO GERAL	135	
6.1	SUGESTÃO PARA TRABALHOS FUTUROS	136	
	REFERÊNCIAS	137	

1 INTRODUÇÃO

A produção de frangos teve uma expansão mundial considerável nos últimos anos e, com isso, surgiram preocupações em relação ao controle sanitário na indústria aviária, quanto à contaminação por *Salmonella* spp., que é uma bactéria que pode persistir em qualquer setor da cadeia de produção (DALLAL *et al.*, 2010; DITTOE; RICKE; KIESS, 2018; JARQUIN *et al.*, 2009; USDA, 2020; ZISHIRI; MKHIZE; MUKARATIRWA, 2016).

Salmonella spp. pode ser introduzida nas granjas avícolas por várias fontes, incluindo ovos e pintos infectados, água e ração contaminada (ZISHIRI; MKHIZE; MUKARATIRWA, 2016). Embora o habitat natural de Salmonella spp. seja o trato gastrointestinal (TGI) de animais e humanos, sua presença em outros ambientes pode ocorrer por meio de contaminação cruzada durante a mistura das rações, nos alimentadores de grãos, pelo solo, por insetos, nas operações de abate ou no transporte (JONES, 2011; OECD; FAO, 2015; SANDERSON, 2013).

A ração contaminada pode causar a perda de um lote de aves em torno de dez dias. Além da perda na produtividade e mortalidade dos animais, as contaminações resultam em um grande impacto econômico de bilhões de dólares com tratamentos médicos em humanos e *recalls* dos produtos (JARQUIN *et al.*, 2009).

Para controlar as infecções por *Salmonella* e melhorar a saúde dos animais, as indústrias utilizavam, frequentemente, antibióticos promotores de crescimento (APC) na ração ou na água potável dos animais. Os APC são administrados na produção avícola para fins profiláticos e para melhorar o crescimento e a eficiência de conversão alimentar (ARISTIMUNHA *et al.*, 2016; DIARRA; MALOUIN, 2014; GONZALEZ RONQUILLO; ANGELES HERNANDEZ, 2017; ZISHIRI; MKHIZE; MUKARATIRWA, 2016). No entanto, as indústrias avícolas foram pressionadas a reduzir o uso de APC, pois a prática excessiva desses agentes trouxe preocupações aos consumidores e à comunidade científica quanto à possibilidade de resistência bacteriana aos antibióticos (LAI *et al.*, 2014; PARRY; THRELFALL, 2008; ZISHIRI; MKHIZE; MKHIZE; MUKARATIRWA, 2016).

A redução do uso dos APC obrigou os países interessados em continuar exportando produtos de origem animal a buscar alternativas e assegurar o máximo desempenho do animal. Nesse contexto, a comunidade científica iniciou estudos sobre novos agentes para substituir os APC. Entre os compostos mais avaliados, os ácidos orgânicos se tornaram um dos principais substituintes, por apresentarem potencial antimicrobiano (POLYCARPO *et al.*, 2017; UPADHAYA; LEE; KIM, 2014; WALES; ALLEN; DAVIES, 2010).

Os ácidos orgânicos (AO) e seus sais tem sido amplamente estudados para a conservação de alimentos e para diminuição da incidência de infeções, reduzindo a carga de bactérias no TGI e diminuindo a competição por nutrientes (DIJKSTERHUIS *et al.*, 2019; DITTOE; RICKE; KIESS, 2018; HAQUE *et al.*, 1970; HUYGHEBAERT; DUCATELLE; IMMERSEEL, 2011; KHAN; IQBAL, 2016; LEE; KIM; KIM, 2015; POLYCARPO *et al.*, 2017; VAN IMMERSEEL *et al.*, 2006).

Dentre os AO utilizados como agentes antimicrobianos, o ácido propiônico (AP) apresenta boa eficiência se for aplicado em pH baixo e próximo ao do TGI dos animais (DIBNER; BUTTIN, 2002; DIBNER; RICHARDS, 2005). O ácido acético (AA) também é um importante produto químico orgânico industrial com uma grande demanda global, frequentemente, utilizado como acidulante e conservante de alimentos (GOMES *et al.*, 2018; PRAVASI, 2014). É um dos ácidos mais utilizados para lavagem de carcaças de frangos, com objetivo de prolongar a vida útil de produtos embalados (XU; SHI; JIANG, 2011).

A maior parte dos AO é produzida a partir de fontes petroquímicas (STOWERS; COX; RODRIGUEZ, 2014). No entanto, devido às preocupações quanto a poluição ambiental gerada no processo, e por usar uma fonte finita de substrato, a produção por via biológica é uma alternativa promissora para substituir os AO de base petroquímica. A produção de AP por via biotecnológica, por exemplo, chama cada vez mais atenção por utilizar de recursos renováveis no processo de fermentação, além de que o produto final pode ser rotulado como natural (AMMAR *et al.*, 2020; BECKER; WITTMANN, 2015; CHAE *et al.*, 2020; LIU *et al.*, 2015; WANG *et al.*, 2016). A biossíntese de AP também traz como produtos secundários o AA e ácido succínico (AS) (YANG *et al.*, 2018). Uma combinação de ácidos que podem apresentar um potencial efeito antimicrobiano.

O AP já foi avaliado na dieta animal como base de aditivo comercial para rações devido a sua capacidade antibacteriana e de melhorador de crescimento (DIXON; HAMILTON, 1981; HA *et al.*, 1998; KWON; RICKE, 1998b; MATLHO *et al.*, 1997; ROUSE; ROLOW; NELSON, 1988; THOMPSON; HINTON, 1997). O AA foi avaliado em vários estudos como solução de lavagem em carcaças de animais para a produção de alimentos (CARPENTER; SMITH; BROADBENT, 2011; DINÇER; BAYSAL, 2004; GONZALEZ-FANDOS; HERRERA, 2014; GONZÁLEZ-FANDOS; MARTÍNEZ-LAORDEN; PEREZ-ARNEDO, 2021; KUMAR *et al.*, 2020)

De acordo com a literatura consultada, há poucos estudos que investigaram a sensibilidade de *S*. Typhimurium exposta ao AP. A maioria dos estudos relatou o comportamento da cepa exposta à mistura de AO, nas quais o AP está presente. Além disso, esses estudos não levaram em consideração o pH ambiente, uma vez que existe uma variação do pH no TGI dos frangos (GIANNENAS *et al.*, 2014; HUME *et al.*, 1993; MABELEBELE *et al.*, 2013; RODRIGUES; CHOCT, 2018; WALES; ALLEN; DAVIES, 2010). Também não há dados na literatura sobre o uso de AA para inibir *S*. Typhimurium em diferentes condições de pH e oxigênio. Cabe ainda ressaltar que até o momento não há nada relatado na literatura consultada sobre o uso de AO microbianos para inibir *S*. Typhimurium levando em consideração o pH ambiente.

Nesse contexto, é importante estudar os efeitos dos ácidos orgânicos contra *S*. Typhimurium em pH diferentes. Esse estudo teve como objetivo estabelecer concentrações inibitórias mínimas e bactericidas de AP e AA de base petroquímica, e AO microbianos para *S*. Typhimurium em diferentes condições de pH e oxigênio. E modelar o comportamento de *S*. Typhimurium exposta a diferentes concentrações de ácidos orgânicos.

1.1 OBJETIVOS GERAL

Avaliar e modelar o comportamento de S. Typhimurium exposta a ácidos orgânicos isolados e o caldo da fermentação propiônica em diferentes pH.

1.1.1 Objetivos específicos

- Determinar a concentração inibitória mínima (CIM) e bactericida mínima (CBM) do ácido propiônico de origem petroquímica para S. Typhimurium em pH 4,5, 5,5 e 6,5;
- Modelar a cinética de crescimento e inativação de S. Typhimurium exposta ao ácido propiônico em diferentes concentrações em pH 4,5, 5,5 e 6,5 para a obtenção dos parâmetros cinéticos;
- Estimar por modelagem matemática a concentração de AP necessária para reduzir 3 ciclos logarítmicos de *S*. Typhimurium em 3 h;
- Estabelecer a CIM do ácido acético de origem petroquímica em pH 4,5, 5,5 e
 6,5 em condições aeróbias e de limitação de oxigênio;
- Produzir ácido propiônico por *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* subsp. shermani ATCC 9614 em batelada utilizando glicose como fonte de carbono;
- Ajustar modelos preditivos aos dados que descrevem o comportamento de S. Typhimurium expostas aos ácidos do caldo da fermentação propiônica em diferentes concentrações em pH 4,5, 5,5 e 6,5 para obtenção dos parâmetros de crescimento e inativação;
- Estimar por modelagem matemática a concentração do caldo da fermentação propiônica necessária para reduzir 3 ciclos logarítmicos de S. Typhimurium em 3 h;
- Avaliar o efeito associado dos ácidos orgânicos do caldo da fermentação propiônica em pH 4,5, 5,5 e 6,5, para verificar o potencial do caldo como substituinte de APC, visando o controle de S. Typhimurium.

2 REVISÃO BIBLIOGRÁFICA

2.1 SALMONELLA

2.1.1 Características microbiológicas

O gênero Salmonella foi caracterizado pela primeira vez em 1885 e recebeu o nome do Dr. Daniel Elmer Salmon, patologista veterinário que administrava um programa de pesquisa sobre microrganismos do Departamento de Agricultura dos Estados Unidos (USDA). Salmon e Theobald Smith isolaram do intestino de suínos, o que era chamado na época, *Bacillus choleraesuis*, mas essa nomenclatura foi alterada em 1900 para *Salmonella choleraesuis* (AGBAJE *et al.*, 2011; RYAN; O'DWYER; ADLEY, 2017; STEVE YAN *et al.*, 2004).

Pertencente à família Enterobacteriaceae, composta por mais de 2600 sorovares, as bactérias do gênero *Salmonella* spp. são Gram-negativas, possuem forma de bastonete, não formam esporos e geralmente são móveis com flagelos peritríticos. É um gênero anaeróbio facultativo, não fermenta lactose, é oxidase negativa, urease negativa, acetimetil-carbinol negativa e cianeto de potássio negativa (AGBAJE *et al.*, 2011; BELL; KYRIAKIDES, 2009; GARCÍA *et al.*, 2011; POPOFF; LE MINOR, 2015; RYAN; O'DWYER; ADLEY, 2017). Seu principal habitat é o trato gastrointestinal (TGI) de animais e humanos e é um patógeno clinicamente importante na medicina humana e veterinária (RYAN; O'DWYER; ADLEY, 2017; SANDERSON, 2013).

De acordo com a nomenclatura de Kauffmann-White, o gênero é dividido em duas espécies, *Salmonella bongori* e *Salmonella enterica*. Essa última espécie é dividida em seis subespécies, que são subdivididas em sorovares e diferenciadas por suas estruturas flagelares, de carboidratos e lipopolissacarídeos (COBURN; GRASSL; FINLAY, 2007). As subespécies são designadas como; enterica, salamae, arizonae, diarizonae, houtenae e indica. A nomenclatura é complexa, mas pode ser abreviada, por exemplo, *Salmonella enterica* subsp. *enterica* sorovar Typhimurium, geralmente é designado apenas pelo gênero e sorovar (*Salmonella* Typhimurium) (ANJUM; THOMSON, 2013; LAMAS *et al.*, 2018; RYAN; O'DWYER; ADLEY, 2017).

Salmonella enterica é principalmente isolada de animais de sangue quente (LAMAS et al., 2018). Em geral, a temperatura ótima de crescimento para Salmonela é de 35 a 37 °C, mas já foi registrado crescimento em temperaturas de até 54 °C, assim como, crescimento sob refrigeração nas temperaturas entre 2 a 4 °C (ADLEY; RYAN, 2016; D'AOUST; MAURER, 2007).

Salmonella pode crescer em ambientes estressantes, incluindo pH baixos de 3,8 até pH alcalino de 9,5, sendo o pH ótimo de crescimento entre 6,5 a 7,5 (GRAZIANI *et al.*, 2017; SPECTOR; KENYON, 2012). Bactérias desse gênero requerem alta atividade de água (A_w) entre 0,94 a 0,99 para crescer, e são inibidas em Aw inferior a 0,94 (ALJARALLAH; ADAMS, 2007).

Entre os diferentes tipos de *Salmonella*, os sorovares de *Salmonella enterica* subsp. *enterica* têm um alto potencial de colonizar animais produtores de alimentos e humanos (GALIŞ *et al.*, 2013).

2.1.2 Ilhas de patogenicidade de Salmonella

A capacidade de Salmonella enterica de colonizar o hospedeiro está atribuída a grupos de genes codificados nas ilhas de patogenicidade de Salmonella (SPI-, Salmonella pathogenicity island.). Os estágios da infecção envolvem a invasão, o cruzamento da barreira celular epitelial e a replicação em células do sistema imunológico do hospedeiro. A maior parte dos genes, relacionados à infecção das células hospedeiras por Salmonella, é dirigida por sistemas de secreção bacteriana do tipo III (*type III secretion systems* - T3SS) (FOLEY *et al.*, 2013; HANSEN-WESTER; HENSEL, 2001; HAUTEFORT *et al.*, 2008). O T3SS é um complexo multiprotéico que permite o transporte das proteínas de virulência, interferindo nas funções da célula hospedeira (GHOSH, 2004; HANSEN-WESTER; HENSEL, 2001).

Em geral, a SPI-1 codifica genes de invasão, SPI-2 é necessário para infecção sistêmica, replicação e proteção do vacúolo contendo *Salmonella* (*Salmonella containing vacuole* - SCV), a SPI-3 é responsável pela sobrevivência de *Salmonella* nos macrófagos, SPI-4 abriga genes para secreção e apoptose, a SPI-5 agrupa genes que codificam várias proteínas do T3SS (ASTEN; DIJK, 2005; BINGLE; BAILEY; PALLEN, 2008; FOLEY; LYNNE; NAYAK, 2008; HAUTEFORT *et al.*, 2008; LEUNG *et al.*, 2011). Já foram investigadas infecções por cepas de *Salmonella enterica* em

diversos animais, incluindo aves, suínos, bovinos e peixes. As aves são os principais animais portadores de *Salmonella*, atuando como fontes de contaminação em humanos a partir de produtos avícolas (GATTO *et al.*, 2006; NHUNG *et al.*, 2018; WHITE *et al.*, 2001).

2.2 PRODUÇÃO AVÍCOLA E LEGISLAÇÃO

Com o aumento da população global, a responsabilidade para garantir a segurança alimentar induziu o crescimento constante da produção avícola (ZISHIRI; MKHIZE; MUKARATIRWA, 2016). De acordo com dados da Organização das Nações Unidas para Alimentação e Agricultura (*Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations* - FAO), a carne de frango tem sido a segunda carne mais consumida no mundo, por se tratar de um alimento sustentável, com alto nível de proteína e baixo teor de gordura (DÓREA *et al.*, 2010; EL-AZIZ, 2013; FAO, 2017).

A produção mundial de carne de frango aumentou rapidamente nos últimos 50 anos (Figura 2.1), tendo os EUA, China, Brasil e União Europeia (UE) como os maiores produtores no mundo, que em 2020 totalizaram uma produção de 61,3 milhões de toneladas de carne de frango. Entre os maiores produtores, o Brasil se consolidou o maior exportador de carne de frango (USDA, 2020).



Figure 2.1 - Produção global de carne de frango.

No Brasil, de acordo com os dados da Associação Brasileira de Proteína Animal (ABPA), nos últimos anos, a produção de carne de frango permaneceu

Fonte: Extraído de Our World in Data (2020).

relativamente constante, com uma média de 14 milhões de toneladas por ano, sendo 31% destinado ao comércio exterior. Já em relação à receita de exportação de carne de frango, em 2020 houve uma queda de 12,8% comparado ao ano anterior (ABPA, 2021; USDA, 2021).

Os altos índices de produtividade no setor avícola trazem também grandes preocupações quanto ao controle de doenças zoonótica, com implicações importantes para a saúde humana (ANTUNES *et al.*, 2016).

Vários países importadores como Japão, Coréia e os membros da UE, realizam controles rígidos quanto à contaminação por *Salmonella* Typhimurium e *Salmonella* Enteritidis em amostras de frango de corte, por serem os sorovares mundialmente considerados importantes em relação à saúde pública. É necessário que os países exportadores de frango sigam os requisitos exigidos para evitar a disseminação desses patógenos no comércio internacional (RODPAI *et al.*, 2013).

Na UE, o Regulamento nº 2160/2003, que estabelece controles para a redução de S. Typhimurium e S. Enteritidis, exige a ausência desses patógenos nas amostras de carne de aves para importação e mercado interno (EFSA, 2003).

No Brasil, o Ministério da Agricultura, Pecuária e Abastecimento (MAPA) é o órgão responsável pela inspeção sanitária dos produtos de origem animal, e estabelece normas de controle e monitoramento de *Salmonella* em granjas avícolas de corte e reprodução, adotando medidas de segurança sanitária específicas para *S*. Typhimurium, *S*. Enteritidis, *S*. Galimaram e *S*. Pullorum (BRASIL, 2020).

As Instruções Normativas (IN) nº 20/2016 e a da legislação brasileira determinam ausência de *S*. Typhimurium e *S*. Enteritidis em amostras de cortes de frango. No entanto, para os estabelecimentos de produção, dependendo do volume de abate, há uma tolerância de amostras positivas para *Salmonella* spp. Por exemplo, empresas que têm um volume de abate de até 50 mil frangos por dia, podem apresentar uma tolerância de 25% de amostras positivas para *Salmonella* spp. Nas empresas de porte médio e grande, com abate de 100 mil a 200 mil frangos diário, podem apresentar até 23% de positividade para *Salmonella* spp. (MAPA, 2016, 2019a).

Os EUA apresentam um regulamento semelhante ao Brasil quanto ao padrão de *Salmonella* em cortes de frango. O Serviço de Inspeção e Segurança de alimentos do Departamento de Agricultura (*Food Safety and Inspection Service* – FSIS), definiu

o padrão de desempenho para *Salmonella* em no máximo 20% de amostras positivas (FSIS, 2021).

Apesar das medidas de controle contra *Salmonella* estabelecidas pelos regulamentos de países com avicultura desenvolvida, as contaminações continuam recorrentes (ANTUNES *et al.*, 2016; COBURN; GRASSL; FINLAY, 2007; DALLAL *et al.*, 2010; DAR *et al.*, 2017; GALIŞ *et al.*, 2013; LETTINI *et al.*, 2016; LI *et al.*, 2017).

2.3 CONTAMINAÇÃO POR SALMONELLA NA INDÚSTRIA AVÍCOLA

A doença zoonótica mais comum que ocorre na avicultura é causada pelo gênero *Salmonella*, e provoca uma série de danos em termos de mortalidade, redução do crescimento das aves e perdas na produção de ovos. Uma ave contaminada é o suficiente para infectar todo o lote de um bando e lotes próximos, dificultando o controle do patógeno (DAR *et al.*, 2017). Os principais fatores de risco de contaminação por *Salmonella* na indústria avícola estão apresentados na Figura 2.2.



Figure 2.2 - Riscos de contaminação por Salmonella na indústria avícola.

Fonte: Adaptado de Dar *et al.* (2017), Koutsoumanis *et al.* (2019), El-Aziz (2013) e Rajan; Shi e Ricke (2017).

Da granja à mesa, a contaminação de produtos avícolas pode ocorrer em qualquer nível da cadeia de produção, incluindo a água e a ração (DÓREA *et al.*, 2010; RODPAI *et al.*, 2013; YAN *et al.*, 2011). Cada etapa do processamento de frango pode atuar como fonte de contaminação de *Salmonella* como, por exemplo, a falta de higiene no manuseio e equipamentos de abate sujos.

A ração dos animais pode ser contaminada por uma variedade de fontes, incluindo os ingredientes para elaboração da ração, a água, poeira, material fecal e solo na fábrica de ração (GALIŞ *et al.*, 2013; RICKE, 2005).

Já foi comprovado contaminação por *Salmonella* em diversos ingredientes da ração, como as fontes de proteínas animal, farelos de amendoim, farelo de girassol, cereais, farinhas de sementes oleaginosas, soja, colza e palmiste (COX *et al.*, 2013; MACIOROWSKI *et al.*, 2006; RICHARDSON *et al.*, 2018; SALOMONSSON *et al.*, 2005).

As rações comerciais passam por uma série de tratamentos como trituração, aquecimento e a peletização, que é um processo no qual os ingredientes da ração são submetidos a faixas de temperaturas, pressão, umidade e compressão mecânica para formação dos *pellets* (RÖHE *et al.*, 2014; ZENTEK; GOODARZI BOROOJENI, 2020). Contudo, *Salmonella* pode resistir aos estresses empregados no processo de produção, tornando a ração uma fonte do patógeno para colonização no TGI das aves. A infecção pode ser assintomática nas aves, mas pode apresentar um risco potencial à saúde pública (DAR *et al.*, 2017; RICKE, 2005; TU *et al.*, 2015).

Alguns fatores responsáveis pela persistência de *Salmonella* nas rações, incluem a própria resistência do patógeno aos tratamentos térmicos da fabricação, que geralmente envolve temperaturas entre 70 e 90 °C, como também o armazenamento da ração em silos com umidade e temperatura propícias ao crescimento de *Salmonella* sobrevivente (CARRIQUE-MAS; BEDFORD; DAVIES, 2007; JONES, 2011).

Em uma matriz de alimento seco, *Salmonela* permanece em um estado de estresse, mas sob condições apropriadas, como o ambiente úmido do intestino, a cepa pode se tornar viável e promover a infecção (RICHARDSON *et al.*, 2018).

A contaminação também pode ocorrer durante o processo de abate e, antes dessa etapa, os frangos de corte são privados de alimentos por 12 h, com o objetivo de esvaziar o intestino e reduzir a contaminação das carcaças por material fecal

(MACIOROWSKI *et al.*, 2006). Para evitar que ocorra aumento da contaminação, a estratégia é simular o ambiente do papo do frango com adição de antimicrobianos externos, geralmente administrados na água antes do abate (FARHAT *et al.*, 2002).

As principais cepas responsáveis pela maioria das contaminações nas aves são os sorovares de *S*. Typhimurium e *S*. Enteritidis. *S*. Typhimurium tem recebido maior atenção dos pesquisadores, por ser um dos patógenos de origem alimentar mais comuns de infecções em animais e humanos (ABHISINGHA; DUMNIL; PITAKSUTHEEPONG, 2020; AMINI *et al.*, 2010; COBURN; GRASSL; FINLAY, 2007; LI *et al.*, 2017; MACIOROWSKI *et al.*, 2006; MEZAL; STEFANOVA; KHAN, 2013; MIARELLI *et al.*, 2016; RODPAI *et al.*, 2013).

2.3.1 Incidência de S. Typhimurium na avicultura

Embora a salmonelose esteja associada também a outros sorovares, *S*. Typhimurium tem uma capacidade maior de infectar uma série de espécies hospedeiras (ANTUNES *et al.*, 2016). Além disso, *S*. Typhimurium pode lidar com múltiplos fatores de estresses ambientais, se tornando um sorovar muito persistente na contaminação de produtos avícolas (D'AOUST; MAURER, 2007; EL-AZIZ, 2013; RYCHLIK; BARROW, 2005; SPECTOR; KENYON, 2012).

S. Typhimurium vem apresentando frequente contaminação em lotes de aves de postura e na casca de ovos. Na Austrália, onde *S.* Enteritidis não é mais uma presença forte em bandos de postura, *S.* Typhimurium foi considerada a principal contaminante externa de ovos (WALES; DAVIES, 2011).

No Brasil, um estudo realizado por Osowski *et al.* (2019), comparou a contaminação artificial por *S*. Typhimurium e *S*. Heidelberg em ovos recém postos e sem passar por nenhum processo de higiene. Após 24 h de incubação, amostras foram coletadas e os resultados mostraram que *S*. Typhimurium apresentou maior incidência de contaminação do que *S*. Heidelberg, tanto na albumina quanto na gema do ovo. O que demonstra resistência de *S*. Typhimurium às condições antimicrobianas da albumina.

Li *et al.* (2020) avaliaram mensalmente por um ano a contaminação por *Salmonella* spp. em frangos de cortes na província de Shaanxi na China. Os resultados mostraram que 39 sorovares de *S. enterica* foram identificados, dos quais *S*. Typhimurium foi o mais prevalente com 16,7% dos isolados.

Outro estudo também realizado na China, analisou a prevalência de *Salmonella* spp. em 110 aviários de corte. Vários fatores foram avaliados como, comedouros, bebedouro, água de lavagem, fezes, vestuários dos colaboradores, roedores, ventiladores, e todos testaram positivos para *Salmonella* spp. antes e após a desinfecção dos ambientes. A prevalência de contaminação por *Salmonella* spp. nesse estudo foi de 48%, sendo *S.* Typhimurium responsável por 24% das contaminações (FIROUZABADI *et al.*, 2020).

Segundo o relatório de controle de alimentos de origem animal do Departamento de Inspeção de Produtos de Origem Animal (DIPOA), entre março de 2018 e fevereiro de 2019 foram avaliados 134 abatedouros de frangos no Brasil. Para a verificação dos abatedouros, foram coletadas 2.791 amostras de carcaças de frango, sendo detectada a presença de *Salmonella* spp. em 12,71% (354 de 2.791, dos quais *S*. Typhimurium foi a cepa mais persistente (MAPA, 2019b).

Portanto, a capacidade desse sorovar persistir em produtos avícolas, o torna um agente potencial para infecção em humanos (DAR *et al.*, 2017).

2.4 INFECÇÃO POR SALMONELLA EM HUMANOS

A via de infecção do patógeno para o homem envolve a sobrevivência e multiplicação da cepa no ambiente aviário, na ave e, finalmente, no produto final (SILVA; DUARTE, 2002).

Em humanos saudáveis, em geral, a doença é promovida por uma carga bacteriana de 10⁶ a 10⁸ UFC mL⁻¹. Além disso, em pessoas com baixa imunidade, *Salmonella* pode invadir a corrente sanguínea ou sistema linfático e constituir uma doença mais grave. Algumas vezes, a doença pode evoluir para uma infecção focal como, meningite, infecção óssea e articular (BELL; KYRIAKIDES, 2009; CHEN *et al.*, 2013).
2.4.1 Evidências de surtos de salmonelose humana

Após a colonização e sobrevivência em produtos avícolas, os sorovares de *Salmonella enterica*, eventualmente, chegam aos humanos. Os principais reservatórios de contaminação são as aves e os ovos, sendo as cepas de *S*. Typhimurium e *S*. Enteritidis, os dois sorovares mais relatados em infecções humanas em todo o mundo (BENEVIDES *et al.*, 2020; DAR *et al.*, 2017; LI *et al.*, 2017; SOARES, 2014).

A incidência de surtos de salmonelose é bastante comum e provoca um alto impacto global na saúde pública. Isso implica, por ano, em aproximadamente 80,3 milhões de surtos de salmonelose transmitidos por alimentos no mundo, e cerca de 155 mil mortes (LETTINI *et al.*, 2016; LI *et al.*, 2017; MAJOWICZ *et al.*, 2010; MÜHLIG *et al.*, 2014).

No Brasil, não é possível saber o número preciso de hospitalizações causadas por salmonelose, porque é facultativo a notificação dos casos pelas unidades de saúde à rede nacional de laboratórios de saúde pública. Mas segundo dados do Ministério da Saúde, a salmonelose é considerada a infecção bacteriana mais comum no país, sendo *S*. Typhimurium o principal sorovar responsável por infecções sistêmicas em humanos (BRASIL, 2020; REIS *et al.*, 2018).

Os surtos contínuos de salmonelose tornam o gênero *Salmonella* um ponto focal de pesquisa para muitos profissionais, apesar da abundância de informações existentes (WERNICKI; NOWACZEK; URBAN-CHMIEL, 2017). A Figura 2.3 apresenta dados sobre surtos de salmonelose.



Figure 2.3 - Surtos causados por Salmonella nos EUA, UE e Brasil.

Fonte: Adaptado de Reis *et al.* (2018), CDC, 2021, Tack *et al.*, (2019), De Melo *et al.*, (2021), Neto *et al.*, (2021), (EFSA, 2022) e CDC, (2022).

2.5 IMPACTOS ECONÔMICOS E DE SAÚDE PÚBLICA CAUSADOS POR CONTAMINAÇÕES POR SALMONELLA

A persistência de *Salmonella* na indústria avícola pode proporcionar prejuízos econômicos substanciais em termos de mortalidade, redução do crescimento e perda na cadeia de produção de frangos de cortes e de ovos (BENEVIDES *et al.*, 2020; DAR *et al.*, 2017; KUANG *et al.*, 2015).

Segundo dados informados pelo Centro de Controle e Prevenção de Doenças (CDC) dos EUA, as perdas econômicas devido a contaminação por *Salmonella* em frangos foi estimado em torno de US\$ 2,8 bilhões por ano (SHCARFF, 2020).

As infecções em humanos, resultante de consumo de alimentos contaminados por *Salmonella* podem custar caro para a indústria avícola, para os governos e indivíduos infectados. O impacto econômico nos EUA vai desde as despesas hospitalares, morte até a perda de produtividade em relação ao afastamento do trabalho, gerando custos que variam de US\$ 1,1 bilhão a US\$ 11,5 bilhões, com base

na estimativa de 1,92 milhão casos notificados (WERNICKI; NOWACZEK; URBAN-CHMIEL, 2017).

Na UE, a Autoridade Europeia para a Segurança dos Alimentos (EFSA), estima um custo geral de contaminação por *Salmonella* de € 3 bilhões por ano (EFSA, 2014). No Brasil, os impactos econômicos devido às internações, perda de produtividade e lucros, decorrentes de surtos de salmonelose são praticamente desconhecidos, mas acredita-se que representam um grande ônus para a economia (MS/SVS, 2020).

A inativação ou redução da carga microbiana na produção primária de frangos é necessária para diminuir os riscos de contaminação humana. Os antibióticos promotores de crescimentos, por muitos anos, foram utilizados com essa finalidade (DIBNER; RICHARDS, 2005).

2.6 USO DE ANTIBIÓTICOS PARA O CONTROLE DE PATÓGENOS NA INDÚSTRIA AVÍCOLA

Os antibióticos promotores de crescimento (APC) foram utilizados pela primeira vez por volta de 1950, quando foi descoberto que doses mínimas desses compostos poderiam aumentar o peso de aves, suínos e bovinos de corte (STOKSTAD; JUKES, 1950). Essa prática veio associada ao crescimento da população mundial e à responsabilidade de garantir alimentos seguros (ZISHIRI; MKHIZE; MUKARATIRWA, 2016).

Na indústria avícola, os APC são administrados na dieta do animal com a finalidade de aumentar a produção e a segurança. Os antibióticos atuam na microbiota intestinal do animal diminuindo a competição por nutrientes e reduzindo os metabólitos microbianos que deprimem o crescimento. Além disso, as vilosidades da parede intestinal ficam mais finas, melhorando a absorção de nutrientes e o desempenho no ganho de peso do animal (DIBNER; RICHARDS, 2005).

Os APC usados são frequentemente os mesmos ou pertencem a mesma classe farmacológica de antibióticos usados na medicina humana. Por essa razão, o efeito colateral mais preocupante desses compostos é a tendência evolutiva de clones resistentes, com consequências imprevisíveis para a saúde humana e animal (EFSA; ECDC, 2020). A prática intensiva de APC em animais produtores de alimentos aumentou as preocupações quanto à questão da resistência bacteriana e consequente impacto na saúde humana. A possiblidade da propagação de cepas patogênicas resistentes, levou a restrições progressivas dessa prática em muitos países (CASEWELL *et al.*, 2003; EFSA; ECDC, 2020; LAI *et al.*, 2014; MAPA, 2021; MARSHALL; LEVY, 2011).

Desde de 1998, a UE, seguindo recomendações do Relatório de Swann de 1966 no Reino Unido, retirou alguns antibióticos como clortetraciclina, oxitetraciclina, penicilina, tilosina e sulfonamidas da lista de APC usados na avicultura (MARSHALL; LEVY, 2011). A indústria avícola recebeu muita pressão para interromper o uso total de APC e, em 2006, a UE concluiu o Regulamento 1831/2003 que proibiu o uso de todos os APC semelhantes aos antibióticos utilizados na terapia humana (DITTOE; RICKE; KIESS, 2018; MURPHY *et al.*, 2017).

A indústria avícola nos EUA iniciou a retirada dos APC, devido à preocupação do consumidor com o uso de antibióticos, mas também em razão dos requisitos de exportação livre de antibióticos (HUYGHEBAERT; DUCATELLE; IMMERSEEL, 2011). No entanto, nos EUA, ainda são utilizados tetraciclina, bacitracina, tilosina, salinomicina, virginiamicina e bambermicina em animais produtores de alimentos (DIARRA; MALOUIN, 2014). As tetraciclinas representam mais de dois terços dos APC administrados aos animais (GONZALEZ RONQUILLO; ANGELES HERNANDEZ, 2017).

O Brasil, preocupado com os impactos à saúde humana com desenvolvimento de resistência bacteriana, baseado em recomendações da Organização Mundial da Saúde (OMS) e da Organização Mundial da Saúde Animal (OIE); o MAPA, por meio da Secretaria de Defesa Agropecuária, iniciou a restrição de APC em 1998. Ao longo dos anos, algumas legislações foram elaboradas para restringir o uso de antimicrobianos que têm a finalidade de uso como melhorador de desempenho em animais produtores de alimentos e que também são importantes na medicina humana (Tabela 2.1) (MAPA, 2021).

Em dezembro de 2018 no Brasil, foi emitida a Portaria nº171 que proibia o uso dos antibióticos tilosina, lincomicina, virginiamicina, bacitracina e tiamulina. No entanto, na última IN nº 01/2020, não consta virginiamicina e bacitracina, o que leva a compreender que esses dois últimos ainda são permitidos como promotores de crescimento (MAPA, 2020a; MAPA; SDA, 2018).

Substância proibidas	Legislação
Avoparcina	Of. Circ. DFPA nº 047/1998
Arsenicais e antimoniais	Portaria nº 31, 29/01/2002
Clorafenicol e nitrofuranos	IN nº 09, 27/06/2003
Olaquindox	IN nº 11, 24/11/2004
Carbadox	IN nº 35, 14/11/2005
Anfenicois, tetraciclinas, β-lactâmicos, quinolonas, sulfonamidas	IN nº 26, 09/07/2009
Espiramicina, eritromicina	IN nº 14, 17/05/2012
Colistina	IN nº 45, 22/11/2016
Tilosina, lincomicina, tiamulina	IN nº 01, 13/01/2020

Tabela 2.1 - Lista de substâncias proibidas no Brasil e legislação correspondente.

Fonte: Adaptado de MAPA, (2020b).

As diferenças nas políticas em relação ao uso de APC podem gerar barreiras comerciais para exportação de produtos de origem animal. Nos EUA, no Brasil e na China não há uma restrição total no uso de APC, portanto existe um consenso nas exportações entre esses países. Já para a UE, os países exportadores de carne de frango, terão que respeitar a proibição dos antibióticos que promovem crescimento (EUR, 2019; MARON; SMITH; NACHMAN, 2013).

O uso indiscriminado de antibióticos tem aumentado a resistência de *Salmonella*. A resistência bacteriana que ocorre em animais produtores de alimentos, pode se espalhar para os humanos não apenas por rotas de origem alimentar, mas também por rotas como a água ou outra contaminação ambiental, bem como por meio de contato direto com animais (EFSA; ECDC, 2020).

2.7 RESISTÊNCIA MICROBIANA

2.7.1 Resistência de Salmonella aos APC

Nas últimas décadas, foi observado um aumento da prevalência de isolados de *S*. Typhimurium resistentes aos antibióticos ampicilina, cloranfenicol, estreptomicina, sulfonamidas e tetraciclina (CRUMP *et al.*, 2015). Conforme citado anteriormen*te, S*. Typhimurium é o sorovar mais isolado de surtos de origem alimentar e comumente encontrado como resistente a múltiplas drogas (EL-AZIZ, 2013).

O surgimento de *Salmonella* multirresistente, particularmente o sorovar Typhimurium, impõe enormes desafios às comunidades médicas no tratamento de infecções. Um estudo, realizado na China em frangos de varejo, identificou 138 isolados de S. Typhimurium, dos quais 137 apresentaram resistência a pelo menos um antibiótico dos 15 testados (LI *et al.*, 2017).

Entre 1990 e 2016 no Brasil, segundo um estudo de Rodrigues *et al.* (2020), que avaliaram a resistência antimicrobiana de isolados de *Salmonella* em humanos e suínos, *S.* Typhimurium foi identificada como a cepa mais resistente a múltiplos antibióticos, correspondendo a 67% de todos os isolados do estudo.

Genes de resistência bacteriana de patógenos de origem alimentar foram identificados em humanos e animais, mais comumente genes de resistência de *Salmonella* (MARSHALL; LEVY, 2011). Portanto, para diminuir o risco de patógenos resistentes a antibióticos, com possível transmissão para consumidores humanos, é necessário explorar agentes alternativos com efeitos semelhantes aos APC (HUYGHEBAERT; DUCATELLE; IMMERSEEL, 2011), dentre os quais se destacam os ácidos orgânicos (AO)

2.8 ÁCIDOS ORGÂNICOS

2.8.1 Histórico e aplicações de AO na indústria de animais produtores de alimentos

Em vista da possibilidade de resistência de patógenos aos antibióticos, alternativas têm sido estudadas como agentes antimicrobianos (SCICUTELLA *et al.*, 2021). Entre eles, a literatura relata o uso de probióticos, prebióticos, enzimas, bacteriófagos, ervas, óleos essenciais e ácidos orgânicos como promotores de crescimento, para agir na redução de patologias no TGI e, consequentemente, impactar para melhoria no ganho de peso de animais de corte (DITTOE; RICKE; KIESS, 2018; KHAN; IQBAL, 2016; LEE; KIM; KIM, 2015; MURPHY *et al.*, 2017).

Dentre os principais agentes, os ácidos orgânicos (AO) provaram ter uma ação semelhante à dos antibióticos e se tornaram um dos substituintes mais utilizados na indústria de animais de corte (UPADHAYA; LEE; KIM, 2014; WALES; ALLEN; DAVIES, 2010).

Os AO, também referidos como ácidos graxos voláteis ou ácidos fracos, são substâncias que contêm um ou mais grupos carboxilas (COOH) em sua molécula.

Eles são classificados com base no tamanho da cadeia de carbono, podendo ser AO de cadeia curta (C1 a C7, como os ácidos fórmico, acético, butírico, propiônico), cadeia média (C8 a C12, como ácidos caproico, caprílico, cáprico e laurico) e cadeia longa (C13 – C32, como ácidos linolênico e linoleico). Os AO de cadeia curta são naturalmente produzidos por fermentação da microbiota presente no TGI de animais (DIBNER; BUTTIN, 2002; MOORE *et al.*, 2017), enquanto que os AO de cadeia média e longa precisam ser ingeridos com a alimentação (SCICUTELLA *et al.*, 2021). AO são substâncias abundantes na natureza como componentes naturais de tecidos, resultante da atividade sintética de vegetais e animais e são compostos reconhecidos como seguro (GRAS - *Generally Recognized as safe*) pela *Food and Drug Administration* (FDA) para produto cárneos (MANI-LÓPEZ; GARCÍA; LÓPEZ-MALO, 2012).

Esses compostos orgânicos, principalmente os de cadeia curta, têm inúmeras aplicações na indústria de alimentos, na nutrição animal, em produtos farmacêuticos e cosméticos (GUAN *et al.*, 2016). Por exemplo, os sais de cálcio, sódio e amônio de ácido propiônico são bons conservantes na alimentação humana e animal, além de ser precursor para síntese de aromas e fragrâncias artificiais (AHMADI; KHOSRAVI-DARANI; MORTAZAVIAN, 2017). Os ácidos málico e cítrico têm um grande potencial no mercado como temperos para alimentos (DAI *et al.*, 2018; LIU *et al.*, 2016; MANI-LÓPEZ; GARCÍA; LÓPEZ-MALO, 2012; SINGH DHILLON *et al.*, 2011), o ácido succínico é utilizado como intensificador de sabor e pode ser incorporado na massa do pão para dar plasticidade. (SAXENA *et al.*, 2017).

Os AO de base petroquímica e seus sais vêm sendo utilizados na prevenção da saúde de animais de corte, apresentando eficiência na manutenção do peso corporal ao inibir a colonização por microrganismos patogênicos. Eles são uma boa alternativa aos APC pois, além de possuir atividade antimicrobiana, melhoraram a digestibilidade dos nutrientes no TGI do animal, intensificando as secreções pancreáticas, promovendo aumento da atividade proteolítica e da taxa se conversão dos alimentos (DITTOE; RICKE; KIESS, 2018; NG *et al.*, 2015).

2.8.2 Aplicação de AO como promotor de crescimento

Estes compostos podem ser administrados aos animais por meio da ração ou podem ser diluídos na água de consumo (MANI-LÓPEZ; GARCÍA; LÓPEZ-MALO, 2012). Em geral, a suplementação de AO tem sido relatada como tendo efeitos promotores de crescimento em frangos de corte. Esses efeitos podem ser atribuídos a uma melhor utilização da ração, redução da carga microbiana patogênica e criação de um ambiente propício para o crescimento de bactérias benéficas. Os ácidos orgânicos têm demonstrado ser uma opção eficaz para o aumento do desempenho produtivo desses animais (KHAN *et al.*, 2022).

Entre os AO mais utilizados para preservação da saúde de animais, destacam-se os ácidos cítrico, acético, láctico, propiônico, succínico, fórmico, butírico. A maior parte desses compostos é sintetizada em grande escala pela indústria química, usando unidades químicas simples, principalmente derivados de recursos fósseis (BECKER; WITTMANN, 2015; WANG *et al.*, 2016).

O uso de uma mistura de AO (fumárico, cítrico, málico, cáprico e caprílico) na ração de galinhas poedeiras possui um efeito positivo na digestão e absorção de nutrientes pelas aves, o que pode levar a um aumento no desenvolvimento dos frangos e uma produção de ovos mais resistentes (LEE; KIM; KIM, 2015).

Mistura de AO de cadeia curta (fórmico, acético e propiônico) combinado com AO de cadeia média melhoraram, de uma forma geral, o desempenho, imunidade sérica, morfologia intestinal e microbiota de leitões, uma vez que esses ácidos possuem efeito antimicrobiano e ajudam a reduzir a colonização de patógenos no TGI dos animais (LONG *et al.*, 2018).

A administração de ácido lático e fórmico à ração de suínos aumenta a atividade das enzimas digestivas e reduz a prevalência de *Salmonella* no TGI do animal (CREUS *et al.*, 2007). A suplementação com ácido butírico melhora a digestibilidade dos alimentos proporcionando um impacto positivo no desempenho do crescimento do animal (PIVA *et al.*, 2002).

2.8.3 Aplicação direta de AO em alimentos

Durante o processo de abate, as carcaças dos animais estão sujeitas a altos riscos de contaminação por material fecal presente nas penas e pele, além de vazamentos de conteúdo intestinal durante a evisceração e contaminação proveniente dos equipamentos e ambientes de processamento (GOLDEN; ROTHROCK; MISHRA, 2021). A etapa final antes do congelamento dos produtos é o corte, tornando a eficácia da descontaminação microbiana essencial para a qualidade dos produtos avícolas (ZHU *et al.*, 2016).

AO podem ser utilizados para descontaminar ingredientes crus antes de incorporá-los no preparo de alimentos, mas também podem ser aplicados diretamente no produto final, como forma de prolongar a vida útil dos produtos (CARRIQUE-MAS; BEDFORD; DAVIES, 2007). A aplicação de AO em superfícies de produtos de carne é um exemplo de tratamento direto no produto, além de ser um método simples, barato e ter demonstrado boa eficiência (MANI-LÓPEZ; GARCÍA; LÓPEZ-MALO, 2012).

A imersão de peito de frango em ácido lático, fumárico e málico a 3% (p/v) reduziu efetivamente a contagem de coquetel de *Salmonella*, mas de acordo com os autores desse trabalho, pode causar alterações sensoriais na carne devido à alta concentração praticada (FERNÁNDEZ *et al.*, 2021). A vida útil de coxas de frangos lavadas com ácido acético (2% - p/v) foi estendida em pelo menos dois dias em comparação ao produto sem tratamento, reduzindo mesófilos, psicotróficos e *Listeria monocytogenes* em 1,31 log UFC mL⁻¹ após oito dias de armazenamento (GONZALEZ-FANDOS; HERRERA, 2014).

A lavagem da superfície de carnes com ácido levulínico, acético e lático a 2% (p/v) para descontaminação de bactérias patogênicas (*Escherichia coli* em carne bovina, *Salmonella* em frango e *Listeria monocytogenes* em peru) reduziu as contagens dos patógenos após 24 h de armazenamento a 4 °C. Apenas o ácido levulínico não promoveu redução eficaz dos patógenos (CARPENTER; SMITH; BROADBENT, 2011).

Sais de acetato e butirato de sódio a 2,5% (p/v) podem promover uma redução de até 4 log UFC mL⁻¹ de *Salmonella* Typhimurium em meio preparado com frango cru, provando serem antimicrobianos eficientes para reduzir a contaminação

bacteriana e prolongar a vida útil de produtos derivados de frango (MILILLO; RICKE, 2010).

Quando antimicrobianos são utilizados como intervenções de descontaminação, podem ocorrer efeitos indesejáveis na cor, textura e desenvolvimento de sabores desagradáveis nas carcaças tratadas, o que pode afetar potencialmente a aceitação do consumidor (RAMIREZ-HERNANDEZ; BRASHEARS; SANCHEZ-PLATA, 2018). Por isso é importante avaliar a menor concentração do ácido com efeito inibidor.

2.8.4 Ação antimicrobiana dos AO

Conforme salientado anteriormente, existem muitos AO com diferentes propriedades físicas e químicas, muitos dos quais são usados como aditivos na água potável ou nas rações, contribuindo para reduzir a contaminação por patógenos (CARRIQUE-MAS; BEDFORD; DAVIES, 2007; HUYGHEBAERT; DUCATELLE; IMMERSEEL, 2011).

Os AO são ácidos fracos, portanto, não se dissociam completamente em água. A atividade antimicrobiana desses ácidos está diretamente ligada ao pH ambiente e à constante de dissociação do ácido (pKa), ou seja, à medida que o pH ambiente diminui, a concentração de ácido na forma protonada aumenta, o que resulta na redução da polaridade da molécula e o aumento da difusão do ácido pela membrana celular (MANI-LÓPEZ; GARCÍA; LÓPEZ-MALO, 2012).

Após a forma protonada do ácido permear a membrana celular, o ambiente intracelular mais alcalino (pH 7,5 - 7,8), causa a dissociação do ácido fraco, liberando H⁺ e tornando o meio citoplasmático mais ácido. O resultado é uma perturbação no gradiente de pH, que traz consequências adversas na transferência de nutrientes, supressão de enzimas como descarboxilases e catalases, além de causar danos à molécula de DNA (EŞ *et al.*, 2017; HUYGHEBAERT; DUCATELLE; IMMERSEEL, 2011). Para manter o gradiente de prótons funcional, a adenosina trifosfato (ATP) deve ser consumida para expulsar o excesso de H⁺ da célula, reduzindo o ATP disponível para o metabolismo celular e, consequentemente, inibindo o crescimento (CORAL *et al.*, 2008; LUNA-FLORES *et al.*, 2017). Uma representação do mecanismo de ação é apresentada na Figura 2.4.

Figure 2.4 - Esquema de inibição de ácido orgânico em microrganismos. RCCO⁻ = íon radical.



Fonte: Criado em biorender.com

Nem todos os ácidos têm ação antimicrobiana, na verdade, os ácidos orgânicos associados a essa atividade específica são ácidos de cadeia curta contendo de dois a seis carbonos (DIBNER; BUTTIN, 2002).

Já foi relatado que atividade antimicrobiana dos AO em aves parece ser limitada ao intestino anterior do animal (papo, proventrículo e moela), sendo que a maior parte do efeito é devido à formação de um ambiente ácido no papo (região localizada logo após o pescoço) dos frangos (RICKE, 2003). A estratégia é manter o pH do papo e proventrículo baixo, pois o papo atua como um filtro contra microrganismos patogênicos. Assim, uma quantidade menor de patógenos irá migrar para as partes posteriores do intestino do animal (VON ENGELHARDT *et al.*, 1989).

O pH no TGI do frango é bastante variável e vai depender do pH da água e da ração, conteúdo de fibras da ração e tempo de fermentação dos substratos pela microflora natural. O pH no papo do frango pode variar de 3,8 a 6,9, com uma média de pH 4,5 (COX *et al.*, 1972). Já no proventrículo e moela, o pH varia entre 3,5 a 4,5, no intestino delgado o pH médio é de 6,5 e nos cecos o pH é em torno de 5,7 (GIANNENAS *et al.*, 2014; HUME *et al.*, 1993; MABELEBELE *et al.*, 2013; RODRIGUES; CHOCT, 2018; WALES; ALLEN; DAVIES, 2010).

Conforme descrito, a eficácia do AO está associada ao seu pKa. O valor do pKa do ácido define o pH no qual 50% do ácido está dissociado em solução. AO com pKa entre 3 e 5 possuem melhor atividade antimicrobiana como, por exemplo, o ácido propiônico que possui um pKa de 4,89 e pode ter atividade antimicrobiana eficaz em pH baixo (DIBNER; BUTTIN, 2002; KHAN; IQBAL, 2016).

2.8.5 Ácido propiônico (AP)

O AP é um ácido graxo de cadeia curta (C-3), formado no corpo humano e de animais como um intermediário do metabolismo dos ácidos graxos de cadeia longa e metabólito final da fermentação anaeróbica de carboidratos por bactérias, principalmente, do gênero *Propionibacterium* (AL-LAHHAM *et al.*, 2010; FERNANDEZ-GARCIA; MCGREGOR, 1994).

O AP e seus sais são compostos aprovados como substâncias seguras (GRAS), registrados para a conservação de alimentos e rações. AP são considerados antibacterianos e antimicóticos, bastante utilizados para desinfecção de grãos armazenados e também são adicionados na água potável de animais produtores de alimentos (HAQUE *et al.*, 1970; RODRIGUEZ *et al.*, 2014).

Segundo Mani-López e García; López-Malo (2012) não são prescritos limites superiores para o uso desse aditivo como conservante de alimentos, também não há registrado limites de ingestão diária em mg/kg de peso corporal para humanos. Os aspectos físico-químicos do AP estão apresentados na Tabela 2.2.

Além das características antimicrobianas, o AP é um importante intermediário químico na síntese de produtos farmacêutico, na fabricação de polímeros, pesticidas e. Geralmente, a utilização global de AP representa cerca de 52% para preservação de grãos e ração animal, 18% para conservação de alimentos, 16% para a síntese de herbicidas e 10% na produção de acetato de propionato de celulose (DISHISHA *et al.*, 2013).

Nome IUPAC	Ácido propanoico
Outras nomenclaturas	Ácido etanocarboxilíco, ácido propiônico
Nº CAS*	79-09-4
Fórmula molecular	C ₃ H ₆ O ₂
Massa molar	74.07854 g mol ⁻¹
Aparência	Líquido incolor
Odor	Ligeiramente rançoso
Ponto de fusão	-21 °C
Ponto de ebulição	141 °C
Densidade	990 kg/m³
Solubilidade em água	Miscível
рКа	4.89
Viscosidade	10 mPa⋅s

Tabela 2.2 - Propriedade físico-químicas do ácido propiônico.

*Número de registro único de um produto químico no banco de dados *Chemical Abstracts Service* Fonte: Adaptada de EŞ et al. (2017).

2.8.5.1 Ácido Propiônico: Produção e Mercado

Como consequência das diversas aplicações do AP, a produção global é de aproximadamente 450 mil toneladas por ano e era estimado um crescimento na produção a uma velocidade de 2,7% ao ano, que alcançaria um mercado de US\$ 1,53 bilhões em 2020 (GONZALEZ-GARCIA *et al.*, 2017; LUNA-FLORES *et al.*, 2017; WANG *et al.*, 2013). A maior parte da produção de AP é realizada a partir de reações utilizando derivados petroquímicos, como por exemplo, propeno, propanol, propionaldeido. Na produção sintética, o valor comercial gira em torno de US\$ 1,0/kg (EŞ *et al.*, 2017; STOWERS; COX; RODRIGUEZ, 2014).

Quatro empresas dominam 90% da produção de AP no mundo, principalmente, por rotas petroquímicas. As empresas são a *Badische Anilin & Soda Fabrik* (BASF) com fábricas na Alemanha e na China, a *Dow Chemical Fermentation Company,* a *Eastman Chemical* nos EUA e a *Perstorp* na Suécia (GONZALEZ-GARCIA *et al.*, 2017).

Apesar da maior produção derivar do petróleo, preocupações com a disponibilidade e preço do petróleo, o uso de reagentes tóxicos, a alta demanda de energia para a conversão e as questões ambientais para reduzir as emissões de gases do efeito estufa, têm promovido investigações para substituição dos recursos

fósseis por alternativas renováveis. Desta forma, a utilização de fontes de carbono renováveis em processos fermentativos para a produção de AP, tornam-se mais atrativos (AMMAR *et al.*, 2020; FENG *et al.*, 2011; WANG *et al.*, 2012; ZHANG; YANG, 2009; ZHU *et al.*, 2012).

2.8.5.2 Produção biotecnológica do ácido propiônico

A produção do AP a partir de vias biotecnológicas já é antiga, a primeira pesquisa teve início em 1878 por Albert Fitz e desde então, tem atraído cada vez mais a atenção da comunidade científica (GONZALEZ-GARCIA *et al.*, 2017; GUAN *et al.*, 2015; LIU *et al.*, 2012a; ZHANG; YANG, 2009).

Na produção do AP via processos fermentativos, utilizam-se bactérias pertencentes aos gêneros *Propionibacterium* spp, *Veillonella* spp., *Fusobacterium* spp. e *Selenomonas ruminantium*, sendo as bactérias do gênero *Propionibacterium* as mais avaliadas nesses processos (FENG *et al.*, 2011; WANG *et al.*, 2015).

Propionibacterium são bactérias Gram-positivas, anaeróbias facultativas, não formadoras de esporos, possuem alto teor de guanina-citosina (GC), são geralmente catalase positivas, semelhantes a bastonete e crescem otimamente na temperatura de 30 °C a 37 °C e em pH entre e 6.0 a 7.0. Essas bactérias podem metabolizar diferentes fontes de carbono como a lactose, sacarose, ácido lático, glicose, xilose e glicerol em ácido propiônico (COUSIN *et al.*, 2011; DISHISHA; ALVAREZ; HATTI-KAUL, 2012; GUAN *et al.*, 2015; LIU *et al.*, 2012a; LUNA-FLORES *et al.*, 2017; WANG *et al.*, 2013).

As cepas típicas produtoras de AP são Propionibacterium freudenreichii, Propionibacterium acidipropionici, Propionibacterium thoenii, Propionibacterium shermanii e Propionibacterium beijingense. As bactérias *P. freudenreichii* e *P. acidipropionici* são as mais amplamente estudadas (GUAN *et al.*, 2015; LIU *et al.*, 2012a).

P. freudenreichii, além da produção de AP, são usadas como culturas *starter* para o amadurecimento de queijos suíços e são conhecidas também pela produção de exopolissacarídeos, vitamina B12, folato, riboflavina e bacteriocinas (DEPTULA *et al.*, 2017; DISHISHA *et al.*, 2015; GUAN *et al.*, 2015).

A maioria das bacteriocinas produzidas por bactérias do ácido propiônico, *propionic acid bacteria* (PAB), como propionicina T1, propionicina F e peptídeo antimicrobiano ativado por protease, *protease-activated antimicrobial peptide* (PAMP), possui espectro estreito, inibindo apenas bactérias ligadas ao seu produtor, como outras *Propionibacterium* (FAYE *et al.*, 2000). A propionicina T1 e a PAMP são produzidas pelas cepas *Propionibacterium jensenii* e *P. thoenii*, respectivamente, e não foram identificadas em *P. freudenreichii* (FAYE *et al.*, 2004). A propionicina F, produzida por *P. freudenreichii*, possui uma ação bactericida intraespecífica, ou seja, inativa apenas cepas de *P. freudenreichii* (BREDE *et al.*, 2004). Além disso, as bacteriocinas são produzidas em quantidades muito baixas quando as células são cultivadas em meio líquido, o que limita sua utilidade em aplicações práticas (HOLO *et al.*, 2002).

Segundo Parizzi et al. (2012), as espécies de *Propionibacterium* produzem o AP como produto primário da fermentação e parcialmente associado ao crescimento, com fase *lag* em torno de 24 h. Além de AP, quantidades significativas de outros ácidos como, acético, succínico e láctico, também são produzidos, os quais diminuem o rendimento e dificultam a purificação do AP (WANG *et al.*, 2013).

Na biossíntese de AP a glicose é transportada para o citoplasma celular em direção a via glicolítica. Existem duas vias; a via Embden-Meyerhof-Parnas (EMP) e a via da hexose monofosfato (HMP), convertendo a glicose em Fosfoenolpiruvato, um intermediário rico em energia que é convertido em piruvato e oxaloacetato. A maior parte do piruvato é convertido em AP pelo ciclo de Wood-Werkman e o restante flui para a formação de AA. O oxaloacetato também é utilizado na via de formação do AS (XU; SHI; JIANG, 2011). Em seguida, no ciclo de Wood-Werkman, o piruvato é convertido pela ação da enzima piruvato oxidase em Acetil-Coa ou em Oxaloacetato (OAA), por uma reação de transcarboxilação entre piruvato e metilmalonil-CoA. Acetil-CoA formado é convertido em acetato por meio da fosfotransacetilase e do acetato quinase. Em seguida, o OAA é convertido em malato, fumarato e succinato. A enzima propionil-CoA: succinil-CoA transferase catalisa a reação entre o succinato e propionil-CoA resultando em propionato e succinil-CoA. Metilmalonil-CoA formado a partir da conversão de succinil-CoA pela metilmalonil-CoA mutase é utilizado em uma reação com o piruvato para a produção de propionil-CoA. Por fim, propionil-CoA é convertido em propionato pela propionil-CoA carboxilase (Figura 2.5) (AMMAR et al., 2014; GONZALEZ-GARCIA *et al.*, 2020; PIVETEAU, 1999). Essa via limita o rendimento de AP em 0,55 g g⁻¹ (AP/substrato), quando a glicose ou a sacarose são catabolizadas via glicólise (STOWERS; COX; RODRIGUEZ, 2014).

Estequiometricamente, 1,5 mols de glicose podem produzir 2 mols de AP, 1 mol de ácido acético (AA), 1 mol de CO₂ e 1 mol de H₂O. A reação está apresentada na Equação 2.1 (WOOD, 1981).

$$1,5 \ C_6 H_{12} O_6 \to 2 C H_3 C H_2 C O O H + C H_3 C O O H + C O_2 + H_2 O$$
(2.1)



Figure 2.5 - Via biossintética de AP a partir da glicose por *Propionibacterium*.

Fonte: Adaptada de Zhuge et al. (2013).

O AP produzido por fermentação é uma opção verde, ambientalmente seguro, além disso, o produto da fermentação pode ser rotulado como natural (LI *et al.*, 2021). O custo do AP produzido por fermentação tem variações, dependendo dos substratos utilizados, da energia requerida na fermentação, dos processamentos de recuperação e purificação do produto (FENG *et al.*, 2011). Geralmente, o valor comercial do AP por via biológica está entre US\$ 1,5 a 2,0/kg (LIU *et al.*, 2012a).

Apesar dos benefícios, a biossíntese de AP por sistemas convencionais de fermentação, proporciona baixas concentrações do produto final, baixos rendimento e produtividade, tornando difícil a competição com a via petroquímica (ZHU *et al.*, 2010). Além disso, o produto final pode proporcionar inibição da *Propionibacterium* durante o processo (GUAN *et al.*, 2015; STOWERS; COX; RODRIGUEZ, 2014b).

Segundo Luna-Flores *et al.* (2017), para que a biossíntese de AP seja viável e competitiva com a produção petroquímica, é necessário atingir uma produtividade volumétrica de AP de 2 g L⁻¹.h⁻¹, rendimento de 0,6 g g⁻¹ (AP/substrato) e a concentração final de AP deve ser aproximadamente de 100 g L⁻¹ (GONZALEZ-GARCIA *et al.*, 2017).

Visando atingir melhores resultados, iniciar o processo com uma alta concentração celular e abordar sistemas combinados como por exemplo, a fermentação descontínua sequencial com reciclo de células, pode ser viável para aumentar a produção de AP (DISHISHA *et al.*, 2013; RODRIGUEZ *et al.*, 2014).

Conforme já mencionado, a suplementação dietética de AO na água potável ou nas rações para frangos de corte, com o objetivo de inibir o crescimento de patógenos, demonstra benefícios significativos semelhante aos APC na melhoria do ganho de peso e eficiência alimentar (GADDE *et al.*, 2017; HUYGHEBAERT; DUCATELLE; IMMERSEEL, 2011). O AP também apresenta esses benefícios, permitindo alterações fisiológicas associada à mucosa intestinal, melhorando a absorção de nutrientes e a saúde intestinal, pois os ácidos orgânicos de cadeia curta são também uma fonte de energia direta para o metabolismo das células (GADDE *et al.*, 2017).

2.8.5.3 Ação antimicrobiana do AP

Já foi elucidado que o AP aumenta a utilização de proteínas em dietas para frangos de corte, melhorando o rendimento na produção de carcaça. A substituição de antibióticos por sais desse ácido mostra um efeito benéfico cumulativo no ganho de peso por esses animais (HAQUE *et al.*, 1970).

Uma série de estudos avaliaram os efeitos antimicrobianos de misturas de AP e outros ácidos, ou misturas de AP e seus sais, adicionados nas rações de aves de produção como alternativo aos APC (ALSHAWABKEH; TABBAA, 2002; CAVE, 1984; HINTON JR, 1999; IBA; BERCHIERI, 1995; KWON; RICKE, 1998b; MOORE *et al.*, 2017; NAVA *et al.*, 2009; OLIVEIRA *et al.*, 2019; SENKOYLU *et al.*, 2007). Porém, esses estudos nem sempre fornecem informações completas sobre a composição e a seleção das substâncias para as combinações. Além de que, os dados sobre a atividade inibitória do AP, especificamente contra *S*. Typhimurium são limitados.

Pesquisa foi realizada para avaliar o efeito inibitório de AP contra *Salmonella* Gallinarum na dieta de frangos. O número de culturas positivas no ceco dos animais, que receberam alimentação com adição de 1,8% (v/m) de AP em 2 kg de ração, foi significativamente menor do que nos demais grupos testados (ALSHAWABKEH; TABBAA, 2002).

Kwon et al. (1998) relataram que AP tamponado em pH 5,0 (APT) reduziu o crescimento de *S*. Typhimurium na concentração de 3% (v/v) de AP em 4 mL de meio. Os autores afirmaram que o efeito inibitório do APT contra *Salmonella* aumentou com a redução do pH, sugerindo que as condições ambientais podem influenciar na ação do ácido.

Outro estudo de Kwon e Ricke (1998b) avaliaram a sobrevivência de *S*. Typhimurium expostas ao AP (0 – 200 mM) em pH 5,0. Os autores observaram uma redução de 3 ciclos logarítmicos após 10 dias de contato em 50 mM de AP e em 200 mM, após 4 dias, não houve germinação da cepa.

As concentrações individuais dos AO necessárias para atingir a atividade antimicrobiana podem exceder o nível aceitável de ingestão pelas aves, pois o sabor forte dos ácidos pode diminuir sua palatabilidade. Por exemplo, foi relatado que o AP pode diminuir o consumo de ração e o ganho de peso do animal, se for adicionado a uma concentração de 90 mM (PEH *et al.*, 2020). Contudo, a combinação de AO permite reduzir as concentrações individuais dos componentes para atingir uma atividade antimicrobiana eficaz. As misturas de ácidos representam uma série de valores de *pKa* e são usadas devido ao espectro mais amplo de atividade (HUYGHEBAERT; DUCATELLE; IMMERSEEL, 2011).

2.9 RESPOSTA DE TOLERÂNCIA DE SALMONELLA AOS ÁCIDOS

Geralmente espécies Gram-negativas apresentam resistência aos AO. A tolerância aos ácidos está ligada ao fato de que esses microrganismos se encontram

em ambientes onde há produção de AO, resultado da fermentação da microbiota intestinal benéfica (BAIK *et al.*, 1996; DITTOE; RICKE; KIESS, 2018; KWON; RICKE, 1998a).

S. Typhimurium, por exemplo, além de sofrer inibição por AO, tem a capacidade a se adaptar e tolerar ambientes ácidos, podendo inclusive usar os AO como fonte de energia, em condições de crescimento aeróbico, mas requer um tempo de adaptação considerável entre 18 a 20 h (ÁLVAREZ-ORDÓÑEZ *et al.*, 2009, 2010; BEARSON, 1997; GREENACRE *et al.*, 2003; KWON; RICKE, 1998a).

O sistema que aumenta a tolerância de organismos entéricos aos AO é chamado de resposta de tolerância a ácidos (ATR- *acid tolerance response*). Essa resposta pode ser induzida na fase exponencial ou estacionária de crescimento da bactéria, em um processo de dois estágios acionados em pH diferentes. O primeiro estágio é protagonizado em pH 6,0 (choque pré-ácido), envolvendo a síntese de sistemas de homeostase de pH, que alcalinizam o citoplasma. O segundo estágio (choque-pós-ácido) é ativado quando o pH cai abaixo de 4,5 (BEARSON, 1997).

Na fase exponencial, esse sistema envolve a indução de pelo menos 50 proteínas produzidas para reparar o dano celular, chamadas de proteínas de choque ácido. Na fase estacionária, uma resposta é induzível pelo choque ácido, assim como na fase exponencial, e outra resposta de tolerância ao ácido é induzida automaticamente por um fator sigma alternativo (σ^{s}), codificado pelo gene *rpoS* e responsável pela síntese de outras proteínas, como um sistema geral de resistência para lidar com qualquer estresse, como por exemplo, quando as células entram na fase estacionária lidando com a falta de nutrientes (BAIK *et al.*, 1996; MANI-LÓPEZ; GARCÍA; LÓPEZ-MALO, 2012; SOO LEE *et al.*, 1995; YUK; SCHNEIDER, 2006).

Em S. Typhimurium já foi relatado que a ATR permite que a bactéria sobreviva em ambientes ácidos potencialmente letais, com pH até 3,0 (KWON; RICKE, 1998a; MANI-LÓPEZ; GARCÍA; LÓPEZ-MALO, 2012).

Álvarez-Ordóñez et al. (2009) determinaram a capacidade da *S*. Typhimurium ativar seu mecanismo ATR após o crescimento em meio BHI acidificado a pH 4,5 em diferentes ácidos. Nesse estudo, as bactérias expostas ao ácido apresentaram tempos de geração e de fase *lag* significativamente maiores do que os controles (p<0,05), indicando que o patógeno foi capaz de adquirir ATR.

No caso particular de *S*. Typhimurium, existem poucas informações disponíveis sobre os mecanismos de resistência e virulência relacionado aos AO. Ainda não está claro, de acordo com a literatura consultada, até que tempo a exposição aos AO pode aumentar a virulência dessa bactéria (GREENACRE *et al.*, 2003; YUK; SCHNEIDER, 2006) (ÁLVAREZ-ORDÓÑEZ *et al.*, 2009; GREENACRE *et al.*, 2003; GROISMAN; MOUSLIM, 2000; KANELLOS; BURRIEL, 2005; YUK; SCHNEIDER, 2006).

2.10 MICROBIOLOGIA PREDITIVA

A partir de observações experimentais é possível prever respostas do crescimento microbiano aos fatores ambientais por meio da microbiologia preditiva (ROSS; MCMEEKIN, 1994).

Os modelos de microbiologia preditiva são reconhecidos como ferramentas matemáticas úteis para investigar a segurança e a qualidade microbiológica dos alimentos, e são componentes relevantes na avaliação quantitativa do risco microbiano. A aplicação de modelos preditivos ajuda a gestão da segurança dos alimentos a tomar decisões em um curto espaço de tempo em relação ao risco microbiano, desde a planta de processamento até a estimativa da vida útil dos produtos (POSSAS; VALERO; PÉREZ-RODRÍGUEZ, 2022).

A microbiologia preditiva é considerada uma potente ferramenta para descrever o efeito de diferentes condições ambientais sobre determinada população microbiana (GEERAERD; VALDRAMIDIS; VAN IMPE, 2005). Seu conceito combina microbiologia, matemática, estatística e tem como objetivo prever e descrever o crescimento ou inativação de microrganismos, usando modelos matemáticos (ROSS; MCMEEKIN, 1994).

A modelagem preditiva é descrita conforme o comportamento do microrganismo, de tal modo que existem modelos de crescimento e inativação, que geralmente é realizada em dois estágios. Primeiro, as curvas são geradas em diferentes níveis dos fatores ambientais de interesse (temperatura, pH, atividade da água, etc.). Em seguida, um modelo primário é ajustado aos dados experimentais para estimar os parâmetros do modelo, em uma dada condição ambiental. Após os primeiros ajustes, os efeitos das condições ambientais nos parâmetros do modelo

primário são descritos por um modelo secundário (COTON; LEGUERINEL, 2014; GRIFFITHS, 2005).

2.10.1 Modelo Primário de crescimento

O crescimento microbiano pode ser descrito em três fases: uma fase de latência (fase *lag*), período no qual ocorre a adaptação das células microbianas ao ambiente, seguido de uma fase de crescimento exponencial e em seguida uma fase estacionária, na qual a população máxima é atingida, apresentando assim, um comportamento sigmoidal (Figura 2.6) (ISABELLE; ANDRÉ, 2006).

Figure 2.6 - Curva típica de crescimento microbiano. Fase lag (λ), velocidade específica máxima de crescimento (μ_{max}), população inicial (y_0) e população máxima (y_{max}).



Fonte: Adaptado de Isabelle; André (2006).

O crescimento microbiano é avaliado sob condições definidas e controladas. As respostas são resumidas na forma de equações que podem prever o comportamento microbiano sob condições que ainda não foram testadas, o que permite antecipar consequências para a segurança biológica de um produto e desta forma, atender os níveis de segurança requeridos (ROSS; MCMEEKIN, 1994).

2.10.1.1 Modelo de Baranyi & Roberts (BAR)

Modelos matemáticos para prever o crescimento microbiano têm sido propostos na literatura, entre eles, destaca-se o modelo proposto por Baranyi; Roberts (1994). Esse modelo é amplamente utilizado na microbiologia preditiva por ter boa capacidade de ajuste, é fácil de usar por já estar inserido em *softwares* disponíveis, é aplicável em condições ambientais diversas e a maior parte dos parâmetros do modelo são biologicamente interpretáveis. Esse modelo introduz um parâmetro definido pelo estado fisiológico das células (h_0), que é determinado pelo produto da velocidade específica máxima de crescimento (μ_{max}) e a fase *lag* (λ) (BARANYI *et al.*, 1995; BARANYI; ROBERTS, 1994). As equações do modelo de Baranyi e Roberts são descritas a seguir:

$$y = y_0 + \mu_{max}F - ln\left\{1 + \frac{e^{[\mu_{max}F]} - 1}{e^{(\gamma_{max} - \gamma_0)}}\right\}$$
(2.2)

$$F(t) = t + \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{max}}\right) \ln\left(e^{(-\mu_{max}t)} + e^{(-h_0)} - e^{[(-\mu_{max}t) - h_0]}\right)$$
(2.3)

No qual, *y* é logaritmo natural da contagem bacteriana (UFC mL⁻¹) no instante *t*; y_0 é o ln N (UFC mL⁻¹) da concentração inicial de células; y_{max} é o logaritmo natural da contagem máxima de bactérias alcançada em (UFC mL⁻¹). μ_{max} é a velocidade máxima específica de crescimento (h⁻¹), h_0 é o parâmetro resultante do produto de μ_{max} e a fase lag (λ) e *F*(*t*) representa uma função de ajuste para o modelo.

2.10.2 Modelo primário de inativação

A inativação de células microbiana, devido às condições de um processamento de alimentos ou pela ação de antimicrobianos, pode exibir diferentes curvas de sobrevivência. Curvas log-linear, curvas que exibem ombro antes de uma redução log-linear ou cauda após uma redução log-linear, curva bifásica, côncava ou convexa. A Figura 2.7 apresenta tipos de curvas de inativação.

Figure 2.7 - Curvas comumente observadas nos processos de inativação microbiana. As curvas no gráfico (A) são: (Δ) log-linear; (x) log-linear com cauda; (\Box) sigmoidal; (\circ)

log-linear precedida de ombro. No gráfico (B): (Δ) bifásica; (x) côncava; (\Box) bifásica com ombro; (\circ) convexa.



Fonte: Extraído de Geeraerd; Valdramidis; Van Impe (2005).

2.10.2.1 Modelo de Inativação Weibull

Classicamente, a inativação microbiana é descrita como cinética de primeira ordem. Entretanto, a maioria dos experimentos de inativação não são bem ajustados a essa cinética. Em muitos casos, a curva de sobrevivência apresenta uma concavidade para baixo (presença de um ombro) ou concavidade para cima (presença de uma cauda). O modelo de Weibull tem sido usado com eficiência em estudos de inativação microbiana com comportamento não linear. Esse modelo assume que as células de uma população microbiana possuem diferentes resistências a um dado tratamento e a curva de sobreviventes é uma forma acumulativa do efeito letal do agente (VAN BOEKEL, 2002). Esse modelo apresenta a vantagem de ser simples e suficientemente robusto na descrição das curvas de sobrevivência (BUZRUL; ALPAS, 2004). O modelo de Weibull em sua forma logarítmica foi atualizado para o ajuste de curvas de sobrevivência conforme a Equação 2.5 proposta por Mafart *et al.* (2001).

$$Log_{10} N = Log_{10} N_0 - \left(\frac{t}{\beta}\right)^{\alpha}$$
 (2.5)

No qual N_0 é a população microbiana inicial (UFC mL⁻¹), N é descrito como o número de microrganismos que sobreviveram após o tempo de tratamento (UFC mL⁻¹), α é o fator de forma (adimensional) e β é o fator de escala (h).

De acordo com Van Boekel (2002), a forma da curva de sobreviventes no modelo de Weibull é uma manifestação de vias diferentes de inativação. As curvas com concavidade voltada para baixo ($\alpha > 1$), indica que a população microbiana diminui progressivamente, que o tempo necessário para destruir a mesma fração de células diminui com o passar do tempo e que há dano cumulativo tornando cada vez mais difícil a sobrevivência. Nas curvas com concavidade voltada para cima ($\alpha < 1$), significa que a população contém membros que morrem, inicialmente, mais rápido e que as células restantes têm menor probabilidade de morrer, indicando que se adaptam ao estresse, levando um tempo maior de inativação (Figura 2.7).

2.10.3 Modelos secundários

Os modelos secundários descrevem a influência de fatores ambientais sobre as respostas dos parâmetros de modelos primários (HUANG; HWANG; PHILLIPS, 2011; ROSS; MCMEEKIN, 1994). Dentre os modelos secundários, os modelos da Raiz quadrada (Equação 2.6) e Tipo Arrhenius (Equação 2.7) são os mais utilizados para descrever a variação dos parâmetros dos modelos primários em relação ao fator ambiental observado. Entretanto, de acordo com Corradini e Peleg (2005), qualquer modelo empírico, que descreva o comportamento dos parâmetros dos modelos primários de forma satisfatória, pode ser classificado como modelo secundário. Alguns exemplos de modelos empíricos são; o modelo Linear (Equação 2.8) e exponencial (2.9).

$$\sqrt{y} = a(F - F_{min}) \tag{2.6}$$

$$Ln y = b\left(\frac{1}{F}\right) + c \tag{2.7}$$

$$y = dF + e \tag{2.8}$$

$$y = f. \exp(gF) \tag{2.9}$$

Em que *y* é o parâmetro de interesse avaliado, geralmente relacionado com a velocidade de crescimento ou inativação (μ_{max} ou β), *a*, *b*, *c*, *d*, *e*, *f*, *g* são parâmetros calculados pelos modelos secundários e *F* é a variável ambiental analisada.

CAPÍTULO 3

3 MODELAGEM DA INFLUÊNCIA DA CONCENTRAÇÃO DE ÁCIDO PROPIÔNICO E PH NA CINÉTICA DE SALMONELLA TYPHIMURIUM

Neste capítulo, são discutidos os resultados do comportamento de *S*. Typhimurium em contato com o AP em meio BHI ajustado com HCI 1 M para os pH (4,5, 5,5 e 6,5). A menor concentração do agente que inibiu o crescimento da cepa após 48 h de contato foi determinada. Modelos matemáticos primários e secundários foram utilizados para estimar os parâmetros cinéticos de crescimento e inativação e para descrever a influência do AP sobre *S*. Typhimurium. O trabalho foi submetido para a revista *International Microbiology*, sob o título "*Modeling the influence of propionic acid concentration and pH on the kinetics of Salmonella Typhimurium*", o qual encontra-se sob revisão.

ABSTRACT

Salmonella Typhimurium is a foodborne pathogen often found in the poultry production chain. Antibiotics have been used to reduce S. Typhimurium contamination in poultry aviaries and improve chicken growth. However, antibiotics were banned in several countries. Alternatively, organic acids, such as propionic acid (PA), can control pathogens. This study determined the PA minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC), bactericidal concentration (MBC). and mathematicallv minimum modeled S. Typhimurium growth/inactivation kinetics under the influence of PA at different pH values (4.5, 5.5, and 6.5) within the range of chickens' gastrointestinal tract. The PA MIC against S. Typhimurium was pH-dependent, resulting in 7, 15, and 100 mM at pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5, respectively. The Baranyi and Roberts, and Weibull models fit growth and inactivation data well, respectively. For example, the validated model predicted 3log reduction of S. Typhimurium in 3 h at 94 mM of PA and pH 4.5. The models presented a good capacity to describe the kinetics of S. Typhimurium subjected to PA, representing a useful tool to predict PA antibacterial action depending on the pH.

Keywords: Antimicrobial; Food predictive modeling; Foodborne pathogen; Organic acid; Food safety.

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Salmonella is a foodborne pathogen associated with many products, often found in poultry meat and its derived products (MENGARDA BUOSI *et al.*, 2022). Salmonella can be present in fecal material in the poultry processing plant, contaminating carcasses during slaughter and subsequent steps (MANI-LÓPEZ; GARCÍA; LÓPEZ-MALO, 2012). Contaminated broiler carcasses can affect consumers, causing medical expenses for infected individuals and large economic losses to the poultry industry, such as product recalls and compensation, which can reach up to US\$11 billion per year (WERNICKI; NOWACZEK; URBAN-CHMIEL, 2017).

Salmonella Typhimurium is the strain that has received the most attention. It can handle different environmental factors, becoming a persistent serovar in the poultry environment (EL-AZIZ, 2013; RYCHLIK; BARROW, 2005; SPECTOR; KENYON, 2012) and one of the most reported foodborne pathogens in human infections (ABHISINGHA; DUMNIL; PITAKSUTHEEPONG, 2020; COBURN; GRASSL; FINLAY, 2007; MACIOROWSKI *et al.*, 2006; MEZAL; STEFANOVA; KHAN, 2013; RODPAI *et al.*, 2013).

Antibiotic Growth Promoters (AGP) were used to minimize contamination and improve broiler weight gain. However, the use of AGP has been suspended in several countries because antibiotic-resistant *Salmonella* can be transferred from the food chain to humans, consequently representing a public health problem (CASEWELL *et al.*, 2003; DITTOE; RICKE; KIESS, 2018). Some strategies have been suggested as an alternative to AGP to improve *Salmonella* control in the poultry production chain, such as the washing of broiler carcasses with antioxidant agents and the application of bacteriocins, essential oils, and organic acids in water or poultry feed (Dincer and Baysal, 2004; Khan et al., 2022; Mani-López et al., 2012).

Organic Acids (OA) can be an alternative to AGP since it has antimicrobial activity and increases weight gain performance in broilers. The OA molecules intensify pancreatic secretions to promote enhanced proteolytic activity and improve nutrient digestibility in the animal's gastrointestinal tract (GIT) (DITTOE; RICKE; KIESS, 2018; NG *et al.*, 2015).

The antimicrobial action is attributed to the OA undissociated form. The dissociation of the acid depends on its pKa, and the pH of the solution. When the medium has a pH value equal to its pKa, 50% of the acid is undissociated in the solution (MANI-LÓPEZ; GARCÍA; LÓPEZ-MALO, 2012; SKŘIVANOVÁ *et al.*, 2011). The literature highlights the propionic acid (PA, pKa = 4.89) as an antimicrobial component in blends with other acids and salts when added to poultry feed alternatively to AGP (ALSHAWABKEH; TABBAA, 2002; MOORE *et al.*, 2017; NAVA *et al.*, 2009; OLIVEIRA *et al.*, 2019; SENKOYLU *et al.*, 2007). However, there is little data on the effect of PA on *S*. Typhimurium as a function of the actual pH.

The predictive microbiology approach has been used as an effective tool to represent the behavior of microorganisms in response to different environmental conditions (PRADHAN et al., 2012). Primary models describe the evolution of microorganisms as a function of time, subject to environmental factors such as temperature, pH, atmosphere composition, water activity, acids and salt concentration, among others (MEMBRÉ; LAMBERT, 2008). The Baranyi and Roberts (BAR) primary model is widely used to represent microbial growth, and most of the parameters of this model are biologically interpretable (BARANYI et al., 1995; BARANYI; ROBERTS, 1994). Weibull is the primary model efficiently used in microbial inactivation studies with non-linear behavior (MAFART et al., 2001). Secondary models evaluate the environmental variable's effect on the primary model's parameters (LONGHI et al., 2017). The square root (RATKOWSKY et al., 1982) and Arrhenius (TAOUKIS, 1999) type models are the most frequently used to determine the effect of temperature on the microbial growth rate, but they can be extended to other factors. Predictive modeling is recognized as an essential tool for assessing microbiological risks (TIRLONI et al., 2021).

Therefore, this study evaluated the use of the propionic acid against *S*. Typhimurium, estimating the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) and measured the influence of the PA on *S*. Typhimurium cells depending on culture medium pH into the range of the broiler's gastrointestinal tract. Thus, predictive microbiology primary and secondary models were used to describe *S*. Typhimurium growth/inactivation kinetics depending on PA concentration and medium pH.

3.2 MATERIAL AND METHODS

3.2.1 Bacterial strain and inoculum

Salmonella enterica subsp. enterica serovar Typhimurium ATCC 14028 isolated from chicken viscera was used in this work. The strain was reactivated in Brain-heart infusion (BHI, Kasvi®, Brazil) broth and incubated at 37 °C for 18 h until a bacterial concentration of around 10⁹ CFU mL⁻¹, according to previous studies (PAGANINI *et al.*, 2022). Then, the stock culture was prepared with 1.8 mL of cell suspension and 0.2 mL of glycerol 80% (v/v) to microtubes and stocked at - 24 °C until use.

The inoculum was prepared by transferring 100 μ L of the stock culture to 10 mL of BHI medium (pH 7.4), which was incubated at 37 °C for 18 h. The suspension obtained was diluted until around 10⁷ CFU mL⁻¹ for the studies of PA action against *S*. Typhimurium.

3.2.2 PA solutions

Propionic acid and sodium propionate were used to prepare buffered stock solutions. Three pH values (4.5, 5.5, and 6.5) were studied herein, based on the pH range of chickens' GIT (COX *et al.*, 1972; MABELEBELE *et al.*, 2013; RODRIGUES; CHOCT, 2018). PA and sodium propionate solutions (100 g L⁻¹) were mixed in proportions to reach the desired pH, measured in a pHmeter (Kasvi®, K39-2014B, Brazil). The buffer solutions at pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5 were sterilized with a 0.22 μ m filter. The PA concentration (dissociated and undissociated forms) was measured in an HPLC (LC-20A Shimadzu) using the Aminex HPX-87H column (300 x 7.8 mm, Bio-Rad) and a refractive index detector, 5 mM H₂SO₄ eluent, flow rate of 0.6 mL min⁻¹, and temperature of 50 °C.

3.2.3 S. Typhimurium treatment with PA

The minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) values of PA at pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5 against S. Typhimurium were

obtained by transferring different volumes of the buffered PA stock solutions to 250 mL Erlenmeyer flasks containing 100 mL of sterile BHI medium (sterilized at 121 °C for 20 min). Thus, the MIC value was assumed as the lowest PA concentration in which no growth was observed within 48 h, and the MBC value was the lowest PA concentration in which was observed at least a 3-log reduction in the bacterial count over time (SOUZA *et al.*, 2019).

The BHI was adjusted to each pH evaluated in this study. Then, PA concentrations of 2, 3, 5, 7, 10, 15, and 20 mM at pH 4.5; 5, 7, 10, 15, 30, 40, 50, 60, and 100 mM at pH 5.5; and 30, 100, 300, and 500 mM at pH 6.5 were established. Finally, the BHI was inoculated with 10 mL of the *S*. Typhimurium suspension $(10^7 \text{ CFU mL}^{-1})$.

The undissociated PA concentration ([HA]) was estimated using Eq. 3.1 (WEMMENHOVE *et al.*, 2016).

$$[HA] = \frac{[PA]}{1 + 10^{pH - pKa}} \tag{3.1}$$

in which *Ka* is the dissociation constant of the PA, resulting in $pKa = -\log Ka = 4.89$, and [PA] is the total PA concentration (sum of dissociated and undissociated PA concentration).

Also, control assays were performed in the BHI medium at pH = 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5 (adjusted using 1 M HCI) without adding PA. All experiments were performed in biological replicates, and the bacterial count was obtained after incubation at 37 $^{\circ}$ C without shaking over 48 h.

3.2.4 Microbial enumeration

An aliquot of 1 mL from each sample was collected at predefined intervals over 48 h of incubation and submitted to serial dilutions with sterile 0.1% (w/v) peptone water. Then, 1 mL from each dilution was transferred to Petri over BHI agar. The plates were incubated at 37 °C for 24 h. Enumeration of surviving *S*. Typhimurium cells was expressed as log CFU mL⁻¹ from plates with between 30 to 300 colonies.

3.2.5 Mathematical modeling

3.2.5.1 Primary models

The mathematical models used to describe microbial kinetics for growth and inactivation were the Baranyi and Roberts model (BAR) (BARANYI *et al.*, 1995; BARANYI; ROBERTS, 1994), Eqs. 3.2 and 3.3; and the Weibull model (Eq. 3.4) (RANJBARAN; CARCIOFI; DATTA, 2021).

$$\log y(t) = \log y_0 + \mu_{max} \frac{F(t)}{\ln(10)} - \frac{1}{m\ln(10)} \ln\left(1 + \frac{e^{m\,\mu_{max}\,F(t)} - 1}{10^{m\,(\log y_{max}\,-\log y_0)}}\right)$$
(3.2)

$$F(t) = t + \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{max}}\right) \ln\left(e^{(-\mu_{max}t)} + e^{(-h_0)} - e^{[(-\mu_{max}t) - h_0]}\right)$$
(3.3)

in which *y* is the logarithm of the bacterial concentration (CFU mL⁻¹) after the time interval *t* since growth has started; y_0 is the logarithm of the initial bacterial concentration (CFU mL⁻¹); y_{max} is the logarithm of the asymptotic bacterial concentration (CFU mL⁻¹) after growth (maximum concentration at stationary phase), μ_{max} is the maximum specific growth rate (h⁻¹), *m* is a curvature factor (*m* = 1), h_0 is the parameter resulting from the product of μ_{max} and the lag phase (λ), and *F*(*t*) represents an adjustment function for the model.

$$Log\left(\frac{N}{N_0}\right) = -\left(\frac{t}{\beta}\right)^{\alpha}$$
(3.4)

in which *N* is the bacterial concentration (CFU mL⁻¹) after the time interval *t* since inactivation has started; N_0 is the initial bacterial concentration (CFU mL⁻¹) and α and β are fitting parameters form factor and scale factor, respectively.

The mathematical models were fit to describe the experimental data using Matlab R2016a (MathWorks®, Natick, EUA). Fit options (Minimizing the Square Root of the Mean Error (RMSE), trust region).

3.2.5.2 Secondary model

The secondary models used to describe the influence of PA concentration on the parameters of the primary model of inactivation were the exponential, Eq. 5, and squared root models (RATKOWSKY *et al.*, 1982), Eq. 6. The secondary model fitting procedures were performed in Microsoft Office Excel 2016 (Microsoft®, USA).

$$p = a \exp(b[PA]) \tag{5}$$

$$\sqrt{P} = c([PA] - [PA]_{lim}) \tag{6}$$

in which *p* is the parameter of interest evaluated (μ_{max} and β), $[PA]_{lim}$ is the fitting parameter indicating the theoretical limiting PA concentration for growth or inactivation, and *a*, *b*, and *c* are fitting parameters.

3.2.5.3 PA concentration for 3-log bacterial reduction in 3 h

Firstly, the Weibull model (Eq. 4) was used to predict the time to achieve 3 decimal reductions (t3DR) of *S*. Typhimurium for each PA concentration evaluated, according to Eq. 3.7.

$$t3DR = \beta(3)^{-a} \tag{3.7}$$

Then, the t3DR values obtained were fitted by secondary models (Eqs. 5 and 6). Three hours interval was selected based on the average digestive transit time in the GIT of chickens (RODRIGUES; CHOCT, 2018). The predicted PA concentration to the 3-log reduction of *S*. Typhimurium was validated experimentally in essays following the same methodology previously presented.

3.2.6 Statistical analysis

All experimental data were obtained at least in duplicate. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to compare whether there is a significant difference between

the h_0 and α values of the BAR and Weibull models, respectively. The fit of the primary models to the experimental growth and inactivation data was evaluated using the statistical indices: Coefficient of Determination (R^2 , Eq. 3.8), Root Mean Squared Error (*RMSE*, Eq. 3.9), and Accuracy factor (A_f , Eq. 10) (LONGHI *et al.*, 2013).

$$R^{2} = 1 - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (pred_{i} - obs_{i})^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (obs_{i} - average)^{2}}$$
(3.8)

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (pred_i - obs_i)^2}{n - x}}$$
(3.9)

$$A_f = 10^{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{\log(pred_i/obs_i)}{n}\right)}$$
(3.10)

in which $pred_i$ is each predicted value; obs_i is each corresponding experimental data for each $pred_i$; *n* is the amount of *i* observations; and *x* is the number of parameters in the model.

3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.3.1 Effect of PA and pH on S. Typhimurium

S. Typhimurium behavior after exposure to the different PA concentrations in BHI at pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5 over time is presented in Fig. 1. The bacteria within the medium without PA, independently of the pH, grew faster than any other sample at the same pH but exposed to the PA. It demonstrated that S. Typhimurium can grow in a stressful environment regarding the pH in the studied range, and the undissociated PA interferes with bacterial culture development.

The inactivation curves at pH 4.5 and 5.5 (Fig. 1A and 1B) indicate a concave shape with a shoulder ($\alpha > 1$), and, at pH 6.5, the curves showed $\alpha < 1$, a slightly upward concavity trend. In curves with $\alpha > 1$, the bacterial population progressively decreases, and the time required to inhibit the same cell fraction decreases; that is, the rate of destruction increases (MCKELLAR; LU, 2003). Inactivation curves with $\alpha < 1$ mean that the population contains members that initially die faster, and the surviving cells adapt to the stress (VAN BOEKEL, 2002).

Figure 3.1 - Growth and inactivation curves of S. Typhimurium incubated at 37 °C in BHI medium at pH 4.5 (A) with 2 mM (\bigcirc), 3 mM (\bigcirc), 5 mM (\bigcirc),7 mM (\diamond), 10 mM (\triangleleft), 15 mM (\triangleright), 20 mM PA (\blacksquare); in pH 5.5 (B) containing 5 mM (\bigcirc), 7 mM (\diamond), 10 mM (\triangleleft), 15 mM (\triangleright), 30 mM (\blacktriangle), 40 mM (\bigtriangledown), 50 mM (\Box), 60 mM (\blacksquare), 100 mM PA (\bigtriangleup); and pH 6.5 (C) with 30 mM (\blacktriangle),100 mM (\bigtriangleup), 300 mM (\blacksquare), 300 mM (\blacklozenge), 20 mM PA (\boxdot),100 mM (\bigstar), 300 mM (\blacksquare), 500 mM PA (\diamondsuit). All Control assays are represented by the symbol (\blacksquare). The dash-dot lines represent the BAR model fit, and the solid lines represent the fit of the Weibull model to the data for each condition.



The pH values in 48 h of kinetics and the concentration of undissociated PA are presented in Table 1. In the experiments initiated at pH 4.5, the final pH ranged from 4.2 to 4.5; for those initiating at pH 5.5, the final values varied from 4.5 to 5.5; and for initial pH 6.5, the final pH was between 5.5 and 5.8. In the experiments in which *S*. Typhimurium grew in contact with PA, the pH of the medium decreased since *Salmonella* produces hydrogen sulfide (H_2S) by degrading the sugars present in the medium (GAST; PORTER, 2020).

The lowest concentrations of PA which inhibited the growth of *S*. Typhimurium in BHI medium at pH 4.5 (Fig. 1A), pH 5.5 (Fig. 1B), and pH 6.5 (Fig. 1C) were 7 mM, 15 mM, and 300 mM, respectively. It was therefore assumed that these concentrations

represented the MIC of PA for the pathogen at each pH assessed. According to Eq. 1, the MIC of undissociated PA for S. Typhimurium at pH 4.5 was 4.97 mM (Table 1), representing 71.0% of PA in the protonated form. The MIC of undissociated PA at pH 5.5 was 3.54 mM (Table 1), 23.6% of the acid in the undissociated form. For pH 6.5, the MIC of the undissociated acid was 8.99 mM (Table 1), which is only 3% of the acid in the protonated form since, at pH 6.5, there are much more mols of propionate than mols of acid.

pH 4.5			рН 5.5		рН 6.5			
[<i>PA</i>] (mM)	Final pH	[<i>HA</i>] (mM)	[<i>PA</i>] (mM)	Final pH	[<i>HA</i>] (mM)	[<i>PA</i>] (mM)	Final pH	[<i>HA</i>] (mM)
Control	4.20 ± 0.00		Control	4.50 ± 0.00		Control	5.75 ± 0.07	
2	4.50 ± 0.00	1.42	5	4.70 ± 0.00	3.03	30	5.85 ± 0.07	2.96
3	4.45 ± 0.07	2.06	7	4.80 ± 0.00	3.86	100	5.80 ± 0.00	10.95
5	4.55 ± 0.07	3.43	10	5.05 ± 0.07	4.09	300	6.40 ± 0.07	8.99
7	4.50 ± 0.00	4.97	15	5.40 ± 0.00	3.54	500	6.50 ± 0.00	11.97
10	4.50 ± 0.00	7.10	30	5.45 ± 0.07	6.47			
15	4.40 ± 0.10	11.33	40	5.45 ± 0.07	8.63			
20	4.45 ± 0.07	14.21	50	5.50 ± 0.00	9.85			
			60	5.45 ± 0.07	12.95			
			100	5.50 ± 0.00	19.71			

Table 3.1 - Final pH after 48 h of bacterial growth or inactivation and the final concentration of undissociated PA, [*HA*].

These results are consistent since the antimicrobial activity of PA is directly linked to pH and the dissociation constant of the acid (pKa = 4.89). Indeed, as the pH decreases, the concentration of undissociated acid increases. This results in a decrease in the molecule polarity, and the diffusion of the acid increases through the lipid membrane of bacterial cells (Mani-López et al., 2012). The undissociated form of the acid in the more alkaline intracellular environment dissociates and releases H⁺, making the cytoplasmic environment more acidic. In this condition, a disturbance in the pH gradient of the cell occurs, bringing adverse consequences in nutrient transfer, inhibition of essential enzymes for cellular metabolisms, and damage to the DNA molecule with consequent growth inhibition (EŞ *et al.*, 2017; HUYGHEBAERT; DUCATELLE; IMMERSEEL, 2011; LUNA-FLORES *et al.*, 2017).

The lowest acid concentration promoting 3-log reduction in 48 h was determined as MBC. MBC was only observed for 10 mM PA at pH 4.5, corresponding to 7.10 mM in the undissociated form (Table 3.1), providing a 3.42 log reduction (Table

3.2). At pH 5.5, the maximum log reduction observed was 2.18 log (Table 3.2) at the concentration of 100 mM (19.71 mM in undissociated form, Table 3.1). For pH 6.5, only a 1 log reduction was observed when *S*. Typhimurium was exposed to 500 mM PA for 48h (Table 3.2), representing 11.97 mM (Table 3.1) of undissociated PA.

According to the literature, the highest recommended concentration of PA in poultry feed and water is around 135 mM and 54 mM, respectively (BORIES *et al.*, 2011). Higher levels can significantly reduce feed and reduce body weight gain in broiler chickens. In this sense, it is not recommended to apply very high concentrations of PA to achieve 3 decimal reductions of the pathogen in the condition of pH closer to neutrality (pH 6.5).

The antibacterial impact of the acid can be associated with its effective concentration in various digestive regions of the chicken, which includes the crop, proventriculus, gizzard, small intestine, cecum, and colon. The crop is an anterior chicken GTI region located just after the neck (SVIHUS, 2014). In this region, the feed is moistened and fermented, and the acid produced by the microbiota of the region keeps the pH low. Depending on the food, the pH can vary from 3.8 to 6.9, with an average pH of 4.5 (RODRIGUES; CHOCT, 2018). In the stomach (proventriculus and gizzard), the pH is between 2 and 5. On the other hand, the pH of the final region of the GTI, the small intestine and colon, is close to neutral (6.5 to 7.5); and in the ceca, the pH is around 5.7 (MENEZES-BLACKBURN; GABLER; GREINER, 2015; WALES; ALLEN; DAVIES, 2010). Therefore, analysis of PA activity on the pH of the intestinal environment is important to reduce *S*. Typhimurium contamination.

According to Thompson and Hinton (1997), the antibacterial effect is greatest in the crop region of broilers, where pathogenic bacteria need to overcome the acid barrier of this region to colonize the posterior GTI. In this sense, the continuous addition of PA to feed or water at the concentration that promotes the inactivation of *S*. Typhimurium and at the pH corresponding to the crop of the animal is necessary, which could reduce the colonization of the strain in the chicken intestines and provide better weight gain for the animals.
3.3.2 Modeling the effect of PA on S. Typhimurium behavior

3.3.2.1 Primary models

The fitting of the primary models BAR (Eqs. 3.2 and 3.3) and Weibull (Eq. 3.4) used the average initial concentration (close to 6 log (CFU mL⁻¹)) for the values of y_0 and N_0 respectively.

The parameter estimation was performed in two steps. Firstly, the parameters μ_{max} (h⁻¹), y_{max} , (CFU mL⁻¹) and h_0 for BAR and α and β (h) for the Weibull model were estimated by fitting the models to the experimental data. The h_0 values did not differ significantly (p > 0.05) among different PA concentrations at a given pH evaluated. The same was observed for α . Therefore, the h_0 average value (± standard deviation) of 5.94 (± 1.44), 6.37 (± 1.76), and 1.62 (± 0.82) for pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5, respectively; and the α average value (± standard deviation) of 2.39 (± 0.23), 1.40 (± 0.34), and 0.64 (± 0.17) for pH 4.5, 5.5 and 6.5, respectively, were fixed for a second fitting of the BAR and Weibull models to the experimental data. Thus, new estimated μ_{max} , y_{max} , and β values were obtained. The Control experiments at pH 5.5 and 6.5 resulted in h_0 values significantly different from values at the same pH when PA was added. Thus, the fitting was performed independently in only one step for control data.

According to the statistical indices presented in Table 2, the primary models fitted well the experimental data of growth and inactivation. A good performance of the models was demonstrated by *RMSE* values ranging from 0.047 to 0.247 log CFU mL⁻¹. These results show that the values predicted by the models are close to the observed values. The R^2 and A_f values were, in general, very close to 1.

The experimental data for bacterial kinetics with 15 mM/pH 5.5 and 300 mM/pH 6.5 presented an almost constant count over time, representing a region at the growth and non-growth boundary. Table 2 presents the result of fitting both BAR and Weibull models to these data at the boundary region.

According to the parameters data of the BAR model presented in Table 2, as the PA concentration increases, the μ_{max} values decrease. The β values estimated by the Weibull model decrease with increasing PA concentration, reaching even smaller values at pH 4.5. It demonstrates that both pH and acid concentration affect the kinetic

parameters of growth and inactivation since the concentration of the undissociated PA is influenced by the pH of the medium.

Table 3.2 - Parameters (± standard deviation) and statistical indices by fitting the BAR and Weibull models to the experimental data of the growth and inactivation curves of *S*. Typhimurium in BHI medium with buffered PA at pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5. (to be continued)

pH 4.5										
PA (mM)	Experimental value	BAR Model parameters h ₀ fixed* = 5.94			Weibull Model parameters α fixed = 2.39	Experimental value	Statistical indices		Log Reduction	
()	${oldsymbol{\mathcal{Y}_0}}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	${oldsymbol{\mathcal{Y}}}_{max}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	μ _m (h ⁻	ax -1)	β (h)	$m{N_0}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	<i>R</i> ²	RMSE (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	A_f	(48 h)
Control	6.17 ± 0.04	8.05 ± 0.01	0.51 ±	: 0.00			0.987	0.102	1.010	
2	6.18 ± 0.02	8.45 ± 0.06	0.28 ±	: 0.01			0.940	0.247	1.019	
3	5.89 ± 0.01	8.25 ± 0.07	0.24 ±	: 0.01			0.992	0.096	1.011	
5	6.13 ± 0.02	7.56 ± 0.05	0.13 ±	: 0.00			0.961	0.076	1.006	
7					36.41 ± 0.07	6.02 ± 0.02	0.976	0.122	1.018	1.94
10					29.27 ± 0.99	6.04 ± 0.00	0.998	0.062	1.011	3.42
15					25.94 ± 0.13	6.09 ± 0.06	0.980	0.228	1.043	4.92
20					23.04 ± 0.25	6.07 ± 0.06	0.990	0.121	1.020	2.87
					рН 5.5					
		Baranyi		\A/a:la						
	Exporimontal		Daranyi		vveibuli	Exporimontal				
D۸	Experimental value	Мс	odel parameter	'S	Model parameters	Experimental value	Sta	tistical indice	es	Log
PA (mM)	Experimental value	Mc h _t	odel parameter	'S 7	Model parameters α fixed = 1.40	Experimental value	Sta	tistical indice	es	Log Reduction
PA (mM)	Experimental value y ₀ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	Mc <i>h</i> <i>y</i> max (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	baranyi odel parameter <u>a</u> fixed ^{**} = 6.37 μ_{max} (h ⁻¹)	n h ₀ Control	$\frac{\alpha \text{ fixed = 1.40}}{\beta}$	Experimental value N ₀	Sta R ²	tistical indice RMSE (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	es A _f	Log Reduction (48 h)
PA (mM)	Experimental value y_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 6.15 ± 0.05	Mc y_{max} (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 8.34 ± 0.00	baranyi odel parameter <u>p</u> fixed ^{**} = 6.37 μ_{max} (h ⁻¹) 0.74 ± 0.04	$\frac{h_0}{Control}$ 2.02 ± 0.32	Model parameters α fixed = 1.40 β (h)	Experimental value N ₀ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	Sta R ² 0.989	tistical indice RMSE (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.095	A _f 1.008	Log Reduction (48 h)
PA (mM) Control 5	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c } \hline {\tt Experimental} \\ \hline {\tt value} \\ \hline {\tt y_0} \\ \hline {\tt (Log\ CFU\ mL^{-1})} \\ \hline {\tt 6.15\ \pm\ 0.05} \\ \hline {\tt 6.15\ \pm\ 0.01} \\ \hline \end{tabular}$	Mc y_{max} (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 8.34 ± 0.00 8.32 ± 0.03	baranyi bdel parameter <u>fixed** = 6.37</u> μ_{max} (h ⁻¹) 0.74 ± 0.04 0.71 ± 0.01	$\frac{h_0}{Control}$ 2.02 ± 0.32	Model parameters α fixed = 1.40 β (h)	Experimental value N ₀ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	Sta R ² 0.989 0.984	tistical indice <i>RMSE</i> (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.095 0.130	A _f 1.008 1.012	Log Reduction (48 h)
PA (mM) Control 5 7	Experimental value y_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 6.15 ± 0.05 6.15 ± 0.01 6.18 ± 0.01	$Mc \\ h_{t} \\ y_{max} \\ (Log CFU mL^{-1}) \\ 8.34 \pm 0.00 \\ 8.32 \pm 0.03 \\ 8.45 \pm 0.00 \\ \end{cases}$	baranyi bdel parameter <u>fixed** = 6.37</u> μ_{max} (h ⁻¹) 0.74 ± 0.04 0.71 ± 0.01 0.68 ± 0.01	$\frac{h_0}{Control}$ 2.02 ± 0.32	Model parameters α fixed = 1.40 β (h)	Experimental value N ₀ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	Sta R ² 0.989 0.984 0.983	tistical indice <u>RMSE</u> (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.095 0.130 0.147	A _f 1.008 1.012 1.010	Log Reduction (48 h)
PA (mM) Control 5 7 10	Experimental value y_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 6.15 ± 0.05 6.15 ± 0.01 6.18 ± 0.01 6.11 ± 0.04	$Mc \\ h_{t} \\ y_{max} \\ (Log CFU mL^{-1}) \\ 8.34 \pm 0.00 \\ 8.32 \pm 0.03 \\ 8.45 \pm 0.00 \\ 8.36 \pm 0.04 \\ \end{bmatrix}$	baranyi bdel parameter <u>fixed** = 6.37</u> μ_{max} (h ⁻¹) 0.74 ± 0.04 0.71 ± 0.01 0.68 ± 0.01 0.31 ± 0.01	$\frac{h_0}{Control}$ 2.02 ± 0.32	Model parameters α fixed = 1.40 β (h)	Experimental value N ₀ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	Sta R ² 0.989 0.984 0.983 0.996	tistical indice <u>RMSE</u> (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.095 0.130 0.147 0.067	A _f 1.008 1.012 1.010 1.006	Log Reduction (48 h)
PA (mM) Control 5 7 10 15	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c } \hline {\bf Experimental} \\ \hline {\bf y_0} \\ \hline ({\rm Log\ CFU\ mL}^{-1}) \\ \hline 6.15 \pm 0.05 \\ \hline 6.15 \pm 0.01 \\ \hline 6.18 \pm 0.01 \\ \hline 6.11 \pm 0.04 \\ \hline 6.16 \pm 0.00 \\ \hline \end{tabular}$	$Mc \\ h_{t} \\ y_{max} \\ (Log CFU mL^{-1}) \\ 8.34 \pm 0.00 \\ 8.32 \pm 0.03 \\ 8.45 \pm 0.00 \\ 8.36 \pm 0.04 \\ 4.00 \pm 0.02 \\ \end{bmatrix}$	baranyi bdel parameter <u>p fixed** = 6.37</u> μ_{max} (h ⁻¹) 0.74 ± 0.04 0.71 ± 0.01 0.68 ± 0.01 0.31 ± 0.01 0.07 ± 0.01	$\frac{h_0}{Control}$ 2.02 ± 0.32	Model parameters α fixed = 1.40 β (h)	Experimental value N ₀ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	Sta R ² 0.989 0.984 0.983 0.996 0.777	tistical indice <u>RMSE</u> (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.095 0.130 0.147 0.067 0.070	A _f 1.008 1.012 1.010 1.006 1.006	Log Reduction (48 h)
PA (mM) Control 5 7 10 15 15	Experimental value y_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 6.15 ± 0.05 6.15 ± 0.01 6.18 ± 0.01 6.11 ± 0.04 6.16 ± 0.00	$Mc \\ y_{max} \\ (Log CFU mL^{-1}) \\ 8.34 \pm 0.00 \\ 8.32 \pm 0.03 \\ 8.45 \pm 0.00 \\ 8.36 \pm 0.04 \\ 4.00 \pm 0.02 \\ \end{bmatrix}$	baranyi bdel parameter <u>p</u> fixed ^{**} = 6.37 μ_{max} (h ⁻¹) 0.74 ± 0.04 0.71 ± 0.01 0.68 ± 0.01 0.31 ± 0.01 0.07 ± 0.01	h_0 <u>Control</u> 2.02 ± 0.32	Model parameters α fixed = 1.40 β (h) 109.5 ± 15.7	Experimental value N ₀ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 6.13 ± 0.05	Sta R ² 0.989 0.984 0.983 0.996 0.777 0.900	tistical indice <u>RMSE</u> (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.095 0.130 0.147 0.067 0.070 0.047	A _f 1.008 1.012 1.010 1.006 1.006 1.005	Log Reduction (48 h)
PA (mM) Control 5 7 10 15 15 30	Experimental value y_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 6.15 ± 0.05 6.15 ± 0.01 6.18 ± 0.01 6.11 ± 0.04 6.16 ± 0.00	$Mc \\ h_{t} \\ y_{max} \\ (Log CFU mL^{-1}) \\ 8.34 \pm 0.00 \\ 8.32 \pm 0.03 \\ 8.45 \pm 0.00 \\ 8.36 \pm 0.04 \\ 4.00 \pm 0.02 \\ \end{bmatrix}$	baranyi bdel parameter μ_{max} (h^{-1}) 0.74 ± 0.04 0.71 ± 0.01 0.68 ± 0.01 0.31 ± 0.01 0.07 ± 0.01	h_0 <u>Control</u> 2.02 ± 0.32	Model parameters α fixed = 1.40 β (h) 109.5 ± 15.7 45.49 ± 3.47	Experimental value N ₀ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 6.13 ± 0.05 6.19 ± 0.04	Sta R ² 0.989 0.984 0.983 0.996 0.777 0.900 0.882	tistical indice <u>RMSE</u> (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.095 0.130 0.147 0.067 0.070 0.047 0.113	A _f 1.008 1.012 1.010 1.006 1.006 1.005 1.015	Log Reduction (48 h) 0.30 1.04
PA (mM) 5 7 10 15 15 30 40	Experimental value y_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 6.15 ± 0.05 6.15 ± 0.01 6.18 ± 0.01 6.11 ± 0.04 6.16 ± 0.00	$Mc \\ h_{t} \\ y_{max} \\ (Log CFU mL^{-1}) \\ 8.34 \pm 0.00 \\ 8.32 \pm 0.03 \\ 8.45 \pm 0.00 \\ 8.36 \pm 0.04 \\ 4.00 \pm 0.02 \\ \end{bmatrix}$	baranyi bdel parameter $p_{1} fixed^{**} = 6.37$ μ_{max} (h^{-1}) 0.74 ± 0.04 0.71 ± 0.01 0.68 ± 0.01 0.31 ± 0.01 0.07 ± 0.01	$\frac{h_0}{Control}$ 2.02 ± 0.32	Weibuli Model parameters α fixed = 1.40 β (h) 109.5 ± 15.7 45.49 ± 3.47 43.23 ± 0.96	Experimental value N_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 6.13 ± 0.05 6.19 ± 0.04 6.09 ± 0.02	Sta R ² 0.989 0.984 0.983 0.996 0.777 0.900 0.882 0.980	tistical indice <u>RMSE</u> (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.095 0.130 0.147 0.067 0.070 0.047 0.113 0.064	A _f 1.008 1.012 1.010 1.006 1.006 1.005 1.015 1.009	Log Reduction (48 h) 0.30 1.04 1.22
PA (mM) Control 5 7 10 15 15 30 40 50	Experimental value y_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 6.15 ± 0.05 6.15 ± 0.01 6.18 ± 0.01 6.11 ± 0.04 6.16 ± 0.00	$Mc \\ h_{t} \\ y_{max} \\ (Log CFU mL^{-1}) \\ 8.34 \pm 0.00 \\ 8.32 \pm 0.03 \\ 8.45 \pm 0.00 \\ 8.36 \pm 0.04 \\ 4.00 \pm 0.02 \\ \end{bmatrix}$	baranyi bdel parameter $p_{1} fixed^{**} = 6.37$ μ_{max} (h^{-1}) 0.74 ± 0.04 0.71 ± 0.01 0.68 ± 0.01 0.31 ± 0.01 0.07 ± 0.01	$\frac{h_0}{Control}$ 2.02 ± 0.32	Weibuli Model parameters α fixed = 1.40 β (h) 109.5 ± 15.7 45.49 ± 3.47 43.23 ± 0.96 38.90 ± 1.42	Experimental value N_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 6.13 ± 0.05 6.19 ± 0.04 6.09 ± 0.02 6.14 ± 0.04	Sta R ² 0.989 0.984 0.983 0.996 0.777 0.900 0.882 0.980 0.928	tistical indice <u>RMSE</u> (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.095 0.130 0.147 0.067 0.070 0.047 0.113 0.064 0.129	A _f 1.008 1.012 1.010 1.006 1.006 1.005 1.015 1.009 1.018	Log Reduction (48 h) 0.30 1.04 1.22 1.48
PA (mM) Control 5 7 10 15 15 30 40 50 60	Experimental value y_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 6.15 ± 0.05 6.15 ± 0.01 6.18 ± 0.01 6.11 ± 0.04 6.16 ± 0.00	$Mc \\ h_{t} \\ y_{max} \\ (Log CFU mL^{-1}) \\ 8.34 \pm 0.00 \\ 8.32 \pm 0.03 \\ 8.45 \pm 0.00 \\ 8.36 \pm 0.04 \\ 4.00 \pm 0.02 \\ \end{bmatrix}$	baranyi bdel parameter $p fixed^{**} = 6.37$ μ_{max} (h^{-1}) 0.74 ± 0.04 0.71 ± 0.01 0.68 ± 0.01 0.31 ± 0.01 0.07 ± 0.01	$\frac{h_0}{Control}$ 2.02 ± 0.32	Weibuli Model parameters α fixed = 1.40 β (h) 109.5 ± 15.7 45.49 ± 3.47 43.23 ± 0.96 38.90 ± 1.42 33.03 ± 2.04	Experimental value N_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 6.13 ± 0.05 6.19 ± 0.04 6.09 ± 0.02 6.14 ± 0.04 6.11 ± 0.08	Sta R ² 0.989 0.984 0.983 0.996 0.777 0.900 0.882 0.980 0.928 0.950	tistical indice <u>RMSE</u> (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.095 0.130 0.147 0.067 0.070 0.047 0.113 0.064 0.129 0.142	A _f 1.008 1.012 1.010 1.006 1.006 1.005 1.015 1.015 1.009 1.018 1.019	Log Reduction (48 h) 0.30 1.04 1.22 1.48 1.83

Table 3.2 Parameters (± standard deviation) and statistical indices by fitting the BAR and Weibull models to the experimental data of the growth and inactivation curves of *S*. Typhimurium in BHI medium with buffered PA at pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5.

(conclusion)

pH 6.5										
PA (mM)	Experimental value	Baranyi Model parameters fixed*** = 1.62		Weibull Model parameter fixed = 0.64	Experimental value	Statistical indices		Log Reduction		
	${m y_0}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	$oldsymbol{\mathcal{Y}_{max}}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	μ _{max} (h ⁻¹)	$m{h}_0$ Control	β (h)	$m{N_0}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	R ²	RMSE (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	A _f	(48 h)
Control	6.21 ± 0.00	8.94 ± 0.02	0.64 ± 0.84	0.67 ± 0.20			0.977	0.166	1.012	
30	6.10 ± 0.04	8.53 ± 0.04	0.70 ± 0.02				0.973	0.145	1.010	
100	6.02 ± 0.01	8.56 ± 0.08	0.23 ± 0.00				0.991	0.108	1.008	
300	6.11 ± 0.05	3.84E-13 ± 0.0	1.00E-4 ± 0.0				0.761	0.054	1.006	
300					242.0 ±17.5	6.11 ± 0.05	0.603	0.067	1.009	0.20
500					46.92 ± 2.43	6.12 ± 0.04	0.868	0.151	1.020	1.31

 y_0 is the initial cell concentration fixed in the model, y_{max} is the maximum cell growth, α is the mean of the shape factor estimated over the inactivation experiments, and β the scale factor, N_0 is the initial cell concentration fixed in the model.

* \dot{h}_0 fixed is the arithmetic mean of the experiments from the Control (0 PA) to 5 mM PA

** h_0 fixed is the arithmetic mean of the experiments from 5 to 15 mM of PA

*** h_0 fixed is the arithmetic mean of the experiments from 30 to 300 mM of PA

3.3.2.2 Secondary models

The parameters β (pH 4.5 and 5.5) and μ_{max} (pH 5.5) estimated from the primary Weibull and BAR models, respectively, were modeled as a function of PA concentration in the secondary square root (Eq. 3.5) and exponential secondary models (Eq. 3.6). The secondary models were selected according to the coefficient of determination (R^2). The empirical parameters of the secondary model are presented in Table 3.

Table 3.3 - Estimated values of the empirical parameters a and b by fitting the exponential secondary model to the β values, c and $[PA]_{lim}$ by fitting the square root model to the μ_{max} values and statistical indices of each model.

	Exponential model								
	<i>a</i> (1/h)	<i>b</i> (1/mM)	<i>R</i> ²						
β pH 4.5 (A)	43.347	-0.033	0.919						
β pH 5.5 (B)	115.27	-0.022	0.860						
	Square ro	ot model							
	<i>c</i> (1/mM. √h)	[<i>PA</i>] _{<i>lim</i>} (mM)	<i>R</i> ²						
$\sqrt{\mu_{max}}$ pH 5.5 (C)	-0.062	19.23	0.972						

The exponential secondary model described well the influence of PA concentration on β parameters at pH 4.5 (Figure 3.2A) and β values at pH 5.5 (Figure 3.2B), and the square root model best represented the influence of PA concentration on μ_{max} (Figure 3.2C). Based on the value of R^2 , the secondary models exhibited a good ability to predict the inactivation of S. Typhimurium exposed to PA within the range of concentrations and pH evaluated.

Figure 3.2 - Exponential secondary models of β at pH 4.5 (A), β at pH 5.5 (B), and the square root secondary model of μ_{max} (C) at pH 5.5 as a function of PA concentration. The solid lines (—) represent the values predicted by the models.



At pH 6.5, it was impossible to have a secondary model because the concentrations required to inactivate the strain would be higher than the evaluated. As mentioned above, adding these concentrations in broiler feeds would not be viable.

3.3.2.3 Prediction of PA concentration to promote 3-log reductions in 3 h

The time predicted to observe 3 decimal reductions (t3DR) of S. Typhimurium exposed to each PA concentration evaluated was calculated by Eq. (3.7), considering $(Log(N/N_0) = 3)$. The secondary exponential model showed a good fit to the t3DR data as a function of PA concentration at pH 4.5 (Figure 3.3) confirmed by the coefficient of determination (R^2) of 0.919 and at pH 5.5 with $R^2 = 0.860$.

The fit of an exponential equation to experimental data of t3DR vs. [PA] at pH 4.5 resulted in Eq. 3.11. From this equation, it was possible to estimate by extrapolation of data, that 94 mM of PA at pH 4.5 has t3DR = 3 h.

$$t3DR = 68.64 \ e^{-0.033[PA]} \tag{3.11}$$

Figure 3.3 - Secondary Exponential model of t3DR as a function of PA concentration for t3DR = 3 h. Filled squares (\blacksquare) represent the t3DR values for each PA concentration evaluated at pH 4.5. The solid lines (—) represent the values predicted by the secondary model, the dotted lines (—) represent the data extrapolation, and the dotted horizontal line (—) represents t3DR = 3 h.



3.3.2.4 Secondary model validation

Since the experimental data is a biological variable, reproducibility and reliability are critical issues in reducing the parameter errors in the primary model fit. A good performance in fitting the inactivation curves of the primary model is essential for secondary modeling and obtaining reliable predictions of the model (MARKS, 2008). In this study, the secondary model was validated based on the PA concentration, predicted by Eq. 3.11, to achieve 3-log reductions of *S*. Typhimurium in 3h at pH 4.5 (Figure 3.4).

Figure 3.4 - Inactivation curve of S. Typhimurium exposed to concentrations of 94 mM PA at pH 4.5. The filled squares (\blacksquare) are the experimental data. The solid lines (—) represent the Weibull model fits, and the dashed lines (---) demonstrate the 3-log reduction in 3 h.



The results in Figure 3.4 show a 3-log reduction of S. Typhimurium in 3 h (180 min) of contact with a medium containing 94 mM of PA (73.36% undissociated PA) at pH 4.5 (Figure. 3.4). The fit of the Weibull model (Eq. 3.4) to the experimental data of S. Typhimurium in 94 mM PA were $\alpha = 1.07 \pm 0.02$ and $\beta = 64.96 \pm 1.72$ (*min*). The pathogen population exhibited a fast inactivation rate due to the high concentration of PA in the undissociated form permeating the cell.

The exponential secondary model accurately predicted the 3-log reduction of *S*. Typhimurium in 3 h of contact with PA at pH 4.5. These results suggest that a single dose of 94 mM of PA at pH 4.5 is favorable for preventing the growth of *S*. Typhimurium in the broiler crop. According to Guo et al. (2022), when the animal remains on a water diet before slaughter, the concentration of acids in the crop decreases due to the reduction of carbohydrates in this region, which may increase contamination by *Salmonella*. In addition, Bories et al. (2011), this concentration does not exceed the upper limit of 135 mM of PA for chicken feed. At another pH, such as 5.5 and 6.5, the concentration incorporated into the feed may be higher and can promote lower feed consumption by the broilers. It is necessary to evaluate *in vivo* the performance of the PA concentrations predicted in this study in the reduction of *S*. Typhimurium when incorporated into the feed and drinking water of the chickens.

3.4 CONCLUSION

The results presented in this study proved that the effectiveness of PA on *S*. Typhimurium is dependent on the pH. The most efficient inhibition results of S. Typhimurium in contact with PA were observed at pH 4.5 with an MIC of 7 mM and MBC of 10 mM. The secondary models described the influence of PA on the parameters of *S*. Typhimurium kinetics. The inactivation predictions proposed by the Exponential secondary model at pH 4.5 was validated. The model can predict the PA concentration to inactivate *S*. Typhimurium after a desired time, helping reduce the risk of contaminated broilers.

CAPÍTULO 4

4 EFEITO INIBITÓRIO DO ÁCIDO ACÉTICO EM DIFERENTES PH NO CONTROLE DE SALMONELLA TYPHIMURIUM EM CONDIÇÕES AERÓBICAS E COM LIMITAÇÃO DE OXIGÊNIO

O ácido acético (AA) é dos AO utilizados na ração de frangos para reduzir contaminação por *Salmonella* na indústria avícola (SALEEM *et al.*, 2016). Além disso, o AA pode ser utilizado como solução de lavagem para carcaças de frangos como uma prática de higienização em abatedouros e processadores de aves (MANI-LÓPEZ; GARCÍA; LÓPEZ-MALO, 2012). Como alguns produtos derivados de frangos são embalados a vácuo, limitando a disponibilidade de oxigênio, bem como o ambiente gastrointestinal de frangos possui baixa tensão de oxigênio e variação de pH, é bastante relevante avaliar o efeito do AA contra *Salmonela* nessas condições ambientais. Por isso, neste capítulo, a exposição de S. Typhimurium a diferentes condições de pH e oxigênio foi investigada. Foram determinadas as concentrações inibitórias mínimas (CIM) de ácido acético para S. Typhimurium em aerobiose e em limitação de oxigênio, utilizando meio BHI ajustado com HCl 1 M para os valores de pH 4,5, 5,5 e 6,5. Os experimentos foram conduzidos em microplacas de 96 poços e em tubos de ensaio de 16 mL contendo 6 mL de meio BHI.

As cinéticas de inativação dos sobreviventes de *S*. Typhimurium (UFC mL⁻¹) em aerobiose foram realizadas utilizando as quatro menores concentrações do ácido acético em cada pH, que não apresentaram crescimento nos tubos de 16 mL após 48 h. Esse procedimento foi realizado com o objetivo de determinar a CIM do ácido acético, utilizando a mesma metodologia usada para determinação a CIM do AP, a fim de obter resultados comparáveis.

ABSTRACT

Acetic acid (AA) is one of the organic acids used as an antimicrobial agent added to chicken feed to reduce Salmonella colonization. Once chicken has ingested the feed containing AA, the effect of the acid on the pathogen may vary due to differences in pH and oxygen limitation in the regions of the chicken's gastrointestinal tract. In this study, it was evaluated the inhibitory effect of different AA concentrations under different pH and oxygen conditions on S. Typhimurium. Oxygen-limited assays were carried out in sealed 96-well microplates, and aerobic assays were carried out in 16 mL tubes. Growth was monitored by spectrophotometry and was determined the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of AA by counting survivors after 48 hours. The behavior of S. Typhimurium as a function of AA concentration was evaluated using mathematical modeling only under aerobic conditions. In the control experiment, without AA, there was no growth of S. Typhimurium under limited oxygen conditions and pH 4.5, but at pH 5.5 and 6.5, the MIC was 3.44 mM (0.53 mM in the undissociated form) and 330 mM (5.9 mM in the undissociated form), respectively. In aerobiosis, the MIC of AA for S. Typhimurium was 4 mM, 10 mM, and 473 mM with 2.58 mM, 1.54 mM, and 8.45 mM in the undissociated form at pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5, respectively. The MIC of AA at pH 5.5 was almost three times lower under limited oxygen conditions than under aerobic conditions. The primary Weibull model showed a good fit to the experimental data and the secondary exponential and square root models showed a good fit to the β -parameter data of the primary model for pH 4.5 and 5.5, respectively. These models can predict AA concentrations for inhibiting S. Typhimurium in BHI within the AA range evaluated. The results suggest that under oxygen-limited conditions, AA is more efficient against S. Typhimurium than under aerobic conditions.

Keywords: Food-borne pathogen; mathematical modeling; minimal inhibitory concentration.

4.1 INTRODUCTION

The most common reservoir of *Salmonella* is the host's gastrointestinal tract (GIT) (ÁLVAREZ-ORDÓÑEZ *et al.*, 2012), where the pathogen can survive various environmental conditions such as acid presence, high osmolarity, bile salts, and low oxygen tension (DE SALES *et al.*, 2018). Surviving these harmful conditions of the GTI, *Salmonella* can colonize the animal and infect humans by consuming contaminated food. This poses a significant public safety problem (MELO *et al.*, 2017), in which *Salmonella* Typhimurium, Gram-negative, facultative anaerobic, resistant to adverse pH, temperature, and oxygen conditions, is one of the most prevalent serovars in the epidemiologic chain involving poultry products (BETERAMS *et al.*, 2023; NIKHIL *et al.*, 2022).

In view of the restricted use of antibiotics growth promoting (BIALKOWSKI *et al.*, 2023), several additives (organic acids, essential oils, minerals, plant metabolites, amino acids, herbs, oligosaccharides) are used in chicken feed to reduce or eliminate *Salmonella* contamination in the poultry industry (SWAGGERTY *et al.*, 2020). Among the alternatives, organic acids (OA) have provided animal health benefits due to reduce broiler gut pathogens and increase nutrient digestibility (DITTOE; RICKE; KIESS, 2018).

Most studies have focused on evaluating the application of OA on animal health and growth performance due to increased nutrient digestibility and improved feed conversion (ADIL *et al.*, 2010; ALJUMAAH *et al.*, 2020; ARISTIMUNHA *et al.*, 2016; BAGAL *et al.*, 2016; BIALKOWSKI *et al.*, 2023; GIANNENAS *et al.*, 2014; NOURMOHAMMADI *et al.*, 2012; PANDA *et al.*, 2009; SENKOYLU *et al.*, 2007). This leaves a gap in scientific knowledge regarding the minimum concentration of OA for pathogenic suppression in a pH-varying and oxygen-limited environment, such as chicken GIT.

Broilers consume large amounts of feed that are digested in the GIT regions, which include the crop, proventriculus, gizzard, small intestine, and cecum (SVIHUS, 2014), which have a different pH and a low oxygen tension (ÁLVAREZ-ORDÓÑEZ *et al.*, 2012). Considering that the antimicrobial efficacy of OA is directly related to the ambient pH (MANI-LÓPEZ; GARCÍA; LÓPEZ-MALO, 2012), the effect leading to

pathogen inhibition under different pH and oxygen conditions may be a favorable approach to *Salmonella* growth inhibition.

The most commonly used OAs in animal feed are formic, acetic, propionic, butyric, lactic, fumaric, and citric acids (DIBNER; BUTTIN, 2002). Based on the effects of the individual acids, they can be divided into two groups: the first group (e.g. lactic, fumaric, citric acids) are able to reduce pathogenic bacteria indirectly by acidification in the host stomach, and the acids of the second group (e.g. acetic, propionic, formic acid), have an action characterized by a direct effect on the ambient pH and are dependent on a medium with low pH to permeate the cell wall of Gram-negative bacteria and reach the membrane and specific functions of cell metabolism (DITTOE; RICKE; KIESS, 2018; PAPATSIROS *et al.*, 2013).

In the literature, it has been reported that acetic acid (AA) is one of the OAs added to chicken feed to reduce Salmonella in the poultry industry (Saleem et al. 2016). It is also one of the most accepted acids for decontamination in poultry processing (DINCER; BAYSAL, 2004), due to its economic availability, ease of use, and efficiency without posing problems to consumer health (MANI-LÓPEZ; GARCÍA; LÓPEZ-MALO, 2012; SOHAIB et al., 2016). However, the efficiency of AA depends on the ambient pH, and it is known that there are no studies that have determined the total and undissociated minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of AA against S. Typhimurium under different conditions of pH and oxygen. Therefore, the aim of this study was to determine the MIC of AA at different pH (4.5, 5.5 and 6.5), which represent an average pH of the chicken GTI regions, crop, cecum and intestine, respectively (GIANNENAS et al., 2014; MABELEBELE et al., 2013; RODRIGUES; CHOCT, 2018) for S. Typhimurium in a BHI medium, under aerobic and oxygen-limited conditions. In addition, mathematical modeling was used as a valuable and efficient tool (TARLAK; OZDEMIR; MELIKOGLU, 2018) to evaluate the growth and inactivation of S. Typhimurium under aerobic conditions.

4.2 MATERIAL AND METHODS

4.2.1 Strains, stock preparation, and Inoculum

Salmonella enterica subsp. enterica serovar Typhimurium ATCC 14028 was used in this work. The strain was grown in 10 mL of sterile BHI medium (BHI, Kasvi®, Brazil) (pH 7.4) at 37 °C for 18 h without shaking (PAGANINI *et al.*, 2022). Then, a suspension was transferred to microtubes with glycerol (20%) and stored at - 24 °C for further use.

The inoculum was prepared with 100 μ L suspension of the stored *S*. Typhimurium culture by reactivation in 10 mL of BHI broth and incubated at 37 °C for 18 h. Afterward, 1 mL of the inoculum was diluted in 10 mL BHI medium to attain 10⁷ CFU mL⁻¹ for further use in the experiments.

4.2.2 Buffered Acetic Acid Solutions

Three pH values (4.5, 5.5, and 6.5) were evaluated in this study, based on an average of the pH present in the chickens gastrointestinal tract (GIT) (COX *et al.*, 1972; MABELEBELE *et al.*, 2013; RODRIGUES; CHOCT, 2018). AA and sodium acetate (100 g L⁻¹) were mixed to obtain the buffer solutions at the pH levels evaluated, using a pH meter (Kasvi®, K39-2014B, Brazil). Then, the AA buffer solutions were sterilized by vacuum filtration using 0.22 μ m membranes and stored at -24 °C.

4.2.3 Determination of the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of AA in limited oxygen conditions for S. Typhimurium

To evaluate the MIC in limited oxygen condition, each AA concentration at pH 4.5 (0.9, 1.8, 3.5, 7.1, 14.2, 28.4, 56.8, 113.5, 227 mM), pH 5.5 (0.9, 1.7, 3.4, 6.9, 13.8, 27.5, 55 mM), and pH 6.5 (80, 130, 180, 230, 330, 380, 390, 400, 410, 420, 430 mM) was initially prepared in 10 mL tubes with a final volume of 6 mL.

The composition of each concentration was prepared by adding buffered AA, S. Typhimurium inoculum, sterile BHI medium adjusted to pH (4.5, 5.5, and 6.5) with

1 M HCl, and 0.025% sterile resazurin as an indicator of the oxygen condition in the medium.

Then, 200 µL of each AA concentration was transferred to the 96-well microplates. Every column in the microplate represented a specific AA concentration, resulting in 8 replicates. The positive controls were transferred to the first column and negative controls have been included in the last column as proof that there has been no contamination. One microplate was used for each pH, then sealed (Platemax Axygen) and incubated at 37 °C for 48 h without shaking.

Growth was monitored at predetermined times by optical density (OD 630 nm) in a microplate reader (Thermo plate TP-Reader) programmed to shake 15 s before reading. The data were represented graphically as $LnOD/OD_0$, in which DO is the optical density measured at each time (t) and DO_0 is the initial optical density. At the end of 48 h, based on the results obtained, some concentrations were selected to perform microbial count of the surviving cells and determine the MIC of AA for *S*. Typhimurium at each pH. MIC was determined as the lowest concentration of AA for which no growth was observed within 48 h. It is important emphasize that only the final sample of the runs in microplates (at 48 h of experiment) was harvest for microbial count.

4.2.4 Determination of the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of AA in aerobic conditions for S. Typhimurium

In aerobiosis, the procedure was performed in 16 mL tubes, containing a final volume of 6 mL and resulting in 8 repetitions. Positive controls were conducted without the presence of AA in the medium. The buffered AA concentrations at pH 4.5 (2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, 14, 16, 18, 20, 22 mM), pH 5.5 (2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, 14, 16 mM), and pH 6.5 (101, 234, 250, 267, 284, 318, 334, 423, 473, 523, 573 mM) were prepared using the same method as described in the previously. Then, tubes were then incubated at 37 °C for 48 h without shaking, and 120 μ L aliquots were transferred to microplates at predetermined times for optical density reading (Thermo plate TP-Reader OD 630 nm) programmed to shake for 15 s before reading. The data was graphically displayed with the same specification mentioned above. To determine the MIC of AA for *S*.

Typhimurium, the surviving cells of the four lower concentrations of AA buffered where no growth occurred were selected for enumeration by the standard plate counting procedure. MIC was determined as the lowest concentration of AA in aerobic conditions for which no growth was observed within 48 h. Different from the limited-oxygen condition, and based on the growth profile results obtained, the kinetics of these selected concentrations of AA were performed in log CFU mL⁻¹ for 48 h for *S*. Typhimurium inactivation, with the aim to apply mathematical models (primary and secondary models) in these data.

4.2.5 Undissociated AA concentration

The undissociated AA concentrations ([HA]) corresponding to the MIC for each pH evaluated were calculated according to Eq. 4.1 (WEMMENHOVE *et al.*, 2016).

$$[HA] = \frac{[AA]}{1 + 10^{pH - pKa}} \tag{4.1}$$

in which [*AA*] is the total AA concentration (sum of dissociated and undissociated AA concentration), and *Ka* is the dissociation constant of AA, ($pKa = -\log Ka = 4.76$).

4.2.6 Microbial count

Aliquots of 150 µL were collected for serial dilution with sterile 0.1% peptone water in sterile 2 mL microtubes. Then, 1 mL of the appropriate dilution for counting was transferred to Petri plates and the pour plating method was performed on BHI Agar. The plates were incubated at 37 °C for 24 h and just those plates with 30 to 300 colonies were counted. The enumeration was expressed in log CFU mL⁻¹.

4.2.7 Primary and secondary mathematical models

The primary models used in this study to evaluate the behavior of *S*. Typhimurium when exposed to AA were the Baranyi and Roberts (BAR) (BARANYI *et al.*, 1995; BARANYI; ROBERTS, 1994) Eq. 4.2 and 4.3, and Weibull (Eq. 4.4)

(MAFART *et al.*, 2001). The primary model fits were performed using Matlab R2016a software (MathWorks®, Natick, EUA).

$$\log y(t) = \log y_0 + \mu_{max} \frac{F(t)}{\ln(10)} - \frac{1}{m\ln(10)} \ln\left(1 + \frac{e^{m\mu_{max}F(t)} - 1}{10^{m}(\log y_{max} - \log y_0)}\right) (4.2)$$
$$F(t) = t + \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{max}}\right) \ln\left(e^{(-\mu_{max}t)} + e^{(-h_0)} - e^{[(-\mu_{max}t) - h_0]}\right) (4.3)$$

in which, *y* is the logarithm cell concentration (CFU mL⁻¹) at time *t*, *y*₀ is the logarithm of the initial cell concentration (CFU mL⁻¹), *y*_{max} is the logarithm of the maximum cell concentration (CFU mL⁻¹) at stationary phase, μ_{max} is the maximum specific growth rate (h⁻¹), *h*₀ represents the physiological state of the cell calculated by the product of μ_{max} and the lag phase (λ) (h). *F*(*t*) represents an adjustment function for the model.

$$Log\left(\frac{N}{N_0}\right) = -\left(\frac{t}{\beta}\right)^{\alpha}$$
 (4.4)

in which, *N* is the cell concentration (CFU mL⁻¹) at time *t*, N_0 is the initial cell concentration (CFU mL⁻¹), α represents the curve shape factor and β (h) is the scale factor.

To describe the dependence of the β parameter of the primary Weibull model on AA concentrations at each pH evaluated, the exponential (Eq. 4.5) (RATKOWSKY *et al.*, 1982) and square root (Eq. 4.6) secondary models were compared. The fits of the secondary models were performed using Office Excel 2016 (Microsoft®, USA).

$$p = a. exp(b[AA]) \tag{4.5}$$

$$\sqrt{p} = c([AA] - [AA]_{lim}) \tag{4.6}$$

in which, *p* represents the parameter of the primary model evaluated (β), *a*, *b*, and *c* are fitting parameters, [*AA*]_{*lim*} is the fitting parameter indicating the theoretical limiting AA concentration for growth or inactivation.

4.2.8 Statistical analysis

The experimental data were presented as the mean \pm the standard deviation, performed at least in duplicate. To evaluate the efficiency of the primary models, the following statistical indexes were adopted: Coefficient of determination (R^2 , Eq. 4.7), Root Mean Squared Error (*RMSE*, Eq. 4.8), and Accuracy factor (A_f , Eq. 4.9) (LONGHI *et al.*, 2013). The secondary models were evaluated according to the R^2 . The adjusted R^2 values obtained from the models and A_f values close to 1 represent a good fit. The lower the *RMSE* values, the closer the predicted values are to those observed and the more adequacy the model.

$$R^{2} = 1 - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (pred_{i} - obs_{i})^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (obs_{i} - average)^{2}}$$
(4.7)

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (pred_i - obs_i)^2}{n - x}}$$
(4.8)

$$A_f = 10^{\left(\sum_{i=0}^{\log(prea_i/obs_i)}{n}\right)}$$
(4.9)

in which $pred_i$ is each predicted value; obs_i is each corresponding experimental data for each $pred_i$, n is the number of experimental data, x is the number of parameters in the model.

4.3 RESULTS

4.3.1 Growth of S. Typhimurium in the BHI medium at pH (4.5, 5.5, and 6.5) without AA

The pH values were measured after 48 h (data not shown) in all assays performed to calculate the MIC of AA in the undissociated form, using Eq. 4.1.

The oxygen-limited condition was observed by the change in the color of the medium due to indicator used (after 6 h of incubation, the medium changed from pink to translucent, indicating that oxygen was consumed).

The Figure 4.1 presents the growth of *S*. Typhimurium under oxygen-limited (A) and aerobic (B) conditions for the positive Control experiment, absent of AA in BHI medium adjusted to the desired pH. It can be seen in this figure that *S*. Typhimurium grows aerobically (Figure 4.1B and Table 4.1) under all the pH conditions evaluated but is inhibited at pH 4.5 after the microplate environment is oxygen-limited (Figure 4.1A). These results corroborates with that presented by Graziani et al., (2017), since *S*. Typhimurium could growth in pH different of its optimal range (from 6.5 to 7.5), supporting stress environment.

Figure 4.1 - Growth of S. Typhimurium $(Ln OD/OD_0 0 630 \text{ nm})$ under oxygen-limited (A) and aerobic (B) conditions for the Control experiments at pH 4.5 (\blacksquare), pH 5.5 (\bullet), and pH 6.5 (\blacktriangle). The lines represent only the connection between the points.



4.3.2 Treatment of S. Typhimurium with AA under oxygen-limited and aerobic conditions

Spectrophotometric monitoring of *S*. Typhimurium exposed to buffered AA concentrations at the pH evaluated, under oxygen-limited conditions, is presented in Figure 4.2.

In pH 4.5, even with 2-log strain reduction at the 0.9 mM concentration (Table 4.1), it is impossible to establish the MIC of AA, because strain inhibition occurred at all concentrations evaluated (Figure 4.2A), including the Control, which can grow under aerobic conditions and at this pH, as shown in Figure 4.1 and Table 4.1.

Figure 4.2 - Growth of S. Typhimurium $(Ln OD/OD_0 0 630 \text{ nm})$ exposed to different concentrations of AA in limited-oxygen conditions at pH 4.5 (A) with 0.9 mM (\blacklozenge), 1.8 mM (\blacktriangle), 3.5 mM (\blacktriangledown), 7.1 mM (\triangleleft), 14.2 mM (\triangleright), 28.4 mM (\blacksquare), 56.8 mM (\bigcirc), 113.5 mM PA (\triangle), 227 mM PA (\bigtriangledown); at pH 5.5 (B) with 0.9 mM (\blacklozenge), 1.7 mM (\triangleleft), 3.4 mM (\triangleright), 6.9 mM (\blacksquare), 13.8 mM (\bigcirc), 27.5 mM PA (\triangle), 55 mM PA (\bigtriangledown), and at pH 6.5 (C) with 80 mM (\blacktriangle), 130 mM (\blacktriangledown), 180 mM (\blacklozenge), 230 mM (\triangleleft), 280 mM (\triangleright), 330 mM (\blacksquare), 380 mM (\circlearrowright), 390 mM PA (\triangle); 400 mM PA (\triangle), 410 mM (\bigtriangledown), 420 mM PA (\triangleleft); 430 mM PA (\triangleright). Lines represent only connections between the points.



Analyzing Figure 4.2B and Table 4.1, it's possible to determine the MIC of AA at pH 5.5 for the pathogen in oxygen-limited condition of 3.44 mM, with only 0.53 mM in the undissociated form, as calculated from Eq. 4.1. For pH 6.5 (Figure 4.2C), the established MIC of AA for S. Typhimurium was 330 mM (Table 4.1) or 5.9 mM of AA in the undissociated form (Eq. 4.1).

OXYGEN-LIMITED CONDITION									
рН	4.5	рН	5.5	рН 6.5					
Initial con	centration	Initial con	centration	Initial concentration					
6.24 log (0	CFU mL ⁻¹)	6.19 log (CFU mL ⁻¹)	6.06 log (CFU mL ⁻¹)					
AA (mM)	Log (CFU mL ⁻¹)	AA (mM) Log (CFU mL ⁻¹)		AA (mM)	Log (CFU mL ⁻¹)				
C (+)	4.01 ± 0.02	C (+)	7.54 ± 0.03	C (+)	8.06 ± 0.05				
0.9	4.17 ± 0.01	0.21	7.49 ± 0.06	280	6.85 ± 0.04				
1.8	NS	0.43	7.56 ± 0.04	330	5.60 ± 0.00				
3.5	NS	0.90	7.67 ± 0.12	380	4.83 ± 0.01				
7.4	NS	1.72	7.29 ± 0.05	390	4.43 ± 0.03				
14.2	NS	3.44	4.45 ± 0.02	400	4.82 ± 0.08				
28.4	28.4 NS		4.48 ± 0.07	410	NS				
56.8	NS	13.8	NS	420	NS				
113.5	NS	27.5	NS	430	NS				
		55	NS						
		AEROBIC C	ONDITION						
рН	4.5	рН	5.5	рН 6.5					
Initial con	centration	Initial con	centration	Initial concentration					
5.96 log (0	CFU mL ⁻¹)	5.96 log (CFU mL ⁻¹)	6.21 log (CFU mL ⁻¹)					
AA (mM)	Log (CFU mL ⁻¹)	AA (mM)	Log (CFU mL ⁻¹)	AA (mM)	Log (CFU mL ⁻¹)				
C (+)	7.58 ± 0.05	C (+)	7.83 ± 0.04	C (+)	9.10 ± 0.05				
2	7.65 ± 0.06	10	5.85 ± 0.04	423	6.05 ± 0.08				
4	5.81 ± 0.10	12	5.91 ± 0.07	473	5.88 ± 0.00				
6	5.08 ± 0.04	14	5.66 ± 0.02	523	5.63 ± 0.02				
8	3.30 ± 0.02	16	5.72 ± 0.08	573	5.56 ± 0.03				
10	NS								

Table 4.1 - *S*. Typhimurium cell concentration after 48 h of contact with different AA concentrations at pH (4.5, 5.5, and 6.5) under limited oxygen and aerobic conditions.

NS: No survivors

C (+): Positive controls

Figure 4.3 shows the growth and inhibition data of the strain under aerobic conditions at different AA concentrations and pH levels. MIC of AA for S. Typhimurium analyzed in aerobiosis at pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5 were 4 mM, 10 mM, and 423 mM, respectively based on the survival count data after 48 h of incubation (Table 4.1). The MIC values of AA in the undissociated form were 2.58 mM, 1.54 mM, and 7.56 mM for pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5, respectively.

Figure 4.3 - Growth of S. Typhimurium $(Ln OD/OD_0 0 630 \text{ nm})$ exposed to different concentrations of AA in aerobic conditions at pH 4.5 (A) with 2 mM (\blacktriangle), 4 mM (\bigtriangledown), 6 mM (\blacklozenge), 8 mM (\triangleleft), 10 mM (\blacktriangleright), 12 mM (\blacksquare), 14 mM (\bigcirc), 16 mM PA (\triangle), 18 mM PA (\triangle), 20 mM (\bigtriangledown), 22 mM PA (\triangleleft) at pH 5.5 (B) with 2 mM (\blacktriangle), 4 mM (\blacktriangledown), 6 mM (\blacklozenge), 8 mM (\triangleleft), 10 mM (\blacktriangleright), 12 mM (\blacksquare), 14 mM (\bigcirc), 16 mM PA (\triangle), and at pH 6.5 (C) 101 mM (\blacktriangle), 234 mM (\blacktriangledown), 250 mM (\diamondsuit), 267 mM (\triangleleft), 284 mM (\triangleright), 318 mM (\blacksquare), 334 mM (\bigcirc),423 mM PA (\Box), 473 mM (O), 523 mM PA (\triangle); 573 mM PA (\bigtriangledown). Lines represent only connections between the points.



The MIC values at pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5 in oxygen-limited conditions were lower than that determined in aerobic conditions, confirming that the limited oxygen condition is an important additional barrier to inhibition of *S*. Typhimurium.

To confirm MIC values determined by turbidimetric methods, 48 h inactivation kinetics were carried out for the four lowest AA concentrations that showed no visible growth. Experimental data were presented as log N (CFU mL⁻¹) against time (Figure 4.4).

Spectrophotometry monitoring data on the behavior of S. Typhimurium exposed to 423 mM AA at pH 6.5 under aerobic conditions (Figure 4.3C), demonstrated inhibition of the strain. However, when performing the kinetics in log N (CFU mL⁻¹), it was observed that the bacteria developed growth up to the maximum concentration of 8.15 ± 0.04 (CFU mL⁻¹) (Table 4.2). In this way, the MIC value of AA for S. Typhimurium at pH 6.5 in aerobiosis was fixed as 473 mM (Figure 4.4 and Table 4.2).

Figure 4.4 - Behavior of S. Typhimurium incubated at 37 °C in BHI medium at pH 4.5 (A) with 4 mM (\blacksquare), 6 mM (\bullet), 8 mM (\blacktriangle), 10 mM (\blacktriangledown), in pH 5.5 (B) containing 10 mM (\blacktriangledown), 12 mM (\bullet), 14 mM (\blacktriangle), 16 mM (\blacksquare); and pH 6.5 (C) with 423 mM (\blacksquare),473 mM (\bullet), 523 mM (\blacktriangle), 573 mM PA (\blacktriangledown), in aerobiosis. The dash-dot lines represent the BAR model fit, and the solid lines represent the fit of the Weibull model to the data for each condition.



Based on the behavior of *S*. Typhimurium exposed to AA in aerobiosis (Figure 4.4), the MIC of AA can be confirmed as 4 mM, 10 mM, and 473 mM for pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5, respectively.

4.3.3 Mathematical modeling of AA effect on S. Typhimurium

Mathematical modeling was carried out using the BAR (Eqs. 4.2 and 4.3) model to describe growth, and the Weibull model to describe strain inactivation behavior (Eq. 4.4).

Weibull model was fitted to the experimental data of strain inactivation in BHI medium adjusted for the three pH levels evaluated, in two steps. In the first stage of modeling, the Weibull parameters (α , β) were estimated. Then, the mean value (± standard deviation) for the shape parameter (α) was calculated, resulting in α equal to 2.11 ± 0.39, 0.71 ± 0.22, and 1.04 ± 0.24, respectively for pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5 (Table 4.2). In the second step, α was fixed to mean value and β was recalculate to each pH (Table 4.2).

As verified in Figure 4.4 and Table 4.2, AA concentrations at pH 4.5 (4, 6, 8, and 10 mM) (Figure 4.4A) present inactivation downward concavity curves ($\alpha > 1$). The inhibition curves of AA concentrations against S. Typhimurium for pH 5.5 (10, 12, 14, and 16 mM) (Figure 4.4B) demonstrated $\alpha < 1$, and pH 6.5 (473, 523, and 573 mM) (Figure 4.4C), the inactivation curves will present α approximately equal to 1, indicating a linearity for inactivation in 48 h of experiment.

In inactivation curves with $\alpha > 1$, there is a time delay for the decimal reduction. Initially, cells die slower, forming a shoulder, e.g. the time to reduce a cell variation is longer. Then, it is observed that the time to reduce the same cellular fraction decreases, increasing the rate of destruction, and making it increasingly difficult for the cells to survive (VAN BOEKEL, 2002). When $\alpha < 1$, it means that the remaining cells are less probable to die, there is an indication that the cells are more resistant to the treatment or have adapted to the stress (MCKELLAR; LU, 2003). If $\alpha = 1$, the probability of death is independent of time, i.e. each cell is equally susceptible regardless of the duration of the treatment. Thus, no biological variation is implicitly assumed (VAN BOEKEL, 2002).

The BAR model was fitted to the experimental growth data of the strain at 423 mM AA concentration at pH 6.5 setting the initial concentration (y_0) in the model to estimate the parameters (y_{max} , μ_{max}) (Table 4.2).

According to the statistical indices presented in Tables 4.2, the Weibull and BAR models present a good fit to the experimental data of inactivation and growth of *S*. Typhimurium exposed to different concentrations of AA at the pH evaluated in this study. The adequacy of the model can be confirmed by the *RMSE* values that ranged from 0.086 to 0.120 (CFU mL⁻¹) at pH 4.5, 0.024 to 0.079 (CFU mL⁻¹) at pH 5.5, and 0.017 to 0.043 (CFU mL⁻¹) at pH 6.5. These *RMSE* values close to zero mean that the

data predicted by the model are close to the experimentally observed data, indicating good model performance in describing observed data at the pH conditions evaluated.

	<u> </u>				pH 4.5		,			
		Wei	bull							
AA (mM)	Parameters α fixed = 2.11 β (h)		Experimental value			Statistical indices				Log Reduction (48 h)
(11111)					R^2 $RMSE$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)			A_f		
4	58.38 :	± 0.59	6.00 :	± 0.06	0.912 0.		1.011		1	0.66
6	45.21 :	± 0.17	6.05 :	± 0.01	0.946	0.105		1.01	2	1.16
8	45.25 :	± 2.43	5.93 :	± 0.07	0.917	0.118		1.01	7	1.15
10	36.72 :	± 0.87	6.12 :	± 0.08	0.960	0,120		1.01	8	1.68
					pH 5.5					
		Wei	bull							
AA	Param α fixed	eters = 0.71	Experime	ntal value		Statis	stical ind	lices		Log Reduction
(mM)	ß		N_0		-	DMSE				
	(h)				R^2 (log CELL ml ⁻¹)		-1,	A_f		(,
10	(11)		6 18 ·	+ 0.03	0.917	0.032		1 004		0.31
12	250.01	+79	6 16 -	+ 0.02	0.951	0.002	1 003		3	0.30
14	144.9	+ 2 15	6.16	+ 0.02	0.926	0.021	1.006		6 6	0.49
16	102.8	+ 7.06	6 15 -	+ 0.01	0.020	0.074		101	0	0.58
	102.01		0.10	_ 0.01	pH 6.5	0.011		101	<u> </u>	0.00
	Weil	bull		B	AR					
	Parameters									
۵۵	α fixed =	Exp. value	Mc	del parameter	rs	Experimental Statistical indices		es	Log	
(mM)	1.04			p		value				Reduction
()	ß	No	Vmax	Umay	-	Vo	_ 2	RMSE		(48 h)
	(h)	(Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	(Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	(h ⁻¹)	h ₀	(Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	R ²	(Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	A_f	
423			8.15 ± 0.04	0.71 ± 0.26	6.11 ± 1.2	6.17 ± 0.05	0.999	0.033	1.003	
473	361.4 ± 9.10	6.20 ± 0.01					0.926	0.014	1.002	0.12
523	204.8 ± 26.7	6.21 ± 0.01					0.960	0.017	1.002	0.22
573	127.8 ± 14.2	6.21 ± 0.01					0.908	0.043	1.005	0.32

Table 4.2 - Parameters (± standard deviation) and statistical indices by fitting the Weibull and BAR model to the experimental data of inactivation or growth curves of *S*. Typhimurium in BHI medium with buffered AA at pH 4.5, 5.5 and 6.5 under aerobic conditions.

 β is the scale factor, N_0 is the initial cell concentration fixed in the model, α is the mean of the shape factor estimated over the inactivation experiments, y_{max} is the maximum cell growth, μ_{max} is the maximum specific growth rate, h_0 represents the physiological state of the cell, and y_0 is the initial cell concentration fixed in the model, y_{max} is the maximum cell growth experiments.

The influence of AA concentration at pH 4.5 and 5.5 on the parameter β was established by secondary models in aerobic conditions. The values of parameters *a*, *b*, *c* e [*AA*]_{*lim*} estimated by fitting the exponential (Eq. 4.5) and square root (Eq. 4.6) secondary models and the R^2 are presented in Table 4.3. The Figure 4.5 shows the fit of the exponential (A) and square root (B) secondary models to the experimental β data at pH 4.5 and 5.5, respectively.

In both models, it is observed that with increasing AA concentration, the scaling factor decreases, that is, the time to reach the first decimal reduction, as expected. The exponential and square root secondary models presented adjusted R^2 of 0.891 and 0.857 (Table 4.3) to the β data at pH 4.5 and 5.5, respectively.

Figure 4.5 - Fitting of the exponential β at pH 4.5 (A), and square root β at pH 5.5 (B) secondary models as a function of AA concentration. The solid lines represent the fit of the models.



Table 4.3 - Estimated values of the empirical parameters (*a*, *b*, *c*), $[AA]_{lim}$ by fitting the exponential and square root secondary models to the β values, and the coefficient of determination (R^2).

	Exponential model								
	<i>a</i> (1/h) <i>b</i> (1/mM) <i>R</i> ²								
β pH 4.5 (A)	74.4	-0.07	0.894						
	Squa	re root model							
	<i>c</i> (1/mM.√h)	[AA] _{lim} (mM)	R ²						
\sqrt{eta} pH 5.5 (B)	-0.978	26.05	0.857						

4.4 DISCUSSION

Salmonella genus is a member of the Enterobacteriaceae family highly adaptable that can survive in a range of environments, including pH and oxygen conditions. This adaptability makes it a particularly dangerous pathogen that can cause illness in humans and animals (ANTUNES *et al.*, 2016). The results of growth of *S*. Typhimurium at pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5 under aerobic and oxygen-limited conditions (Figure 4.1) are consistent as the pathogen could grow in a pH range between 3.8 and 9.5, enduring the stressful environment (GRAZIANI *et al.*, 2017; SPECTOR; KENYON, 2012).

Semenov et al. (2011) evaluated *S*. Typhimurium behavior under aerobic and anaerobic conditions and reported no significant differences in strain behavior, proving *S*. Typhimurium has the ability to grow in oxygen-limited environments. In the present study, bacterial inactivation occurred at pH 4.5 In the present study, bacterial inhibition occurred in all AA experiments at pH 4.5 under oxygen-limited conditions (Figure 4.2A). Although the low pH and proximity to the pKa = 4.76 of AA are favorable for pathogen inactivation, because most acids having antimicrobial activity have a pKa value between 3 and 5 (KHAN *et al.*, 2022), in this case, the inactivation was probably due to both stressful conditions of both pH and oxygen limitation in the 96-well plates. These pH and oxygen conditions can be considered for the application of AA in chicken feed, since the intestinal environment of the chicken has pH variation and low oxygen tension (DE SALES *et al.*, 2018).

The pH of the medium is an important factor in inhibiting pathogen growth. At low pH, AA is most available in the undissociated form. This undissociated form of OA is lipophilic and can easily permeate the cell membrane of bacteria by diffusion. The intracellular environment, which has a more alkaline pH, allows AA to dissociate. With the release of H⁺, the intracellular environment becomes more acidic disturbing enzymatic reactions. In addition, the influx of H⁺ results in an attempt to maintain pH homeostasis by using energy to eject protons, which hinders bacterial cell proliferation and growth (KHAN *et al.*, 2022).

Evaluating the lowest concentration of the agent to inhibit or reduce the pathogen is a study of great relevance to the consumer market. In the present study,

low concentrations of AA were observed to inactivate *S*. Typhimurium at the three-pH studied, with the addition being more effective in the oxygen-limited condition.

Under aerobic conditions, AA MIC at pH 4.5 and 5.5 (4 mM, 10 mM) can be used to inactivate S. Typhimurium present directly in the feed, preventing possible contamination of the animal from contaminated feed.

Olaimat et al. (2018) evaluated the effect of AA against 6 log CFU mL⁻¹ of S. Typhimurium suspension inoculated into Mueller-Hinton broth and incubated at 25 °C for 24 h. The authors observed a MIC of 0.6 mg mL⁻¹, which corresponds to 10 mM AA, but the pH of the medium was not informed. The same authors evaluated the antimicrobial activity of an AA solution containing 5 mg mL⁻¹ (83.3 mM) against a cocktail of *Salmonella* (5.5 log CFU mL⁻¹) in chicken breasts stored at 4 °C, which resulted in a 2.4-log reduction after 10 days of storage. In the authors' evaluation, the pH of the present study, in which the MIC of AA at pH 5.5 (10 mM) resulted in the inhibition of *S*. Typhimurium for 48 h (Figure 4.3 and Table 4.2), and 10 mM of AA at pH 4.5 reduced 1.68 log of the pathogen (Table 4.2) in the same time interval and under aerobic conditions, they can be considered as options to inhibit contamination by the pathogen in poultry products, for example.

Under oxygen-limited conditions, the MIC of AA at pH 5.5 to inhibit *S*. Typhimurium (3.44 mM) was almost 3 times lower than the MIC in aerobic conditions. In this case, the bacteria's cellular respiration is reduced, which could make it difficult to cope with the presence of acid. This AA concentration (3.44 mM) can be perfectly applied in chicken feeds in order to reduce the load of *S*. Typhimurium in the animal's GTI. However, once the animal has ingested the feed containing AA, the dissolution of the acid in the GTI must be taken into consideration. This is a study that should be evaluated *in vivo* in the future. It is noteworthy that similar studies of inhibition of *S*. Typhimurium to the conditions presented in this study were not found in the literature.

The accuracy of secondary models normally depends on several factors, such as the quality and quantity of the data used to develop the model. The ability of a model to predict the response of microorganisms under specific stresses is assessed by the coefficient of determination (R^2) among other statistical indices (BERMUDEZ-AGUIRRE; NIEMIRA, 2023). In this study, the fit of the secondary model to the β data did not show an R^2 close to 1, probably a larger number of data could improve the fit of the secondary model. However, the observed secondary models can be used to predict AA concentrations for *S*. Typhimurium inactivation in the concentration range analyzed. It's important to note that the model's predictions should be validated experimentally to ensure their accuracy and reliability.

4.5 CONCLUSION

The best condition for S. Typhimurium inhibition was at pH 5.5 and oxygenlimited conditions with a MIC of 3.44 mM and only 0.53 mM in the undissociated form. The combination of low oxygen levels and acidic pH represents a direct and effective approach to inhibit S. Typhimurium growth in the presence of AA. These results contribute to the precise determination of the minimum concentrations of AA required to inactivate S. Typhimurium. Further studies are needed to assess the feasibility of applying these AA concentrations under real conditions of pH and oxygen in the GI tract of chickens. Furthermore, mathematical models can be used to predict adequate concentrations of AA to inactivate S. Typhimurium under specific pH conditions, aiding in the development of intervention strategies to ensure microbiological safety.

Capítulo 5

5 MODELAGEM MATEMÁTICA DO EFEITO DO CALDO DE FERMENTAÇÃO PROPIÔNICA PARA O CONTROLE DE *SALMONELLA* TYPHIMURIUM EM DIFERENTES PH

Neste capítulo foi avaliado o efeito do caldo da fermentação propiônica (PFB) para o controle de *S*. Typhimurium. Os experimentos foram realizados em tubos de 16 mL com um volume de 10 mL de meio BHI ajustado para os pH (4,5, 5,5 e 6,5), suspensão de *S*. Typhimurium e diferentes concentrações de PFB, as quais foram calculadas com base na concentração de AP do caldo.

ABSTRACT

Despite the development of various strategies for microbiological control, the poultry industry still faces challenges with Salmonella Typhimurium, a pathogen commonly found in chicken carcasses for human consumption. The poultry industry uses petrochemical-based organic acids (OA) to promote animal health and enhance their development. However, most of the production of OA involves the use of petroleumderived raw materials, making it unsustainable due to its dependence on finite sources. Additionally, it can be polluting by generating toxic waste that negatively impacts the environment. Therefore, producing OA by microbial means is a more sustainable alternative, as it uses renewable raw materials, in addition to being a process with low environmental impact. In this way, it is necessary to evaluate the minimum concentration of new natural compounds to prevent pathogen contamination in an environmentally friendly way. This study aimed to produce OA by Propionibacterium freudenreichii, evaluate the interaction between the combination of acids in the propionic fermentation broth (PFB) at pH (4.5, 5.5 e 6.5), compare it with a mixture of synthetic OA, and model the behavior of S. Typhimurium exposed to PFB. The results showed a minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of 3.5 mM PFB to S. Typhimurium at pH 4.5. A synergistic interaction between acids of PFB was observed only at pH 4.5. The PFB concentration of 46.4 mM at pH 4.5 was estimated by extrapolating the exponential secondary model to reduce 3 logs of S. Typhimurium at 3 h of contact. PBF at pH 4.5 and 5.5 was as effective as synthetic organic acid mixtures. The best results were observed at pH 4.5, suggesting the efficient application of natural OA products at this pH, showing to be a promising strategy to prevent contamination by S. Typhimurium. It is important to emphasize that any microbiological control method must undergo rigorous testing and validation before being implemented.

Keywords: Natural organic acids; minimum inhibitory concentration; Food-borne pathogen; mathematical modeling.

5.1 INTRODUCTION

Salmonella Typhimurium is a pathogen commonly found in chicken carcasses intended for human consumption. This species is resistant to environmental stressors and can persist throughout the entire poultry production chain (MILILLO; RICKE, 2010; QIAN *et al.*, 2020). Pathogen contamination in poultry products can result in significant economic losses to the poultry industry (WANG *et al.*, 2011; WERNICKI; NOWACZEK; URBAN-CHMIEL, 2017).

During the feed manufacturing process, the ingredients used can potentially become a source of *S*. Typhimurium contamination. Chickens can carry these pathogens in their intestines, and at slaughter their carcasses can be surface contaminated with *S*. Typhimurium (FERNÁNDEZ *et al.*, 2021).

Organic acids (OA) have long been used in feed or water for broiler production to increase productivity, improve the gut microbiota of poultry by reducing pathogenic microbiota (SCICUTELLA *et al.*, 2021). They are antimicrobials, usually synthetic, approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), safe for use in animals, and with no daily consumption limit for humans (ADHIKARI *et al.*, 2020; ZHU *et al.*, 2016). The most commonly used in poultry farming are lactic acid (LA), propionic acid (PA), acetic acid (AA), butyric acid (BA), formic acid (FA), and citric acid (DIBNER; BUTTIN, 2002).

Numerous studies analyzed the effect of commercial OA mixtures added to feed to reduce *Salmonella* populations in poultry, for washing poultry carcasses, or in culture medium (ADHIKARI *et al.*, 2020; FERNÁNDEZ *et al.*, 2021; GALLI *et al.*, 2021; MENCONI *et al.*, 2013; RAMIREZ-HERNANDEZ; BRASHEARS; SANCHEZ-PLATA, 2018; ZHAO; ZHAO; DOYLE, 2009; ZHU *et al.*, 2016). Compared to the control groups, the total viable counts of the groups treated with OA were significantly reduced in all outcomes presented in these studies.

However, the use of petrochemical OA raises concerns in terms of long-term sustainability because production is dependent on a finite source (AMMAR *et al.*, 2020). PA production, for example, is predominantly carried out by the Reppe process, which converts ethylene, carbon monoxide, and steam to propionate, and the Larson process, which converts ethanol and carbon monoxide to propionate in the presence of boron trifluoride (GONZALEZ-GARCIA *et al.*, 2017). Microbial OA production from

renewable carbon sources is a promising approach to replacing conventional chemicals (YADAV *et al.*, 2022).

Propionibacterium freudenreichii is one of the strains capable of producing PA using various carbon sources (glucose, sucrose, xylose, etc.) (PIWOWAREK *et al.*, 2019). In addition to PA production, there is also co-production of acetic acid (AA) and succinic acid (SA) as by-products, reducing the pH of the medium (WANG; JIAO; LIU, 2014). Usually, around 10 g L⁻¹ of yeast extract is added to the medium, and the amino acids in the nitrogen source act as a buffer system in the medium, improving the fermentation kinetics (DISHISHA *et al.*, 2015). The utilization of organic acids obtained from fermentation and incorporated into chicken feed can prove as an effective measure for controlling *S*. Typhimurium.

Predictive models are useful tools for estimating the behavior of microorganisms and evaluating the microbiological safety of foods under specific conditions (PARK *et al.*, 2020). Mathematical models are classified into three categories known as primary, secondary and tertiary models. The primary model is used to predict the microorganism data as a function of time under a constant environmental condition. The secondary model is used to describe the effects of specific environmental condition on the parameters obtained from the primary model, and the tertiary model is a product of the integration of primary and secondary models that combine to generate systems capable of making predictions for changing environmental conditions. These systems are made available to the user through software with a user-friendly interface (WHITING; BUCHANAN, 1993). Mathematical models can be employed to describe the effects of OA present in the propionic fermentation broth (PFB) on *S*. Typhimurium and can bring an important information about agent for controlling the strain.

Although OA are widely studied for *S*. Typhimurium inactivation, there is a lack of literature investigating the inactivation of this microorganism by PFB. Therefore, this study aimed to produce natural OA by *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* and to determine the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) of the PFB on *S*. Typhimurium. To evaluate the interaction between the acids present in PFB, the fractional inhibition concentration index (*F1C_{index}*) was applied and the behavior of *S*. Typhimurium exposed to PFB at different pH was modeled.

5.2 MATERIAL AND METHODS

5.2.1 Propionic acid production

5.2.1.1 Strain

Propionibacterium freudenreichii subsp. shermanii ATCC 9614 was used in this study. The strain was reactivated in reinforced clostridial medium (RCM) and incubated at 37 °C until it reached an absorbance (*Abs*) of 0.8 at 600 nm (Bio Spectrum SP-220) at a concentration of approximately 1.05 g L⁻¹. The culture was stored in cryogenic tubes at - 80 °C, containing 1.0 mL of bacterial suspension and 0.5 mL of 50% glycerol for later use.

5.2.1.2 Pre-inoculum and inoculum

The stock culture of *P*. freudenreichii was grown in sealed 100 mL serum bottles containing 70 mL of culture medium composed of (g L⁻¹) yeast extract (10), tryptic soy broth (5), K₂HPO₄ (0.25), MnSO₄ (0.05), glucose (3) and (15) for the preinoculum and inoculum mediums, respectively. Components of the medium and the carbon source were sterilized separately at 121 °C for 20 min. Then the medium was mixed aseptically, and 2 mL L⁻¹ sterile resazurin (0.025%) was added to the medium as an indicator of anaerobiosis. All experiments were performed at 37 °C without shaking, in an anaerobic condition promoted by spraying N₂ gas for 30 min into the serum bottles before inoculation. The pre-inoculum culture was evaluated at 24 h and 48 h, and the best result for growth was used to inoculate another medium. Cells were washed with sterile peptone water 0.1% (p/v), centrifuged, and resuspended in culture medium to transfer 10% (v/v) of the suspension to the inoculum media, incubated for 48 h to establish the growth time needed to transfer to the bioreactor. Methodology was adapted from Stowers; Cox e Rodriguez, (2014).
5.2.1.3 Batch fermentation

Fermentation was carried out in a 1.5 L bioreactor (New Brunswick BioFlo®/ CelliGen® 115) containing 0.75 L of culture medium, the same as mentioned in 5.2.1.2, differing in the glucose (30 g L⁻¹) and yeast extract (15 g L⁻¹) content.

To inoculate the fermentation medium, 3 volumes of 70 mL of inoculum were centrifuged and washed with sterile peptone water (0.1%), and resuspended in a volume corresponding to 10% (v/v) of the working volume of the bioreactor. Fermentation was carried out at 37 °C for 144 h at 150 rpm, with automated pH control maintained at 6.8 \pm 0.2, adding sterile 1 M NaOH. Batch fermentation was performed under anaerobic conditions obtained by sprinkling N₂ gas in the medium for 30 min before inoculation, and the fermentation time was fixed based on previous studies on the total consumption of the carbon source by *P. freudenreichii*. Samples of 2 mL were collected at predetermined times for quantification of sugars and organic acids (LIU *et al.*, 2012b).. At the end of the fermentation, the entire Propionic Fermentation Broth (PFB) was centrifuged, filtered with 0.22 µm membranes, and stored at -24 °C for later use.

5.2.1.4 Analytical methods

The growth of the inoculums was monitored by absorbance at 600 nm by spectrophotometer (Bio Spectrum SP-220). Samples were centrifuged (10 min at 10.000 rpm, Centrifuge HT MCD - 2000) and washed with 0.1% peptone water (w/v) (2 times), the sediment was dried at 100 °C for 24 h, for determination of dry cell weight (DCW g L⁻¹). The supernatants were filtered with 0.22 µm membranes and used to determine glucose and products (PA, AA, and SA) by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) on a Shimadzu LC-20A, equipped with an Aminex HPX -87H column (300 x 7.8 mm, Bio-Rad) and a refractive index detector. Operating conditions were as follows: 5 mM H₂SO₄ as mobile phase, flow rate, 0.6 mL min⁻¹ and column and detector temperature of 50 °C (AMMAR *et al.*, 2020).

5.2.1.5 Kinetic analysis

A polynomial fit was performed for PA production, substrate consumption and biomass production data by using Office Excel 2016 (Microsoft®, USA). The propionic fermentation efficiency, the fermentative parameters were calculated using the equations presented in Table 5.1.

Parameter	Equation	Unit
Maximum specific growth rate	$Ln X = Ln X_0 + \mu_{máx} \cdot t$	h⁻¹
Specific growth rate	$\mu_X = \frac{1}{X} \frac{dX}{dt}$	h-1
Specific product formations rate	$\mu_P = \frac{1}{X} \frac{dP}{dt}$	g _₽ .g _x -1 h-1
Specific substrate consumption rate	$\mu_S = \frac{1}{X} \left(-\frac{dS}{dt} \right)$	gs.g _x 1 h-1
Conversion of substrate to cells	$Y_{X/S} = \frac{dX}{dS}$	gx.gs⁻¹
Conversion of substrate to product	$Y_{P/S} = \frac{dP}{dS}$	g⊳.gs⁻¹
Volumetric productivity	$Q_P = \frac{Pf - Pi}{t}$	g _P . L⁻¹ h⁻¹
Volumetric productivity of Biomass	$Q_x = \frac{Xf - Xi}{t}$	g _x . L ⁻¹ h ⁻¹
Efficiency	$\eta = \frac{Y_{P/S}}{Y'_{\frac{P}{S}}} \times 100$	%

Table 5.1 - Equations for determining the kinetic parameters of fermentation.

In which *X* is the cell concentration (g L⁻¹), *P* is the product concentration (g L⁻¹), *S* is the substrate concentration (g L⁻¹), η the process efficiency. $Y'_{P/S}$ is the theoretical stoichiometric glucose conversion factor into propionic acid = 0.55 g/g

5.2.2 Inhibitory action of Propionic Fermentation Broth (PFB) on S. Typhimurium

5.2.2.1 Bacterial strain and seed culture

Salmonella enterica subspecies enterica serovar Typhimurium ATCC 14028 used in the antimicrobial activity assays was purchased from André Tosello Foundation - Tropical Culture Collection, Brazil. The strain was reactivated in Brain-heart infusion (BHI, Kasvi®, Brazil) broth (pH 7.4) for 18 h at 37 °C, and stored in cryoprotectant at -24 °C for further use. Seed culture was prepared by transferring 100 µL of the stock culture into BHI and incubated with the same methodology described for reactivation (PAGANINI *et al.*, 2022).

5.2.2.2 Preparation of PFB solutions at pH 4.5, 5.5 and 6.5

The fermentation broth was adjusted with 1 M HCl to pHs 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5 using pH meter (Kasvi®, K39-2014B, Brazil), that corresponding to an average pH of the chicken gastrointestinal tract (GIT) (COX *et al.*, 1972; MABELEBELE *et al.*, 2013; RODRIGUES; CHOCT, 2018). Then, the concentrations of the organic acids in the PFB adjusted to pHs (4.5, 5.5, and 6.5) were analyzed by HPLC using the same conditions cited in 5.2.1.4. Solutions were stored at -24 °C for further analysis of their inhibitory effect.

5.2.2.3 Determination of the Minimal Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) of PFB

In this study, the PFB doses were determined based on the concentration of PA present in the broth. Different concentrations of PFB at varying pH levels: pH 4.5 (2, 3.5, 4, 7, 10, 20, and 22 mM), pH 5.5 (15, 25, 30, 40, 50, 60, and 100 mM), and pH 6.5 (20, 50, 70, 90, and 92 mM) based on previous tests. The aim of the experiment was to determine the MIC and MBC of PFB on *S*. Typhimurium. The tests were performed in 16 mL tubes with work volume of 10 mL.

The culture media consisted of PFB with pH adjusted to the desired values, sterile BHI medium adjusted to pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5 with 1 M HCI, and S. Typhimurium suspension ($\pm 10^6$ CFU mL⁻¹).

Control treatments were evaluated at three pH levels, with broth and inoculum, without the addition of PFB. Tubes were incubated at 37°C for 48 h and samples were collected at predetermined times. MIC was defined as the lowest concentration of antimicrobial compound (PFB) at which growth inhibition of *S*. Typhimurium was observed. The CBM was determined as the lowest concentration of PFB that had a reduction of 3 logarithmic cycles in 48 h.

5.2.2.4 PFB undissociated minimum inhibitory concentration

The MIC of undissociated PFB at pHs (4.5, 5.5, and 6.5) for *S*. Typhimurium were calculated based on Eq. (5.1) (WEMMENHOVE *et al.*, 2016).

$$[HA] = \frac{[PFB]}{1 + 10^{pH - pKa}} \tag{5.1}$$

in which, [*HA*] is the undissociated concentration of PA and AA present in PFB, *Ka* is the acid dissociation constant ($pKa = -\log Ka$), in which pKa PA = 4.89, and pKa AA = 4.76.

5.2.2.5 Determination of the fractional inhibitory concentration (FIC)

In addition, the MIC of PA and AA were individually evaluated in previous studies (please see chapter 2 and 3 of this thesis). MIC of PA and AA in PFB compounds were converted to fractional inhibitory concentrations (FIC) according to equations (5.2) and (5.3) (LÓPEZ-MALO *et al.*, 2007).

$$FIC_{PA} = \frac{MIC_{PA} \text{ in the PFB}}{\text{individual MIC}_{PA}}$$
(5.2)

$$FIC_{AA} = \frac{MIC_{AA} \text{ in the PFB}}{\text{individual MIC}_{AA}}$$
(5.3)

The fractional inhibitory concentration index (FIC_{index}) was calculated to evaluate the synergy between the OA in PFB from the FIC values of each acid, as described by Eq. (5.4).

$$FIC_{Index} = FIC_{PA} + FIC_{AA}$$
(5.4)

If the interaction between PA and AA is additive, the $FIC_{index} = 1$ (Eq. 5.4). When the relationship is synergistic, the sum of the $FIC_{index} < 1$. If it is antagonistic, the $FIC_{index} > 1$ (LEÓN PELÁEZ *et al.*, 2012).

5.2.3 Evaluation of the behavior of S. Typhimurium in petrochemical-based OA

Two commercial OA products from petrochemical sources, kindly donated by an additive company of Santa Catarina, Brazil, were evaluated. The products are currently used in raw materials and feed to control *Salmonella*, fungi, and other bacteria often found in the poultry industry. Mixtures of OA were named MOA1 (liquid formulation) and MOA2 (powder formulation). There is no information about the OA concentrations in the mixture, but it is known to contain PA, AA, SA, LA. The experiments were performed in 16 mL tubes with a final volume of 10 mL containing BHI medium adjusted to pHs (4.5, 5.5, and 6.5) with 1 M HCl, suspension of ~10⁶ CFU mL⁻¹ *S*. Typhimurium, 2000 ppm (v/v) of MOA1 and 1500 ppm (w/v) of MOA2, evaluated separately at each pH, according to manufacturer recommendation. The tubes were incubated following the same methodology mentioned in 5.2.2.3.

5.2.4 Microbial enumeration

Samples with 150 μ L were collected and serially diluted in 2 mL microtubes with sterile 0.1% (w/v) peptone water. Afterward, 1 mL of the appropriate dilutions were seeded onto BHI Agar using the pour-plating method. The plates were incubated at 37 °C / 24h. Only the plates that presented counts between 30 and 300 colonies were used for the count, expressed in log N CFU mL⁻¹.

5.2.5 Primary and secondary mathematical modeling

Baranyi and Roberts (BAR) model given by the Eqs. (5.5), (5.6), (5.7) (BARANYI *et al.*, 1995; BARANYI; ROBERTS, 1994), is commonly used as a primary model to describe the growth of microorganisms as a function of time. In which, *y* is the logarithm of the bacterial concentration (CFU mL⁻¹) after the time interval *t*, y_0 is the logarithm of the initial bacterial concentration (CFU mL⁻¹), y_{max} is the logarithm of maximum population (CFU mL⁻¹), μ_{max} is the maximum specific growth rate (h⁻¹), *F*(t) is the adjustment function, λ is the *lag* phase duration (h), h_0 represents the physiological state of the cell. The BAR model was fitted to the growth data of *S*. Typhimurium in the different antimicrobials and pH.

$$\log y(t) = \log y_0 + \mu_{max} \frac{F(t)}{\ln(10)} - \frac{1}{m\ln(10)} \ln\left(1 + \frac{e^{m\mu_{max}F(t)} - 1}{10^{m(\log y_{max} - \log y_0)}}\right)$$
(5.5)
$$F(t) = t + \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{max}}\right) \ln\left(e^{(-\mu_{max}t)} + e^{(-h_0)} - e^{[(-\mu_{max}t) - h_0]}\right)$$
(5.6)

$$h_0 = \mu_{max} \quad \lambda \tag{5.7}$$

The Weibull model Eq. (5.8) was fitted to the *S*. Typhimurium inactivation data. In which, *N* is the logarithm of the concentration at time *t*, *N*₀ is the logarithm of the initial microbial concentration, α represents the shape parameter (dimensionless) and β is the scale factor (h) (MAFART *et al.*, 2001).

$$Log\left(\frac{N}{N_0}\right) = -\left(\frac{t}{\beta}\right)^{\alpha}$$
(5.8)

The Weibull model was used to determine the time to promote 3 decimal reductions (*t*3*DR*) of *S*. Typhimurium, $Log\left(\frac{N}{N_0}\right) = 3$, for each PFB concentration evaluated at each pH. The *t*3*DR* values obtained at each PFB concentration were used to perform secondary modeling. The selected secondary model was used to estimate by extrapolation the concentration of PFB required to promote 3 log *S*. Typhimurium reductions in 3 h. According to Rodrigues and Choct (2018), 3 h is the approximate intestinal transit time for chickens.

The PFB concentrations predicted by the secondary model to reduce 3 log *S*. Typhimurium were validated experimentally.

The secondary exponential and square Root models (RATKOWSKY *et al.*, 1982) Eqs. (5.9) and (5.10), respectively, were used to describe the effect of PFB concentration on the scale factor parameter (β) of the primary Weibull model, and on the maximum specific growth rate (μ_{max}) of the BAR model. In which, *p* represents the primary model parameter evaluated, *a* (1/h), *b* (1/mM), and *c* (1/(mM \sqrt{h})) are fitting parameters, *PFB* is the acid mixture concentration calculated based on the PA concentration (mM), and *PFB*_{lim} is the theoretical minimum concentration for no growth of S. Typhimurium.

$$p = a. \exp(b[PFB]) \tag{5.9}$$

$$\sqrt{p} = c.\left(PFB - [PFB]_{lim}\right) \tag{5.10}$$

The fitting procedure for the primary and secondary models was performed using Matlab R2016a (MathWorks®, Natick, USA) and Office Excel 2016 (Microsoft®, USA), respectively.

5.2.6 Statistical analysis

All growth, inactivation, and fermentation experiments were performed at least twice. To describe the behavior of the strain, models were fitted to the data separately for each replicate. The means and ± standard deviations of the experimental data were analyzed using statistical tools in Microsoft Office Excel® (2016) for Windows 10. The quality of the mathematical model fits was evaluated using the statistical indices, coefficient of determination (R^2) Eq. (5.11), the root-mean-square error (*RMSE*) Eq. (5.12), and the and Accuracy factor (A_f) Eq. (5.13) (ROSS, 1996). *RMSE* = 0, R^2 values, and A_f = 1 indicate a perfect fit between the observed data and the data predicted by the models.

$$R^{2} = 1 - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (pred_{i} - obs_{i})^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (obs_{i} - average)^{2}}$$
(5.11)

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (pred_i - obs_i)^2}{n-x}}$$
(5.12)

$$A_f = 10^{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{\log(pred_i/obs_i)}{n}\right)}$$
(5.13)

In which $pred_i$ are the *i*th predicted data by the models, obs_i are the *i*th experimental observations, *x* is the number of parameters in the model, *n* is the amount of *i* observations.

5.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.3.1 Pre-inoculum and inoculum for fermentation

The growth performance of the pre-inoculum and inoculum was evaluated by linearly fitting the Ln (*Abs/Abs*₀) profiles (Figure 5.1). The solid line represents the linear fit, and the maximum specific growth rate (μ_{max}) was determined by the angular coefficient observed in the equations presented in Table S5.6. It can be seen that the 48 h incubation pre-inoculum starts exponential growth after 24h (Figure 5.1A), with $\mu_{max} = 0.032 \text{ h}^{-1}$ and a final cell concentration (X_f) of 1.45 g L⁻¹ (Table S5.6). Inoculum grown from 48h pre-inoculum showed higher $\mu_{max} = 0.055 \text{ h}^{-1}$ than inoculum grown under 24h pre-inoculum ($\mu_{max} = 0.030 \text{ h}^{-1}$).

Figure 5.1 - Ln (Abs/Abs_0) for two sets of samples. The first set (A) includes 24h (\bullet), and 48h (\bullet) pre-inoculum culture. The second set (B) includes 24h (\bullet) and 48h (\bullet) inoculum cultures. (C) and (D) represent the profile of sugars, products and cells of the pre-inoculum and inoculum of *P. freudenreichii*, respectively. PA (\bullet), AA (\blacktriangle), SA (\lor), glucose (\bullet), Glycerol (\blacksquare), DCW (\bullet). The solid lines (-) represent the linear fit.



Therefore, the incubation time of 48 h was chosen for the pre-inoculum and the time of 24 h was chosen for the inoculum cultivation.

Since the culture was carried out from the stock culture, it was observed that the strain only consumed glycerol in the pre-inoculum, which was used as a cryoprotectant (Figure 5.1C). For the pre-inoculum and inoculum, the final PA concentrations were approximately 1.4 and 2.4 g L⁻¹, respectively.

5.3.2 Batch production of PA

In propionic fermentation PA, AA, and SA are produced, which promote the reduction of pH in the medium and bacterial inhibition (DISHISHA *et al.*, 2015). To increase higher cell production, 15 g L⁻¹ yeast extract were added to the medium. The amino acids present in the nitrogen source can act as a buffer and stabilize the pH of the fermentation, decreasing the inhibitory effect on cells, and also reducing the addition of NaOH to keep the pH at 6.8 (GUAN *et al.*, 2013; PIWOWAREK *et al.*, 2019).

Figure 5.2 presents the kinetic profile of microbial PA production, and solid lines represent a polynomial fit to the experimental data to calculate the rates of substrate consumption, PA and cell production. The equations can be seen in Table S5.7.

Figure 5.2 - PA production by *P. freudenreichii*. PA (\blacksquare), AA (\blacktriangle), SA (\blacktriangledown), glucose (①), DCW (\blacksquare). The solid lines represent polynomial fits (A). Specific growth rates ($\mu_X \dots$), substrate consumption ($\mu_S -$) and PA production ($\mu_{PA} -$ --) for propionic fermentation (B).



The highest levels of product formation, complete glucose consumption, and cell production were observed at 144 h of fermentation (Figure 5.2A). Similar behavior was observed in the study by Wang e Yang (2013). A maximum PA production of 12.14 g L⁻¹ and a $Q_{PA} = 0.08$ g L⁻¹ h⁻¹ were observed in 144 h of fermentation, considered low values but consistent with the process operations used in this study (Table 5.2). Consumption of 100% glucose provided an PA: AA ratio of 2.92:1 (g g⁻¹), higher than the stoichiometric ratio of (2:1), according to the following stoichiometric equation (Eq. 5.14).

$$1.5 C_6 H_{12} O_6 \rightarrow 2 C H_3 C H_2 C O O H + C H_3 C O O H + C O_2 + H_2 O$$
(5.14)

P. freudenreichii presented μ_{max} = 0.050 h⁻¹ and after 48 h of cultivation, the specific growth rate decreased (Figure 5.2B). The profiles of the specific growth rates and product formation present a standard kinetics of PA production associated with growth (Figure 5.2B).

The graphs of the correlation between carbon produced and carbon consumed to determine the yields, the linear equations obtained by fitting to the experimental data, and the coefficients of determination (R^2) are presented in Figure S5.8 and Table S5.9.

Final concentration (g L ⁻¹) Yie		Yield	Yield (g g ⁻¹)		uctivity (g L ⁻¹ h ⁻¹)
ΡΑ	12.14 ± 1.39	Y _{PA/S}	0.36 ± 0.02	Q_{PA}	0.08 ± 0.01
AA	4.15 ± 0.42	$Y_{AA/S}$	0.12 ± 0.00	Q_{AA}	0.03 ± 0.01
SA	1.42 ± 0.24	Y _{SA/S}	0.03 ± 0.01	Q_{SA}	0.008 ± 0.00
X_f	7.90 ± 0.21	$Y_{X/S}$	0.26 ± 0.00	Q_X	0.05 ± 0.00

Table 5.2 - Kinetic parameters of PA fermentation by P. freudenreichii

 X_f represents the final cell concentration, S is the substrate, Q is the volumetric productivity.

The results obtained in this study (Table 5.2) demonstrate satisfactory correspondence with the findings reported by Piwowarek et al. (2019). Their study, which evaluated PA production by *P. freudenreichii* using 25 g L⁻¹ pure sugars (glucose, fructose, and sucrose) under comparable operational conditions, yielded values of 0.38 g_{PA} gs⁻¹, 0.16 g_{AA} gs⁻¹, 0.065 g L⁻¹ h⁻¹ and 2.4:1 for $Y_{PA/S}$, $Y_{AA/S}$, Q_{PA} , and PA:AA ratio, respectively. Furthermore, the global conversion efficiency of the substrate to PA in this study was 65.4%.

5.3.3 Inhibitory action of PFB in *S.* Typhimurium: MIC, MBC and fractional inhibitory concentration index (FIC_{index})

Studies on the effect of petroleum-based OA on *S*. Typhimurium have been conducted for a long time (BECKER; WITTMANN, 2015). However, this study focused on evaluating the effect of the OA compound produced by *P*. *freudenreichii*, which is considered to be a natural product.

The PFB was adjusted to pHs (4.5, 5.5, and 6.5) with 1 M HCl, then used for inhibition of *S*. Typhimurium. The concentration of each acid in the broth after adjustment is shown in Table 5.3.

	PFB	
PA (g L ⁻¹)	AA (g L ⁻¹)	SA (g L ⁻¹)
8.22 ± 0.4	2.82 ± 0.4	1.24 ± 0.3
12.6 ± 0.2	4.2 ± 0.08	1.64 ± 0.2
11.9 ± 0.3	3.9 ± 0.09	1.5 ± 0.2
	PA (g L ⁻¹) 8.22 ± 0.4 12.6 ± 0.2 11.9 ± 0.3	PFBPA (g L ⁻¹)AA (g L ⁻¹) 8.22 ± 0.4 2.82 ± 0.4 12.6 ± 0.2 4.2 ± 0.08 11.9 ± 0.3 3.9 ± 0.09

Table 5.3 - Concentration of organic acids present in PFB at pHs (4.5, 5.5 and 6.5).

The PFB concentrations evaluated were calculated based on the concentration of PA present in the broth. MIC was determined as the lowest concentration of PFB at each pH that inhibited *S*. Typhimurium growth within 48 h. MBC was determined as the lowest concentration of PFB compound that could reduce 3 log CFU mL⁻¹ of *S*. Typhimurium concentration in 48 h (LEVISON, 2004; PHILLIPS *et al.*, 1998).

To calculate the undissociated concentrations of PA and AA in PFB, pH was measured at the end of the 48 h experiment (data not shown).

Figure 5.3 present the behavior of *S*. Typhimurium exposed to PFB at the pH evaluated. The MIC of PFB at pH 4.5 for *S*. Typhimurium was 3.5 mM, with 1.48 mM AA present in the compound, as shown in Figure 5.3A and Table 5.4. According to Eq. 5.1, pH values measured at the end of 48 h and the pKa PA = 4.89 and pKa AA = 4.76 values, the MIC of PA and AA from PFB at pH 4.5 in the undissociated form were 2.49 mM and 0.95 mM, respectively.

Figure 5.3 - Growth and inactivation curves of S. Typhimurium treated with **PFB at pH 4.5 (A)** with 2 mM PA + 0.85 mM AA + 0.19 mM SA (\bullet), 3.5 mM PA + 1.48 AA + 0.33 SA (\blacktriangle), 4 mM PA +1.69 mM AA + 0.38 mM SA (\blacktriangledown), 7 mM PA + 2.96 mM AA + 0.66 mM SA (\bullet), 10 mM PA + 4.23 mM AA + 0.95 mM SA (\triangleleft), 20 mM PA + 8.46 mM AA + 1.89 mM SA (\triangleright), 22 mM PA + 9.31 mM AA + 2.08 mM SA (\square); **PFB at pH 5.5 (B)** containing 15 mM PA + 6.4 mM AA + 1.3 mM SA (\bullet), 25 mM PA + 10.6 mM AA + 2.1 mM SA (\bigstar), 30 mM PA + 12.7 mM AA + 2.5 mM SA (\blacktriangledown), 40 mM PA + 16.9 mM AA + 3.4 mM SA (\blacklozenge), 50 mM PA + 21.2 mM AA + 4.2 mM SA (\triangleleft), 60 mM PA + 25.4 mM AA + 5 mM SA (\triangleright), 100 mM PA + 42.4 mM AA + 8.4 mM SA (\square); and **PFB at pH 6.5** (C) with 20 mM PA + 8.4 mM AA + 1.7 mM SA (\triangleright),50 mM PA + 21.1 mM AA + 4.1 mM SA (\triangleleft), 70 mM PA + 29.6 mM AA + 5.8 mM SA (\blacktriangle), 90 mM PA + 38 mM AA + 7.4 mM SA (\blacktriangledown), 92 mM PA + 38.8 mM AA + 7.6 mM SA (\blacklozenge). All Control assays are represented by the symbol (\blacksquare). The dash-dot lines represent the BAR model fit and the solid lines represent the Weibull model fit for each condition.



In Figure 5.3B and Table 5.4, it can be seen that the MIC of PFB for *S*. Typhimurium at pH 5.5 was 30 mM, containing 12.7 mM AA in the mixture. PA and AA

undissociated concentrations at pH 5.5 were 5.91 mM and 1.95 mM, respectively (Eq. 5.1).

The MBC of PFB for *S*. Typhimurium at pH 4.5 and 5.5 were 10 mM and 100 mM, respectively (Table 5.4). It was observed that the lower the pH, the lower the bactericidal concentration since the pH of the medium favors the permeability of the acid in its protonated form.

It was impossible to determine the MIC of PFB at pH 6.5 because the final concentration of PA in the fermentation broth was insufficient to inhibit growth.

To determine the type of interaction between PA and AA of the PFB at pH 4.5 and 5.5 to inhibit *S*. Typhimurium growth, the individual MIC of PA and AA had to be calculated previously. These values were reported in previous chapters of the present work (chapters 2 and 3), which corresponded at 7 mM to individual MIC_{PA} and 4 mM to individual MIC_{AA} at pH 4.5. At pH 5.5, the individual MIC_{PA} and MIC_{AA} values were 15 mM and 10 mM, respectively. Then FIC_{PA} and FIC_{AA} (Eqs. 5.2 and 5.3) were calculated to determine the FIC_{index} (Eq. 5.4).

Propionic acid bacteria (PAB), besides producing PA as primary product, AA and SA as secondary products, are also known to produce bacteriocins such as propionicin T1, propionicin F and protease-activated antimicrobial peptide (PAMP) (GUAN *et al.*, 2015). However, most bacteriocins have a limited spectrum, inhibiting only bacteria related to their producer, such as other *Propionibacterium* (FAYE *et al.*, 2000). Propionicin F, produced by *P. freudenreichii*, has intraspecific bactericidal activity, i.e. it inactivates only *P. freudenreichii* strains (BREDE *et al.*, 2004). In addition, low levels of bacteriocins are produced when cells are cultured in a liquid medium, limiting their practical utility (HOLO *et al.*, 2002). Therefore, the inhibition of *S*. Typhimurium observed in the present study was considered only by the contact of the pathogen with the OA present in PFB.

The combined antimicrobial action of organic acids present in PFB was evaluated in this study. At pH 4.5, the combination of PA and AA of PFB exhibited synergistic activity, with $FIC_{index} = 0.87$ (Eq. 5.4). It means that the PA and AA concentrations of PFB were 2-fold and 2.7-fold lower in inhibiting *S*. Typhimurium compared to the individual MIC_{PA} and MIC_{AA} values (Table 5.4). Showing that at pH 4.5, the interaction between the acids increased the inhibition effect, with 71% PA and 64.2% AA in the undissociated form.

At pH 5.5, the interaction between the PA and AA of PFB had an antagonistic effect, with FIC_{index} = 3.27 (Eq. 5.4). This indicates that one of the acids has interfered with the action of the other. This effect can occur through several mechanisms, such as changes in the permeability of the cell membrane (BAE; LEE, 2015). At pH 5.5 there is more salt than acid in the medium, which promotes an increase in membrane polarity, decreasing the diffusion of the acids into the cytoplasm. Therefore, a higher concentration of each acid in the PFB than the concentration of the individual components is required to obtain an inhibitory effect on *S*. Typhimurium. Despite the lack of synergy between PA and AA in PFB at pH 5.5, the MIC of undissociated PA in PFB (19.7%) was lower than its individual MIC (23.6%, see chapter 3). On the other hand, the MIC in the undissociated form of AA showed no difference in percentage between PFB and individual (15.4%, see chapter 4). It is possible that PA interfered with the mixture's inhibitory effect, as a higher concentration of PA would be needed to achieve the same individual percentage in undissociated form.

In this study, the MIC of SA was not determined due to the low concentration of the acid present in PFB.

PFB inhibitory concentrations can be effective in various regions of the digestive tract of chickens. These digestive regions are divided into the crop, proventriculus and gizzards, intestines, and cecum (SVIHUS, 2014). At the crop, the region immediately following the neck, the average pH is 4.5, depending on the chicken's diet (RODRIGUES; CHOCT, 2018). Within the proventriculus and gizzard, the pH is about 3 to 5. In the intestines and cecum, the pH ranges from 5.7 to 6.5 (MENEZES-BLACKBURN; GABLER; GREINER, 2015; WALES; ALLEN; DAVIES, 2010). Therefore, the MIC of the PFB determined here is worth analyzing *in vivo*.

Table 5.4 - Parameters (± standard deviation) and statistical indices by fitting the BAR and Weibull models to the experimental data of the growth and inactivation curves of *S*. Typhimurium in BHI medium with PFB at pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5.

(to be continued)

pH 4.5										
PA (mM)	Experimental value	Mode h ₀	BAR el parameters fixed = 8.45	Weibull Model parameters α fixed = 1.71	Experimental value	Sta	Statistical indices		Log Reduction	
()	${m y_0}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	Υ max (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	μ _{max} (h ⁻¹)	β (h)	$m{N}_{m{0}}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	<i>R</i> ²	RMSE (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	A_f	(48 h)	
Control	5.84 ± 0.05	8.28 ± 0.05	0.51 ± 0.09			0.998	0.055	1.004		
2	5.91 ± 0.01	7.74 ± 0.01	0.44 ± 0.02			0.994	0.069	1.007		
3.5	6.14 ± 0.01	0.63 ± 0.11	0.06 ± 0.00			0.951	0.025	1.003		
3.5				69.78 ± 3.81	6.12 ± 0.01	0.960	0.023	1.003	0.02	
4				46.51 ± 0.07	5.96 ± 0.04	0.952	0.09	1.005	1.18	
7				35.26 ± 0.76	5.91 ± 0.04	0.985	0.084	1.012	1.83	
10				23.82 ± 0.05	5.85 ± 0.06	0.984	0.170	1.030	3.68	
20				14.36 ± 0.03	5.85 ± 0.03	0.976	0.156	1.023	2.81	
22				12.42 ± 0.09	6.07 ± 0.04	0.987	0.155	1.020	3.49	
				рН 5.5						
	Exporimontal		Baranyi	Weibull	Exporimontal					
DED	value	Mode	el parameters	Model parameters	value	Sta	tistical indice	es	Log	
	V ulue			\cdots fine $d = 0.44$	Vulue			Re		
(mM)		h_0	fixed = 7.05	α fixed = 2.14					Reduction	
(mM)	<i>y</i> ₀	<u>h</u> 0 У _{тах}	$\frac{fixed = 7.05}{\mu_{max}}$	$\alpha \text{ fixed} = 2.14$ β	N ₀	R ²	RMSE	Ac	(48 h)	
(mM)	y ₀ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	h_0 y_{max} (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	fixed = 7.05 μ _{max}	β (h)	$m{N_0}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	<i>R</i> ²	RMSE (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	A _f	(48 h)	
(mM)	y_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 6.03 ± 0.04	<u>h</u> 0 <i>y</i> max (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 8.35 ± 0.00	fixed = 7.05 μ_{max} 0.78 ± 0.03	β (h)	$m{N_0}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	R ² 0.998	<i>RMSE</i> (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.044	<i>A_f</i> 1.003	(48 h)	
(mM) Control	$\frac{y_0}{(\text{Log CFU mL}^{-1})}$ 6.03 ± 0.04 6.00 ± 0.00	$\frac{h_0}{y_{max}}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 8.35 ± 0.00 8.33 ± 0.04	$\frac{fixed = 7.05}{\mu_{max}}$ 0.78 ± 0.03 0.69 ± 0.03	$\frac{\beta}{(h)}$	$m{N_0}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	R ² 0.998 0.997	<i>RMSE</i> (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.044 0.063	<i>A_f</i> 1.003 1.006	(48 h)	
(mM) Control	$\begin{array}{c} y_{0} \\ (\text{Log CFU mL}^{-1}) \\ 6.03 \pm 0.04 \\ 6.00 \pm 0.00 \\ 6.06 \pm 0.01 \end{array}$	$\frac{h_0}{y_{max}}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 8.35 ± 0.00 8.33 ± 0.04 8.01 ± 0.04	fixed = 7.05 μ_{max} 0.78 ± 0.03 0.69 ± 0.03 0.30 ± (h ⁻¹)0.00	$\frac{\alpha \text{ fixed} = 2.14}{\beta}$ (h)	$m{N_0}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	R ² 0.998 0.997 0.996	<i>RMSE</i> (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.044 0.063 0.058	<i>A_f</i> 1.003 1.006 1.007	(48 h)	
(mM) Control 15 25 30	$\begin{array}{c} y_{0} \\ \hline \\ (\text{Log CFU mL}^{-1}) \\ 6.03 \pm 0.04 \\ 6.00 \pm 0.00 \\ 6.06 \pm 0.01 \\ 6.04 \pm 0.10 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} h_{0} \\ y_{max} \\ \hline \\ (\text{Log CFU mL}^{-1}) \\ 8.35 \pm 0.00 \\ 8.33 \pm 0.04 \\ 8.01 \pm 0.04 \\ 3.25 \pm 0.91 \end{array}$	$fixed = 7.05$ μ_{max} 0.78 ± 0.03 0.69 ± 0.03 $0.30 \pm (h^{-1})0.00$ 0.05 ± 0.02	α fixed = 2.14 β (h)	Ν ₀ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	R ² 0.998 0.997 0.996 0.615	<i>RMSE</i> (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.044 0.063 0.058 0.050	<i>A_f</i> 1.003 1.006 1.007 1.005	(48 h)	
(mM) Control 15 25 30 30	y_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 6.03 ± 0.04 6.00 ± 0.00 6.06 ± 0.01 6.04 ± 0.10	$\begin{array}{r} h_{0} \\ y_{max} \\ \hline \\ (\text{Log CFU mL}^{-1}) \\ 8.35 \pm 0.00 \\ 8.33 \pm 0.04 \\ 8.01 \pm 0.04 \\ 3.25 \pm 0.91 \end{array}$	fixed = 7.05 μ_{max} 0.78 ± 0.03 0.69 ± 0.03 0.30 ± (h ⁻¹)0.00 0.05 ± 0.02	α fixed = 2.14 β (h) 103.6 ± 11.5	N ₀ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 5.99 ± 0.11	R ² 0.998 0.997 0.996 0.615 0.690	<i>RMSE</i> (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.044 0.063 0.058 0.050 0.048	<i>A_f</i> 1.003 1.006 1.007 1.005 1.007	(48 h)	
(mM) Control 15 25 30 30 40	$\begin{array}{c} y_{0} \\ \hline (\text{Log CFU mL}^{-1}) \\ 6.03 \pm 0.04 \\ 6.00 \pm 0.00 \\ 6.06 \pm 0.01 \\ 6.04 \pm 0.10 \end{array}$	$\frac{h_0}{y_{max}}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 8.35 ± 0.00 8.33 ± 0.04 8.01 ± 0.04 3.25 ± 0.91	fixed = 7.05 μ_{max} 0.78 ± 0.03 0.69 ± 0.03 0.30 ± (h ⁻¹)0.00 0.05 ± 0.02	α fixed = 2.14 β (h) 103.6 ± 11.5 66.46 ± 1.65	N_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 5.99 ± 0.11 6.05 ± 0.07	R ² 0.998 0.997 0.996 0.615 0.690 0.924	<i>RMSE</i> (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.044 0.063 0.058 0.050 0.048 0.053	<i>A_f</i> 1.003 1.006 1.007 1.005 1.007 1.006	0.12 0.55	
(mM) Control 15 25 30 30 40 50	$\begin{array}{c} y_{0} \\ (\text{Log CFU mL}^{-1}) \\ 6.03 \pm 0.04 \\ 6.00 \pm 0.00 \\ 6.06 \pm 0.01 \\ 6.04 \pm 0.10 \end{array}$	$\frac{h_0}{y_{max}}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 8.35 ± 0.00 8.33 ± 0.04 8.01 ± 0.04 3.25 ± 0.91	fixed = 7.05 μ_{max} 0.78 ± 0.03 0.69 ± 0.03 0.30 ± (h ⁻¹)0.00 0.05 ± 0.02	$\begin{array}{c c} \alpha \text{ fixed} = 2.14 \\ \hline \beta \\ (h) \\ \hline 103.6 \pm 11.5 \\ 66.46 \pm 1.65 \\ 50.08 \pm 4.94 \end{array}$	N_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 5.99 ± 0.11 6.05 ± 0.07 6.00 ± 0.05	R ² 0.998 0.997 0.996 0.615 0.690 0.924 0.982	<i>RMSE</i> (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.044 0.063 0.058 0.050 0.048 0.053 0.044	A _f 1.003 1.006 1.007 1.005 1.007 1.006 1.006	0.12 0.55 0.92	
(mM) Control 15 25 30 30 40 50 60	y_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 6.03 ± 0.04 6.00 ± 0.00 6.06 ± 0.01 6.04 ± 0.10	$\frac{h_0}{y_{max}}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 8.35 ± 0.00 8.33 ± 0.04 8.01 ± 0.04 3.25 ± 0.91	$\frac{\text{fixed} = 7.05}{\mu_{max}}$ 0.78 ± 0.03 0.69 ± 0.03 $0.30 \pm (h^{-1})0.00$ 0.05 ± 0.02	β (h) 103.6 ± 11.5 66.46 ± 1.65 50.08 ± 4.94 38.14 ± 1.01	N_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 5.99 ± 0.11 6.05 ± 0.07 6.00 ± 0.05 6.03 ± 0.00	R ² 0.998 0.997 0.996 0.615 0.690 0.924 0.982 0.983	<i>RMSE</i> (Log CFU mL ⁻¹) 0.044 0.063 0.058 0.050 0.048 0.053 0.044 0.080	A _f 1.003 1.006 1.007 1.005 1.007 1.006 1.006 1.009	0.12 0.55 0.92 1.73	

Table 5.4 - Parameters (± standard deviation) and statistical indices by fitting the BAR and Weibull models to the experimental data of the growth and inactivation curves of *S*. Typhimurium in BHI medium with PFB at pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5.

(conclusion)

			рН 6.5						
555	Experimental value		BAR Model parameters		5	Statistical indic	ces		
PFB (mM)		h_0 fixed = 4.28							
(11111)	<i>y</i> ₀	y_{max}	μ_{max}	λ	D ²	RMSE	4 .		
	(Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	(Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	(h ⁻¹)	(h)	Λ	(Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	n _f		
Control	6.21 ± 0.00	8.92 ± 0.06	0.84 ± 0.32	1.44 ± 0.81	0.978	0.160	1.013		
20	6.06 ± 0.04	8.72 ± 0.05	0.78 ± 0.07	5.54 ± 0.49	0.988	0.130	1.012		
50	5.97 ± 0.03	8.51 ± 0.04	0.57 ± 0.01	7.49 ± 0.09	0.993	0.104	1.009		
70	6.07 ± 0.03	9.03 ± 0.04	0.40 ± 0.00	10.8 ± 0.07	0.999	0.040	1.004		
90	6.14 ± 0.03	8.24 ± 0.00	0.39 ± 0.01	10.9 ± 0.35	0.996	0.066	1.007		
92	6.07 ± 0.01	8.22 ± 0.01	0.40 ± 0.01	10.7 ± 0.36	0.998	0.047	1.005		

 β is the scale factor, N_0 is the initial cell concentration fixed in the model, α is the mean of the shape factor estimated over the inactivation experiments. y_0 is the initial cell concentration fixed in the model, y_{max} is the maximum cell growth, μ_{max} is the maximum specific growth rate, h_0 fixed is the arithmetic mean of the experiments.

5.3.4 Evaluation of petrochemical-based OA on S. Typhimurium

To compare PFB results, the behavior of S. Typhimurium in contact with two commercial petroleum-based OA products was analyzed, MOA1 (Figure 5.4A) e MOA2 (Figure 5.5B). Both the products were evaluated at pH (4.5, 5.5, 6.5) according to the doses recommended by the manufacturer.

Figure 5.4 - Kinetics of S. Typhimurium in BHI medium adjusted to pH (4.5, 5.5, 6.5) with 1M HCI, containing a mixture of synthetic OA MOA 1(A) and MOA2 (B). The solid and dashed lines represent the fits of the Weibull and BAR models, respectively, to the experimental data.



The OA mixtures of MOA1 and MOA2 presented better inactivation efficiency of *S*. Typhimurium at pH 4.5 (Figure 5.5). This was expected, since these products are formed from weak OA, which have low ionization and therefore have better antimicrobial activity at pH equal to or lower than pKa of each acid (DIBNER; BUTTIN, 2002; KHAN; IQBAL, 2016). No inhibition of the pathogen was observed at pH 6.5.

The antimicrobial MOA1 at pH 4.5 and pH 5.5 (Figure 5.4A) was able to reduce 2.75 and 2.33 log CFU mL⁻¹ of S. Typhimurium at 14 h and 36 h of contact, respectively (Table S5.9).

In this study, reductions of 2.81 and 3.49 log CFU mL⁻¹ of S. Typhimurium were observed in 24 h of contact with 20 and 22 mM PFB at pH 4.5, respectively (Table 5.7). These concentrations are equivalent to 1482 ppm and 1628 ppm and are values lower than the recommended use indicated by the producers of MOA1 (2000 ppm) or MOA2 (1500 ppm). Proving that PFB at pH 4.5 has satisfactory results, it can be a promising product for the inhibition of *S*. Typhimurium in the poultry industry.

5.3.5 Primary and secondary mathematical modeling

The growth and inactivation data obtained for *S*. Typhimurium were fitted to BAR (Eqs. 5.5, 5.6, 5.7) and Weibull (Eq. 5.8) models (Figure 5.3). All experiments started with an *S*. Typhimurium concentration of approximately 6 log (CFU mL⁻¹). The initial bacterial concentration values (y_0 , N_0) were fixed in the BAR and Weibull models, respectively.

The mathematical modeling was carried out in two phases. In the first, the parameters (y_{max} , μ_{max} , λ , h_0) of the BAR model and (β , a,) of the Weibull model were estimated. Then, the arithmetic means of the h_0 values of the growth curves, except for the controls, and the mean of α were fixed in the models. The average h_0 values set in the BAR model were 8.45 ± 0.41, 7.05 ± 1.72, and 4.28 ± 0.58, respectively for pHs 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5. The average α values were 1.71 ± 0.33, 2.14 ± 0.48, for pHs 4.5 and 5.5. Then, the second modeling step was run to estimate the parameters y_{max} , μ_{max} , λ , of the BAR model and the parameters β of the Weibull model.

The inactivation curves observed in Figure 5.3A and 5.3B, showed a concave shape with $\alpha > 1$ (Table 5.7), meaning that the cells initially die slowly forming a shoulder, and then the death rate increases, indicating that the cells cannot withstand the treatment (VAN BOEKEL, 2002).

At pH 6.5, inactivation of S. Typhimurium by PFB could not be observed, since PA bioproduction was not high enough to promote an inhibitory effect. However, with increasing PFB concentration in the BHI medium, the longer was the *lag* phase time (Table 5.7).

The quality of the models' fit was analyzed considering the statistical indexes presented in Tables 5.7.

According to the *RMSE*, R^2 and A_f values (Tables 5.7), the correlation between the experimentally observed values and those predicted by the models was high, since the *RMSE* values were close to zero and the accuracy and R^2 values were approximately 1. This indicates a good fit of the models to the data since the data predicted by the models did not differ much from the observed data.

In this study, mathematical BAR and Weibull models were carried out for *S*. Typhimurium data in 3.5 mM PFB at pH 4.5 and in 30 mM at pH 5.5 (Tables 5.7). In the BAR model, the μ_{max} data showed a deceleration of growth and the y_{max} values

showed a dying trend. These concentrations indicate the limit between the growth and no growth of the pathogen.

Secondary models are used to determine the effect of different environmental factors on the parameters of the primary models (TARLAK; OZDEMIR; MELIKOGLU, 2018). The secondary exponential and square root models were selected, based on the highest R^2 (Table 5.5), to describe the dependence of the scale factor (β) and the specific growth rate (μ_{max}) of the Weibull and BAR models, respectively, as a function of PFB concentration (Figure 5.5).

Figure 5.5 - Exponential secondary model of the β parameters as a function of PFB concentration at pH 4.5 (A) and pH 5.5 (B). Secondary square root model of μ_{max} as a function of PFB at pH 6.5 (C). The solid lines (—) represent the secondary model fits.



As observed in Figure 5.5A and 5.5B, increasing PFB concentration affects the scaling factor (β), which in this case would be the time to reach the first decimal reduction, having higher β values at pH 5.5. It means that at pH 4.5 and higher PFB

concentrations, lower is the β . The same influence is observed with μ_{max} (Figure 5.5C), with increasing PFB concentration at pH 6.5, lower is the growth rate.

Table 5.5 - Estimated values of the empirical parameters (a, b, c), $[PFB]_{lim}$ by fitting the exponential and square root secondary models to the β values, μ_{max} and the coefficient of determination (R^2) .

Exponential model					
	<i>a</i> (1/h)	<i>b</i> (1/mM)	R ²		
β pH 4.5 (A)	68.05	-0.08	0.860		
β pH 5.5 (B)	135.95	-0.017	0.849		
	Square roo	t model			
	<i>c</i> (1/mM. √h)	[<i>PFB</i>] _{<i>lim</i>} (mM)	<i>R</i> ²		
$\sqrt{\mu}_{max}$ pH 5.5 (C)	-0.0036	260.58	0.923		

The models presented a good fit to the data (Table 5.5) and can be used to evaluate the growth or inactivation of S. Typhimurium in the BHI medium to establish limits of PFB concentrations for S. Typhimurium control. Within the pH and PFB concentration conditions evaluated in this study.

5.3.6 Prediction of PFB concentration to promote 3-log reductions in 3 h

The time required to achieve 3 decimal reductions of *S*. Typhimurium (t3DR) for each concentration of PFB at pH 4.5 and 5.5 were predicted from the model of Weibull Eq. (5.8).

Figure 5.6 presents the secondary exponential model fit of t3DR as a function of each PFB concentration. The equations obtained from the fit (Eq. 5.15 and 5.16) were used to extrapolate the concentration of PFB required to achieve t3DR = 3 h.

$t3DR = 120.98 e^{-0.08 PFB}$	(5.15)
$t3DR = 227.16 \ e^{-0.017 \ PFB}$	(5.16)

The concentrations of PFB required to achieve a 3-log reduction of *S*. Typhimurium in 3 h, obtained by extrapolation of Eq. 5.15 at pH 4.5 and Eq. 5.16 at pH 5.5 were 46.4 mM and 253.6 mM, respectively.

Figure 5.6 - Concentration for required for 3-log reductions of S. Typhimurium in 3 h of contact with PFB at pH 4.5 (A) and pH 5.5 (B). The solid lines (—) represent the values

predicted by the secondary exponential model, the dotted lines (""") represent the data extrapolation up 3 h.



Validation of the model (Eq. 5.15) was carried out by the inactivation kinetics of *S*. Typhimurium in contact with 46.4 mM PFB at pH 4.5 (Figure 5.7).

Figure 5.7 - Validation of PFB concentration at pH 4.5 for *S*. Typhimurium reduction. The solid lines (—) represent the Weibull model fits, and the dashed lines (---) demonstrate the 3-log reduction in 3 h.



Theoretically, 46.4 mM (35.05 mM PFB undissociated) predicted by the exponential model (Eq. 5.15), would promote a 3-log reduction of *S*. Typhimurium in 3 h. However, a reduction of 2.83 log CFU mL⁻¹ of the pathogen was observed with 10 hours of contact. This is probably because the exponential model showed a value of $R^2 = 0.860$, indicating failure of the model prediction. Although the R^2 was not as close to 1, the exponential model showed the most accurate data. The concentration of AA present in PFB pH 4.5 to have this inhibition effect was 8.46 mM of which 5.88 mM was in the undissociated form.

The Weibull model presented a good fit to the data of *S*. Typhimurium survivors at 46.4 mM PFB, with *RMSE* = 0.119 and R^2 = 0.986. The parameters of the model fit were β = 5.20 (h), and α =1.56. According to the shape of the inactivation curve (Figure 5.7), the microbial population in contact with 46.4 mM PFB may contain members that initially show resistance to treatment, forming a shoulder, but that over time may not resist treatment (VAN BOEKEL, 2002).

Although it does not achieve 3-log reductions in 3 h, 46.4 mM of PFB at pH 4.5 is sufficient to reduce S. Typhimurium in 10 h and can be used in chicken feed to provide safer levels of broiler products.

Since the chicken is fed continuously, there is always food for the lactic acid bacteria present in the crop region to degrade, produce lactic acid and keep the pH at an average of 4.5 (COX *et al.*, 1972). Therefore, adding 46.4 mM PFB at pH 4.5 to chickens' feed or drinking water may promote greater microbiological safety for the

animals. Furthermore, this concentration is lower than the safe level (135 mM PA) of ingestion for chickens, as reported by Bories et al. (2011). It is noteworthy that the 46.4 mM concentration is calculated based on the concentration of PA present in the PFB.

At pH 5.5, 253.6 mM PFB was the concentration obtained by extrapolation (Eq. 5.16) to promote 3-log reductions of *S*. Typhimurium in 3 h of contact (Figure 5.6B). However, validation could not be performed because this concentration was higher than the one produced by fermentation. In addition, it would exceed the safe concentration to incorporate into chicken feed.

Broiler feed characteristics such as salt concentration, pH, and water activity can influence the growth and survival of microorganisms (LEE *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, further studies with the addition of PFB in animal feeds are suggested to evaluate the behavior of *S*. Typhimurium.

5.4 CONCLUSION

The biosynthesis of PA by *P. freudenreichii* resulted in organic acid concentrations that effectively inhibited *S*. Typhimurium at pH 4.5 and 5.5. The most effective inhibition of *S*. Typhimurium by PFB occurred at pH 4.5, with a minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of 3.5 mM and a minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) of 10 mM. The combination of acids in PFB had a synergistic effect only at pH 4.5, with a fractional inhibitory concentration index (*F1C*_{index}) of less than 1. Compared to the commercial petrochemical-based organic acid products tested in this study, propionic fermentation broth at pH 4.5 proved to be as efficient as the petrochemical-based OA.

The concentration of 46.4 mM PFB, predicted by extrapolating the secondary exponential model to reduce 3-log *S*. Typhimurium in 3 h, achieved only 3 logarithmic cycles in more than 10 h of contact., i.e., the concentration predicted by the model was not validated.

The mathematical models displayed a consistent correlation between predicted and observed values, and they can be utilized to estimate new PFB doses for *S*. Typhimurium control within the range assessed. These results indicate that organic acids naturally produced by P. freudenreichii have a potential to substitute

petrochemical-based organic acids and promote environmentally sustainable pathogen control.

5.5 SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

Table S5.6 - Linear fit, maximum specific growth rate (μ_{max}), and final biomass concentration (X_f) of pre-inoculum and inoculum cultures of *P. freudenreichii* ATCC 9614.

Culture medium	Linear equation	<i>X_f</i> (g L ⁻¹)	R ²
Pre-inoculum of 24 h	NA*	0.60	NA*
Pre-inoculum of 48 h	y = 0.032x - 0.2858	1.45	0.990
Inoculum from 24 h pre-inoculum	y = 0.030x - 0.0059	1.30	0.963
Inoculum from 48 h pre-inoculum	y = 0.055x - 0.075	3.30	0.988

NA = Not applicable

Table S5.7 - Polynomial model fitting to the experimental data of PA, AA, SA, DCW, and glucose, for the calculations of the profiles of specific growth velocities, substrate consumption, and PA production.

	Polynomial Equations	R ²
DCW	$y = -1.71 \cdot 10^{-6} x^3 + 7.71 x 10^{-4} x^2 - 0.02 x + 0.33$	0.994
Glucose	$y = -5.62 \cdot 10^{-6} x^3 - 0.001 x^2 - 0.04 x + 30.20$	0.992
PA	$y = 8.23 \cdot 10^4 x^2 - 0.04 x + 1.51$	0.997
AA	$y = 1.89 \cdot 10^4 x^2 - 0.003 x + 0.38$	0.989
SA	$y = -2.36 \cdot 10^6 x^2 - 0.005 x + 0.18$	0.830

DCW = dry mass weight, PA is propionic acid, AA is acetic acid, and SA is succinic acid.

Figure S5.8 - Correlation between carbon produced and carbon consumed during 144 h of fermentation by *P. freudenreichii.*



Yield	Linear Equation	R ²
Y _{PA/S}	y = 0.356x + 0.180	0.992
$Y_{AA/S}$	y = 0.125x + 0.209	0.983
Y _{SA/S}	y = 0.031x + 0.016	0.937
$Y_{X/S}$	y = 0.2522x + 0.4556	0.972

Table S5.8 - Linear fit of product formation data by substrate consumed.

Table S5.9 - Parameters (\pm standard deviation) and statistical indices by fitting the BAR and Weibull models to the experimental data of the growth and inactivation curves of *S*. Typhimurium in MOA 1 and MOA2 at pH 4.5, 5.5, and 6.5.

				рН 4.5			
Product	а	<u>β</u> (h)	$m{N}_{m{0}}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	<i>R</i> ²	RMSE (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	A_f	Log Reduction
MOA1	1.53 ± 0.09	7.17 ± 0.07	6.17 ±0.02	0.966	0.187	1.027	2.75
MOA2	1.63 ± 0.08	26.17 ± 0.32	6.25 ± 0.03	0.976	0.091	1.010	1.59
				рН 5.5			
Product	а	<u>β</u> (h)	$m{N}_{m{0}}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	<i>R</i> ²	RMSE (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	A_f	Log Reduction
MOA1	1.82 ± 0.03	22.23 ± 0.05	6.24 ± 0.02	0.983	0.124	1.014	2.33
Product	$oldsymbol{\mathcal{Y}_0}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	$oldsymbol{\mathcal{Y}_{max}}$ (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	μ _{max} (h ⁻¹)	λ (h)	R^2	RMSE (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	A_f
MOA2	6.25 ± 0.13	8.58 ± 0.11	0.86 ± 0.21	4.11 ± 0.23	0.963	0.190	1.011
				рН 6.5			
Product	y_0 (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	y_{max} (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	μ _{max} (h ⁻¹)	λ (h)	R ²	RMSE (Log CFU mL ⁻¹)	A _f
MOA1	6.27 ± 0.02	8.62 ± 0.07	0.75 ± 0.15	9.53 ± 0.10	0.997	0.058	1.004
MOA2	6.26 ± 0.01	9.03 ± 0.01	0.44 ± 0.05	5.12E-14 ± 0.0	0.963	0.195	1.016

 $\overline{y_0}$ is the initial cell concentration fixed in the model, y_{max} is the maximum cell growth, $\overline{N_0}$ is the initial cell concentration fixed in the model, α is the shape factor, and β the scale factor. MOA is a mixture of organic acids.

6 CONCLUSÃO GERAL

Este estudo avaliou as atividades antimicrobianas dos ácidos propiônico e acético de base petroquímica contra a bactéria *S*. Typhimurium em diferentes níveis de pH (4,5, 5,5 e 6,5) e de oxigenação. Também foi avaliado o comportamento da bactéria quando exposta aos ácidos presentes no caldo da fermentação propiônica em cada pH.

Cada ácido apresentou, individualmente, concentrações inibitórias mínimas (CIM) para inibir *S*. Typhimurium de 7 mM de AP e 4 mM de AA em pH 4,5; 15 mM de AP e 10 mM de AA em pH 5,5 e em pH 6,5 CIM de 300 mM de AP e 473 mM de AA, em condições aeróbias, com o ácido acético apresentando CIM menor do que o ácido propiônico.

A eficiência do AA em pH 5.5 aumentou em três vezes em condições de limitação de oxigênio.

Os modelos matemáticos avaliados nesse estudo demonstraram bons ajustes aos dados experimentais de crescimento e/ou inativação e permitiram estimar as concentrações necessárias de ácido propiônico (94 mM) e do caldo propiônico (46,4 mM) para reduzir três ciclos logarítmicos de *S*. Typhimurium, supondo um tempo de trânsito intestinal de três horas em frangos. O modelo secundário exponencial teve maior precisão na estimativa dessa concentração para o ácido propiônico do que para o caldo de fermentação propiônica (CFP).

A interação entre os ácidos do caldo da fermentação propiônica foi sinérgica apenas em pH 4.5, com CIM de 3,5 mM de AP mais 1,48 mM de AA. Esse resultado é importante, podendo essa concentração ser incorporada na alimentação de frangos para inativar a *S*. Typhimurium no papo do animal e impedir a colonização no trato digestivo posterior.

O caldo da fermentação propiônica foi comparado com dois produtos comerciais contendo misturas de ácidos orgânicos de base petroquímica e demonstrou ser tão eficiente quanto os produtos de base petroquímica. Os resultados sugerem que o caldo da fermentação propiônica possuí potencial para ser utilizado como um novo antimicrobiano sustentável e natural para combater contaminações por *S*. Typhimurium.

6.1 SUGESTÃO PARA TRABALHOS FUTUROS

- Produção de ácidos orgânicos com cepas adaptadas aos ácidos para produção em pH mais baixo, o qual é mais eficiente para inibição;
- Microencapsulação dos ácidos orgânicos utilizando a técnica de lipossomas;
 - Avaliação da resistência do material das microcápsulas para a entrega dos ácidos orgânicos no trato digestivo posterior de frango simulado *in vitro*;
 - Determinação da concentração inibitória mínima dos ácidos orgânicos microencapsulados em sistema digestivo simulado;
 - Validação dos resultados observados *in vivo* para confirmar a eficiência do produto como método de controle microbiológico.

REFERÊNCIAS

ABHISINGHA, M.; DUMNIL, J.; PITAKSUTHEEPONG, C. Efficiency of phage cocktail to reduce *Salmonella* Typhimurium on chicken meat during low temperature storage. **LWT**, v. 129, n. March, p. 109580, jul. 2020. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2020.109580>.

ABPA. **Relatório AnualAssociação Brasileira de Proteína Animal**. [s.l: s.n.]. Disponível em: <https://abpa-br.org/noticias/>.

ADHIKARI, P.; YADAV, S.; COSBY, D. E.; COX, N. A.; JENDZA, J. A.; KIM, W. K. Research Note: Effect of organic acid mixture on growth performance and *Salmonella* Typhimurium colonization in broiler chickens. **Poultry Science**, v. 99, n. 5, p. 2645–2649, maio 2020. Disponível em: .

ADIL, S.; BANDAY, T.; BHAT, G. A.; MIR, M. S.; REHMAN, M. Effect of dietary supplementation of organic acids on performance, intestinal histomorphology, and serum biochemistry of broiler chicken. **Veterinary Medicine International**, v. 2010, p. 1–7, 2010. Disponível em:

http://www.hindawi.com/journals/vmi/2010/479485/>.

ADLEY, C. C.; RYAN, M. P. The Nature and extent of foodborne disease. *In*: **Antimicrobial Food Packaging**. [s.l.] Elsevier, 2016. p. 1–10.

AGBAJE, M.; BEGUM, R. H.; OYEKUNLE, M. A.; OJO, O. E.; ADENUBI, O. T. Evolution of *Salmonella n*omenclature: A critical note. **Folia Microbiologica**, v. 56, n. 6, p. 497–503, 2011.

AHMADI, N.; KHOSRAVI-DARANI, K.; MORTAZAVIAN, A. M. An overview of biotechnological production of propionic acid: From upstream to downstream processes. **Electronic Journal of Biotechnology**, v. 28, p. 67–75, 2017. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejbt.2017.04.004>.

AL-LAHHAM, S. H.; PEPPELENBOSCH, M. P.; ROELOFSEN, H.; VONK, R. J.; VENEMA, K. Biological effects of propionic acid in humans; metabolism, potential applications and underlying mechanisms. **Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) -Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids**, v. 1801, n. 11, p. 1175–1183, nov. 2010. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2010.07.007>.

ALJARALLAH, K. M.; ADAMS, M. R. Mechanisms of heat inactivation in *Salmonella* serotype Typhimurium as affected by low water activity at different temperatures. **Journal of Applied Microbiology**, v. 102, n. 1, p. 153–160, 2007.

ALJUMAAH, M. R.; ALKHULAIFI, M. M.; ABUDABOS, A. M.; ALABDULLATIFB, A.; EL-MUBARAK, A. H.; AL SULIMAN, A. R.; STANLEY, D. Organic acid blend supplementation increases butyrate and acetate production in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium challenged broilers. **PLOS ONE**, v. 15, n. 6, p. e0232831, 4 jun. 2020. Disponível em: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232831>.

ALSHAWABKEH, K.; TABBAA, M. J. Using dietary propionic acid to limit *Salmonella* gallinarum colonization in broiler chicks. **Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences**, v. 15, n. 2, p. 243–246, 1 jan. 2002. Disponível em: <http://ajas.info/journal/view.php?doi=10.5713/ajas.2002.243>. ÁLVAREZ-ORDÓÑEZ, A.; FERNÁNDEZ, A.; BERNARDO, A.; LÓPEZ, M. Comparison of acids on the induction of an acid tolerance response in *Salmonella* Typhimurium, consequences for food safety. **Meat Science**, v. 81, n. 1, p. 65–70, jan. 2009. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2008.06.019>.

ÁLVAREZ-ORDÓÑEZ, A.; FERNÁNDEZ, A.; BERNARDO, A.; LÓPEZ, M. Acid tolerance in *Salmonella* Typhimurium induced by culturing in the presence of organic acids at different growth temperatures. **Food Microbiology**, v. 27, n. 1, p. 44–49, fev. 2010. Disponível em:

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0740002009001774>.

ÁLVAREZ-ORDÓÑEZ, A.; PRIETO, M.; BERNARDO, A.; HILL, C.; LÓPEZ, M. The Acid tolerance response of *Salmonella* spp.: An adaptive strategy to survive in stressful environments prevailing in foods and the host. **Food Research International**, v. 45, n. 2, p. 482–492, mar. 2012. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2011.04.002>.

AMINI, K.; SALEHI, T. Z.; NIKBAKHT, G.; RANJBAR, R.; AMINI, J. Molecular detection of invA and spv virulence genes in *Salmonella* Enteritidis isolated from human and animals in Iran. **African Journal of Microbiology Research**, v. 4, n. 21, p. 2202–2210, 2010.

AMMAR, E. M.; JIN, Y.; WANG, Z.; YANG, S.-T. Metabolic engineering of *Propionibacterium freudenreichii*: Effect of expressing phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase on propionic acid production. **Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology**, v. 98, n. 18, p. 7761–7772, set. 2014. Disponível em: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00253-014-5836-y.

AMMAR, E. M.; MARTIN, J.; BRABO-CATALA, L.; PHILIPPIDIS, G. P. Propionic acid production by *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* using sweet sorghum bagasse hydrolysate. **Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology**, v. 104, n. 22, p. 9619–9629, 13 nov. 2020. Disponível em: ">http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00253-020-10953-w>">http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00253-

ANJUM, M. F.; THOMSON, N. R. Characterizing *Salmonella* genomes. *In*: BARROW, P. A. U. M. *Salmonella* in domestic animals. 2. ed. Wallingford: CABI, 2013.

ANTUNES, P.; MOURÃO, J.; CAMPOS, J.; PEIXE, L. Salmonellosis: The role of poultry meat. **Clinical Microbiology and Infection**, v. 22, n. 2, p. 110–121, fev. 2016. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2015.12.004>.

ARISTIMUNHA, P. C.; ROSA, A. P.; BOEMO, L. S.; GARCEZ, D. C.; ROSA, D. P.; LONDERO, A.; SCHER, A.; FORGIARINI, J. A blend of benzoic acid and essential oil compounds as an alternative to antibiotic growth promoters in broiler diets. **Journal of Applied Poultry Research**, v. 25, n. 4, p. 455–463, dez. 2016. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1056617119302533>.

ASTEN, A. J. A. M.; DIJK, J. E. Distribution of "classic" virulence factors among *Salmonella* spp. **FEMS Immunology & Medical Microbiology**, v. 44, n. 3, p. 251–259, jun. 2005. Disponível em: https://academic.oup.com/femspd/article-lookup/doi/10.1016/j.femsim.2005.02.002.

BAE, Y.-M.; LEE, S.-Y. Combined effects of organic acids and salt depending on type of acids and pathogens in laboratory media and acidified pickle. **Journal of** **Applied Microbiology**, v. 119, n. 2, p. 455–464, ago. 2015. Disponível em: https://academic.oup.com/jambio/article/119/2/455/6717002.

BAGAL, V. L.; KHATTA, V. K.; TEWATIA, B. S.; SANGWAN, S. K.; RAUT, S. S. Relative efficacy of organic acids and antibiotics as growth promoters in broiler chicken. **Veterinary World**, v. 9, n. 4, p. 377–382, abr. 2016. Disponível em: http://www.veterinaryworld.org/Vol.9/April-2016/8.html.

BAIK, H. S.; BEARSON, S.; DUNBAR, S.; FOSTER, J. W. The acid tolerance response of *Salmonella* Typhimurium provides protection against organic acids. **Microbiology**, v. 142, n. 11, p. 3195–3200, 1 nov. 1996. Disponível em: http://mic.microbiologyresearch.org/content/journal/micro/10.1099/13500872-142-11-3195.

BARANYI, J.; ROBERTS, T. A. A dynamic approach to predicting bacterial growth in food. **International Journal of Food Microbiology**, v. 23, n. 3–4, p. 277–294, nov. 1994. Disponível em:

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/0168160594901570>.

BARANYI, J.; ROBINSON, T. P.; KALOTI, A.; MACKEY, B. M. Predicting growth of *Brochothrix thermosphacta* at changing temperature. **International Journal of Food Microbiology**, v. 27, n. 1, p. 61–75, set. 1995. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/016816059400154X>.

BEARSON, S. Acid stress responses in enterobacteria. **FEMS Microbiology** Letters, v. 147, n. 2, p. 173–180, 15 fev. 1997. Disponível em: <http://doi.wiley.com/10.1016/S0378-1097(96)00503-4>.

BECKER, J.; WITTMANN, C. Advanced Biotechnology: Metabolically engineered cells for the bio-based production of chemicals and fuels, materials, and health-care products. **Angewandte Chemie International Edition**, v. 54, n. 11, p. 3328–3350, 9 mar. 2015. Disponível em: <http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/anie.201409033>.

BELL, C.; KYRIAKIDES, A. Salmonella. Foodborne Pathogens: Hazards,

Risk Analysis and Control: Second Edition, p. 627–674, 2009.

BERMUDEZ-AGUIRRE, D.; NIEMIRA, B. A. Microbial inactivation models of *Salmonella* Typhimurium in radio frequency treated eggs. **Food Control**, v. 148, n. August 2022, p. 109634, jun. 2023. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2023.109634>.

BETERAMS, A.; TOLKSDORF, T.; MARTIN, A.; STINGL, K.; BANDICK, N.; REICH, F. Change of *Campylobacter, Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella* counts in packaged broiler breast meat stored under modified atmosphere and vacuum conditions at 4 and 10 °C based on cultural and molecular biological quantification. **Food Control**, v. 145, n. April 2022, p. 109337, mar. 2023. Disponível em: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2022.109337>. BIALKOWSKI, S.; TOSCHI, A.; YU, L.; SCHLITZKUS, L.; MANN, P.; GRILLI, E.; LI, Y. Effects of microencapsulated blend of organic acids and botanicals on growth performance, intestinal barrier function, inflammatory cytokines, and endocannabinoid system gene expression in broiler chickens. **Poultry Science**, v. 102, n. 3, p. 102460, mar. 2023. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0032579122007544>.

BINGLE, L. E.; BAILEY, C. M.; PALLEN, M. J. Type VI secretion: A beginner's guide. **Current Opinion in Microbiology**, v. 11, n. 1, p. 3–8, fev. 2008. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1369527408000076>.

BORIES, G.; CHESSON, A.; COCCONCELLI, P. S.; KNECHT, J. De; DIERICK, A.; GRALAK, M. A.; HALLE, I.; HOGSTRAND, C.; KROKER, R.; LENG, L.; HALDORSEN, A. L.; MANTOVANI, A.; MARTELLI, G.; RENSHAW, D.; SAARELA, M.; SEJRSEN, K.; WESTER, P. Scientific opinion on the safety and efficacy of propionic acid, sodium propionate, calcium propionate and ammonium propionate for all animal species. **EFSA Journal**, v. 9, n. 12, p. 2446, dez. 2011. Disponível em: <http://doi.wiley.com/10.2903/j.efsa.2011.2446>.

BRASIL. **Salmonella**. Disponível em: ">https://www.gov.br/agricultura/pt-br/assuntos/sanidade-animal-e-vegetal/saude-animal/programas-de-saude-animal/pnsa/salmonelas>">https://www.gov.br/agricultura/pt-br/assuntos/sanidade-animal-e-vegetal/saude-animal/programas-de-saude-animal/pnsa/salmonelas>">https://www.gov.br/agricultura/pt-br/assuntos/sanidade-animal-e-vegetal/saude-animal/programas-de-saude-animal/pnsa/salmonelas>">https://www.gov.br/agricultura/pt-br/assuntos/sanidade-animal-e-vegetal/saude-animal/programas-de-saude-animal/pnsa/salmonelas>">https://www.gov.br/agricultura/pt-br/assuntos/saude-animal/programas-de-saude-animal/pnsa/salmonelas>">https://www.gov.br/agricultura/pt-br/assuntos/saude-animal/pnsa/salmonelas>">https://www.gov.br/agricultura/pt-br/assuntos/saude-animal/pnsa/saude-animal/

BREDE, D. A.; FAYE, T.; JOHNSBORG, O.; ØDEGÅRD, I.; NES, I. F.; HOLO, H. Molecular and genetic characterization of propionicin f, a bacteriocin from *Propionibacterium freudenreichii*. **Applied and Environmental Microbiology**, v. 70, n. 12, p. 7303–7310, dez. 2004. Disponível em: <https://journals.asm.org/doi/10.1128/AEM.70.12.7303-7310.2004>.

BUZRUL, S.; ALPAS, H. Modeling the synergistic effect of high pressure and heat on inactivation kinetics of: A preliminary study. **FEMS Microbiology Letters**, v. 238, n. 1, p. 29–36, 1 set. 2004. Disponível em: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1016/j.femsle.2004.07.011>.

CARPENTER, C. E.; SMITH, J. V.; BROADBENT, J. R. Efficacy of washing meat surfaces with 2% levulinic, acetic, or lactic acid for pathogen decontamination and residual growth inhibition. **Meat Science**, v. 88, n. 2, p. 256–260, jun. 2011. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2010.12.032>.

CARRIQUE-MAS, J. J.; BEDFORD, S.; DAVIES, R. H. Organic acid and formaldehyde treatment of animal feeds to control *Salmonella*: Efficacy and masking during culture. **Journal of Applied Microbiology**, v. 103, n. 1, p. 88–96, jul. 2007. Disponível em: ">http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2006.03233.x>.

CASEWELL, M.; FRIIS, C.; MARCO, E.; MCMULLIN, P.; PHILLIPS, I. The European ban on growth-promoting antibiotics and emerging consequences for human and animal health. **Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy**, v. 52, n. 2, p. 159–161, 2003.

CAVE, N. A. G. Effect of dietary propionic and lactic acids on feed intake by chicks. **Poultry Science**, v. 63, n. 1, p. 131–134, jan. 1984. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.3382/ps.0630131.

CDC. *Salmonella*. Disponível em: <https://www.cdc.gov/salmonella/>.

CDC. Salmonella Outbreaks Linked to Backyard Poultry. Disponível em:

https://www.cdc.gov/salmonella/backyardpoultry-06-22/details.html>.

CHAE, T. U.; AHN, J. H.; KO, Y.-S.; KIM, J. W.; LEE, J. A.; LEE, E. H.; LEE, S. Y. Metabolic engineering for the production of dicarboxylic acids and diamines. **Metabolic Engineering**, v. 58, n. March 2019, p. 2–16, mar. 2020. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2019.03.005>.

CHEN, H.-M.; WANG, Y.; SU, L.-H.; CHIU, C.-H. Nontyphoid Salmonella Infection: Microbiology, clinical features, and antimicrobial therapy. **Pediatrics & Neonatology**, v. 54, n. 3, p. 147–152, jun. 2013. Disponível em: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pedneo.2013.01.010>.

COBURN, B.; GRASSL, G. A.; FINLAY, B. B. *Salmonella*, the host and disease: A brief review. **Immunology & Cell Biology**, v. 85, n. 2, p. 112–118, 5 fev. 2007. Disponível em:

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1038/sj.icb.7100007>

CORAL, J.; KARP, S. G.; PORTO DE SOUZA VANDENBERGHE, L.; PARADA, J. L.; PANDEY, A.; SOCCOL, C. R. Batch fermentation model of propionic acid production by *Propionibacterium acidipropionici* in different carbon sources. **Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology**, v. 151, n. 2–3, p. 333–341, 2 dez. 2008. Disponível em: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s12010-008-8196-1.

CORRADINI, M. G.; PELEG, M. Estimating non-isothermal bacterial growth in foods from isothermal experimental data. **Journal of Applied Microbiology**, v. 99, n. 1, p. 187–200, jul. 2005. Disponível em: ">http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2005.02570.x>.

COTON, E.; LEGUERINEL, I. Ecology of bacteria and fungi in foods: Effects of pH. *In*: **Encyclopedia of Food Microbiology**. [s.l.] Elsevier, 2014. p. 577–586.

COUSIN, F. J.; MATER, D. D. G.; FOLIGNE, B.; JAN, G. Dairy propionibacteria as human probiotics: A review of recent evidence. **Dairy Science & Technology**, v. 91, n. 1, p. 1–26, 2 ago. 2011. Disponível em: <http://link.springer.com/10.1051/dst/2010032>.

COX, N. A.; CASON, J. A.; BUHR, R. J.; RICHARDSON, K. E.; RICHARDSON, L. J.; RIGSBY, L. L.; FEDORKA-CRAY, P. J. Variations in preenrichment pH of poultry feed and feed ingredients after incubation periods up to 48 hours. **Journal of Applied Poultry Research**, v. 22, n. 2, p. 190–195, jul. 2013. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.3382/japr.2012-00552>.

COX, N. A.; DAVIS, B. H.; WATTS, A. B.; COLMER, A. R. *Salmonella* in the Laying Hen: The effect of simulated digestive tract pH levels on the survival of three species of *Salmonella*. **Poultry Science**, v. 51, n. 4, p. 1268–1270, jul. 1972. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.3382/ps.0511268>.

CREUS, E.; PÉREZ, J. F.; PERALTA, B.; BAUCELLS, F.; MATEU, E. Effect of Acidified Feed on the prevalence of *Salmonella* in market-age pigs. **Zoonoses and Public Health**, v. 54, n. 8, p. 314–319, out. 2007. Disponível em: <https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1863-2378.2007.01069.x>.

CRUMP, J. A.; SJÖLUND-KARLSSON, M.; GORDON, M. A.; PARRY, C. M. Epidemiology, clinical presentation, laboratory diagnosis, antimicrobial resistance, and antimicrobial management of invasive *Salmonella* infections. **Clinical Microbiology Reviews**, v. 28, n. 4, p. 901–937, 15 out. 2015. Disponível em:

http://cmr.asm.org/lookup/doi/10.1128/CMR.00002-15>.

D'AOUST, J.-Y.; MAURER, J. *Salmonella* species. *In*: **Food Microbiology: Fundamentals and Frontiers, Third Edition**. [s.l.] American Society of Microbiology, 2007. p. 187–236.

DAI, Z.; ZHOU, H.; ZHANG, S.; GU, H.; YANG, Q.; ZHANG, W.; DONG, W.; MA, J.; FANG, Y.; JIANG, M.; XIN, F. Current advance in biological production of malic acid using wild type and metabolic engineered strains. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 258, n. February, p. 345–353, jun. 2018. Disponível em: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.03.001>.

DALLAL, M. M. S.; DOYLE, M. P.; REZADEHBASHI, M.; DABIRI, H.; SANAEI, M.; MODARRESI, S.; BAKHTIARI, R.; SHARIFIY, K.; TAREMI, M.; ZALI, M. R.; SHARIFI-YAZDI, M. K. Prevalence and antimicrobial resistance profiles of *Salmonella* serotypes, *Campylobacter* and *Yersinia* spp. isolated from retail chicken and beef, Tehran, Iran. **Food Control**, v. 21, n. 4, p. 388–392, abr. 2010. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2009.06.001>.

DAR, M. A.; AHMAD, S. M.; BHAT, S. A.; AHMED, R.; URWAT, U.; MUMTAZ, P. T.; BHAT, S. A.; DAR, T. A.; SHAH, R. A.; GANAI, N. A. *Salmonella* Typhimurium in poultry: A review. **World's Poultry Science Journal**, v. 73, n. 2, p. 345–354, 1 jun. 2017. Disponível em:

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1017/S0043933917000204>.

DE MELO, A. N. F.; MONTE, D. F. M.; DE SOUZA PEDROSA, G. T.; BALKEY, M.; JIN, Q.; BROWN, E.; ALLARD, M.; DE OLIVEIRA, T. C. R. M.; CAO, G.; MAGNANI, M.; MACARISIN, D. Genomic investigation of antimicrobial resistance determinants and virulence factors in *Salmonella enterica* serovars isolated from contaminated food and human stool samples in Brazil. **International Journal of Food Microbiology**, v. 343, n. June 2020, p. 109091, abr. 2021. Disponível em: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2021.109091>.

DE SALES, C. V.; DE MELO, A. N. F.; NIEDZWIEDZKA, K. M.; DE SOUZA, E. L.; SCHAFFNER, D. W.; MAGNANI, M. Changes of Antibiotic resistance phenotype in outbreak-linked *Salmonella enterica* strains after exposure to human simulated gastrointestinal conditions in chicken meat. **Journal of Food Protection**, v. 81, n. 11, p. 1844–1850, nov. 2018. Disponível em: <https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0362028X22088184>.

DEPTULA, P.; LAINE, P. K.; ROBERTS, R. J.; SMOLANDER, O.-P.; VIHINEN, H.; PIIRONEN, V.; PAULIN, L.; JOKITALO, E.; SAVIJOKI, K.; AUVINEN, P.; VARMANEN, P. De novo assembly of genomes from long sequence reads reveals uncharted territories of *Propionibacterium freudenreichii*. **BMC genomics**, v. 18, n. 1, p. 790, 16 out. 2017. Disponível em: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.11.013>.

DIARRA, M. S.; MALOUIN, F. Antibiotics in canadian poultry productions and anticipated alternatives. **Frontiers in Microbiology**, v. 5, n. JUN, p. 1–15, 17 jun. 2014. Disponível em:

http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00282/abstract>.

DIBNER, J. J.; BUTTIN, P. Use of organic acids as a model to study the impact of gut microflora on nutrition and metabolism. **Journal of Applied Poultry Research**, v. 11, n. 4, p. 453–463, dez. 2002. Disponível em:

<a>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/japr/11.4.453>.

DIBNER, J. J.; RICHARDS, J. D. Antibiotic growth promoters in agriculture: history and mode of action. **Poultry Science**, v. 84, n. 4, p. 634–643, abr. 2005. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S003257911944577X.

DIJKSTERHUIS, J.; MEIJER, M.; VAN DOORN, T.; HOUBRAKEN, J.; BRUINENBERG, P. The preservative propionic acid differentially affects survival of conidia and germ tubes of feed spoilage fungi. **International Journal of Food Microbiology**, v. 306, n. February, p. 108258, 2019. Disponível em: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2019.108258>.

DINÇER, A. H.; BAYSAL, T. Decontamination techniques of pathogen bacteria in meat and poultry. **Critical Reviews in Microbiology**, v. 30, n. 3, p. 197– 204, 19 jan. 2004. Disponível em:

<http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10408410490468803>.

DISHISHA, T.; ALVAREZ, M. T.; HATTI-KAUL, R. Batch and continuous propionic acid production from glycerol using free and immobilized cells of *Propionibacterium acidipropionici*. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 118, p. 553–562, 2012. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.05.079>.

DISHISHA, T.; IBRAHIM, M. H. A.; CAVERO, V. H.; ALVAREZ, M. T.; HATTI-KAUL, R. Improved propionic acid production from glycerol: Combining cyclic batch and sequential batch fermentations with optimal nutrient composition. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 176, p. 80–87, 2015.

DISHISHA, T.; STÅHL, Å.; LUNDMARK, S.; HATTI-KAUL, R. An economical biorefinery process for propionic acid production from glycerol and potato juice using high cell density fermentation. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 135, p. 504–512, 2013. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.08.098>.

DITTOE, D. K.; RICKE, S. C.; KIESS, A. S. Organic acids and potential for modifying the avian gastrointestinal tract and reducing pathogens and disease. **Frontiers in Veterinary Science**, v. 5, n. SEP, p. 1–12, 6 set. 2018. Disponível em: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fvets.2018.00216/full.

DIXON, R. C.; HAMILTON, P. B. Effect of feed ingredients on the antifungal activity of propionic acid. **Poultry Science**, v. 60, n. 11, p. 2407–2411, nov. 1981. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.3382/ps.0602407.

DÓREA, F. C.; COLE, D. J.; HOFACRE, C.; ZAMPERINI, K.; MATHIS, D.; DOYLE, M. P.; LEE, M. D.; MAURER, J. J. Effect of *Salmonella* vaccination of breeder chickens on contamination of broiler chicken carcasses in integrated poultry operations. **Applied and Environmental Microbiology**, v. 76, n. 23, p. 7820–7825, 1 dez. 2010. Disponível em: https://aem.asm.org/content/76/23/7820>.

EFSA. Regulamento (CE) nº 2160/2003 of The European Parliament and of the Council of 17 November 2003 on the control of *Salmonella* and other specified food-borne zoonotic agents. **Officinal Journal of the European Communities**, v. 2003, n. L 325, p. 1–15, 2003. Disponível em: .

EFSA. EFSA explains zoonotic diseases - *Salmonella*. **Publications office of the European Union**, p. 2, 2014. Disponível em: https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2805/61217>.
EFSA, E. F. S. A. Multi-country outbreak of *Salmonella* Enteritidis sequence type (ST)11 infections linked to eggs and egg products – 8 February 2022. **EFSA Supporting Publications**, v. 19, n. 2, fev. 2022. Disponível em: http://doi.wiley.com/10.2903/sp.efsa.2022.EN-7180>.

EFSA, E. F. S. A.; ECDC, E. C. for D. P. and C. The European Union summary report on antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food in 2017/2018. **EFSA Journal**, v. 18, n. 3, mar. 2020. Disponível em: http://doi.wiley.com/10.2903/j.efsa.2020.6007>.

EL-AZIZ, D. M. A. Detection of *Salmonella* Typhimurium in retail chicken meat and chicken giblets. **Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine**, v. 3, n. 9, p. 678–681, set. 2013. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2221-1691(13)60138-0>.

EŞ, I.; KHANEGHAH, A. M.; MOHAMMAD, S.; HASHEMI, B.; KOUBAA, M. Current advances in biological production of propionic acid. **Biotechnology Letters**, v. 39, n. 5, p. 635–645, 2017.

EUR. Regulation (EU) 2019/6 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 December 2018 on veterinary medicinal products and repealing Directive 2001/82/EC. **Official Journal of the European Union**, v. L4, n. 726, p. 43–167, 2019. Disponível em: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/ EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32019R0006&from=EN%0Ahttps://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32019R0006&gid=1552299700950&from=EN>.

FAO. **Per capita meat consumption by type, World, 1961 to 2013**. Disponível em: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/FBS.

FARHAT, A.; EDWARD, M.; COSTELL, M.; HADLEY, J.; WALKER, P.; VASILATOS-YOUNKEN, R. A low residue nutritive supplement as an alternative to feed withdrawal in broilers: Efficacy for gastrointestinal tract emptying and maintenance of live weight prior to slaughter. **Poultry Science**, v. 81, n. 9, p. 1406– 1414, set. 2002. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ps/81.9.1406>.

FAYE, T.; BREDE, D. A.; LANGSRUD, T.; NES, I. F.; HOLO, H. Prevalence of the genes encoding propionicin t1 andprotease-activated antimicrobial peptide and their expressionin classical propionibacteria. **Applied and Environmental Microbiology**, v. 70, n. 4, p. 2240–2244, abr. 2004. Disponível em: <https://journals.asm.org/doi/10.1128/AEM.70.4.2240-2244.2004>.

FAYE, T.; LANGSRUD, T.; NES, I. F.; HOLO, H. Biochemical and genetic characterization of propionicin T1, a new bacteriocin from *Propionibacterium thoenii*. **Applied and Environmental Microbiology**, v. 66, n. 10, p. 4230–4236, out. 2000. Disponível em: https://journals.asm.org/doi/10.1128/AEM.66.10.4230-4236.2000>.

FENG, X.; CHEN, F.; XU, H.; WU, B.; LI, H.; LI, S.; OUYANG, P. Green and economical production of propionic acid by *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* CCTCC M207015 in plant fibrous-bed bioreactor. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 102, n. 10, p. 6141–6146, 2011.

FERNANDEZ-GARCIA, E.; MCGREGOR, J. U. Determination of organic acids during the fermentation and cold storage of yogurt. **Journal of Dairy Science**, v. 77, n. 10, p. 2934–2939, out. 1994. Disponível em:

http://dx.doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(94)77234-9>.

FERNÁNDEZ, M.; RODRÍGUEZ, A.; FULCO, M.; SOTERAS, T.; MOZGOVOJ, M.; CAP, M. Effects of lactic, malic and fumaric acids on *Salmonella* spp. counts and on chicken meat quality and sensory characteristics. **Journal of Food Science and Technology**, v. 58, n. 10, p. 3817–3824, 24 out. 2021. Disponível em: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/s13197-020-04842-3.

FIROUZABADI, A.; SAADATI, D.; NAJIMI, M.; JAJARMI, M. Prevalence and related factors of *Salmonella* spp . and *Salmonella* Typhimurium contamination among broiler farms in Kerman province , Iran. **Preventive Veterinary Medicine**, v. 175, n. April 2019, p. 104838, 2020. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2019.104838>.

FOLEY, S. L.; JOHNSON, T. J.; RICKE, S. C.; NAYAK, R.; DANZEISEN, J. *Salmonella* pathogenicity and host adaptation in chicken-associated serovars. **Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews**, v. 77, n. 4, p. 582–607, dez. 2013. Disponível em: https://journals.asm.org/doi/10.1128/MMBR.00015-13.

FOLEY, S. L.; LYNNE, A. M.; NAYAK, R. Salmonella challenges: Prevalence in swine and poultry and potential pathogenicity of such isolates1,2. **Journal of Animal Science**, v. 86, n. suppl_14, p. E149–E162, 1 abr. 2008. Disponível em: <https://academic.oup.com/jas/article/86/suppl_14/E149/4789911>.

FSIS. Performace Standard: *Salmonella* verification program for raw poultry products. **United States department of agriculture Food Safety and Inspection Service**, p. 1–12, mar. 2021. Disponível em:

https://www.fsis.usda.gov/sites/default/files/media_file/2021-03/10250.2_0.pdf>.

GADDE, U.; KIM, W. H.; OH, S. T.; LILLEHOJ, H. S. Alternatives to antibiotics for maximizing growth performance and feed efficiency in poultry: a review. **Animal Health Research Reviews**, v. 18, n. 1, p. 26–45, 9 jun. 2017. Disponível em:

https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S1466252316000207/type/journal_article.

GALIŞ, A. M.; MARCQ, C.; MARLIER, D.; PORTETELLE, D.; VAN, I.; BECKERS, Y.; THÉWIS, A. Control of *Salmonella* Contamination of shell eggspreharvest and postharvest methods: A Review. **Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety**, v. 12, n. 2, p. 155–182, mar. 2013. Disponível em: <http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/1541-4337.12007>.

GALLI, G. M.; ANIECEVSKI, E.; PETROLLI, T. G.; ROSA, G. da; BOIAGO, M. M.; SIMÕES, C. A. D. P.; WAGNER, R.; COPETTI, P. M.; MORSCH, V. M.; ARAUJO, D. N.; MARCON, H.; PAGNUSSATT, H.; SANTOS, H. V.; MENDES, R. E.; LOREGIAN, K. E.; SILVA, A. S. Da. Growth performance and meat quality of broilers fed with microencapsulated organic acids. **Animal Feed Science and Technology**, v. 271, n. October 2020, p. 114706, jan. 2021. Disponível em: <https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0377840120306106>.

GARCÍA, C.; SORIANO, J. M.; BENÍTEZ, V.; CATALÁ-GREGORI, P. Assessment of *Salmonella* spp. in feces, cloacal swabs, and eggs (eggshell and content separately) from a laying hen farm. **Poultry Science**, v. 90, n. 7, p. 1581– 1585, jul. 2011. Disponível em:

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S003257911942049X>.

GAST, R. K.; PORTER, R. E. Bacterial Diseases. *In*: SWAYNE, D. E. **Diseases of Poultry**. [s.l.] John Wiley & Sons, 2020. p. 717–753.

GATTO, A. J.; PETERS, T. M.; GREEN, J.; FISHCER, I. S. T.; GILL, O. N.; O'BRIEN, S. J.; MAGUIRE, C.; BERGHOLD, C.; LEDERER, I.; GERNER-SMIDT, P.; TORPDAHL, M.; SIITONEN, A.; LUKINMAA, S.; TSCHÄPE, H.; PRAGER, R.; LUZZI, I.; DIONISI, A. M.; ZWALUW, W. K. Van Der; HECK, M.; COIA, J.; BROWN, D.; USERA, M.; ECHEITA, A.; THRELFALL, E. J. Distribution of molecular subtypes within *Salmonella enterica* serotype Enteritidis phage type 4 and S . Typhimurium definitive phage type 104 in nine European countries, 2000–2004: results of an international multi-centre study. **Epidemiology and Infection**, v. 134, n. 4, p. 729– 736, 25 ago. 2006. Disponível em:

<https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268805005820/type/journal _article>.

GEERAERD, A. H.; VALDRAMIDIS, V. P.; VAN IMPE, J. F. GInaFiT, a freeware tool to assess non-log-linear microbial survivor curves. **International Journal of Food Microbiology**, v. 102, n. 1, p. 95–105, jun. 2005. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0168160505000073>.

GHOSH, P. Process of protein transport by the type III secretion system. **Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews**, v. 68, n. 4, p. 771–795, dez. 2004. Disponível em: https://mmbr.asm.org/content/68/4/771.

GIANNENAS, I.; PAPANEOPHYTOU, C.; TSALIE, E.; TRIANTAFILLOU, E.; TONTIS, D.; KONTOPIDIS, G. The effects of benzoic acid and essential oil compounds in combination with protease on the performance of chickens. **Journal of Animal and Feed Sciences**, v. 23, n. 1, p. 73–81, 3 mar. 2014. Disponível em: <http://www.journalssystem.com/jafs/The-effects-of-benzoic-acid-and-essential-oilcompounds-in-combination-with-protease-on-the-performance-ofchickens,65719,0,2.html>.

GOLDEN, C. E.; ROTHROCK, M. J.; MISHRA, A. Mapping foodborne pathogen contamination throughout the conventional and alternative poultry supply chains. **Poultry Science**, v. 100, n. 7, p. 101157, jul. 2021. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2021.101157.

GOMES, R. J.; BORGES, M. de F.; ROSA, M. de F.; CASTRO-GÓMEZ, R. J. H.; SPINOSA, W. A. Acetic acid bacteria in the food industry: Systematics, characteristics and applications. **Food Technology and Biotechnology**, v. 56, n. 2, p. 139–151, 2018. Disponível em:

http://www.ftb.com.hr/images/pdfarticles/2018/April_June/FTB-56-139.pdf>.

GONZALEZ-FANDOS, E.; HERRERA, B. Efficacy of acetic acid against *Listeria monocytogenes* attached to poultry skin during refrigerated storage. **Foods**, v. 3, n. 3, p. 527–540, 11 set. 2014. Disponível em: http://www.mdpi.com/2304-8158/3/3/527>.

GONZÁLEZ-FANDOS, E.; MARTÍNEZ-LAORDEN, A.; PEREZ-ARNEDO, I. Efficacy of combinations of lactic acid and potassium sorbate against *Listeria monocytogenes* in chicken stored under modified atmospheres. **Food Microbiology**, v. 93, n. July 2020, p. 103596, fev. 2021. Disponível em: <https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0740002020301854>.

GONZALEZ-GARCIA, R.; MCCUBBIN, T.; NAVONE, L.; STOWERS, C.;

NIELSEN, L.; MARCELLIN, E. Microbial propionic acid production. Fermentation, v. 3, n. 2, p. 21, 2017. Disponível em: http://www.mdpi.com/2311-5637/3/2/21.

GONZALEZ-GARCIA, R. A.; MCCUBBIN, T.; TURNER, M. S.; NIELSEN, L. K.; MARCELLIN, E. Engineering Escherichia coli for propionic acid production through the Wood–Werkman cycle. Biotechnology and Bioengineering, v. 117, n. 1, p. 167–183, 16 jan. 2020. Disponível em:

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/bit.27182>.

GONZALEZ RONQUILLO, M.; ANGELES HERNANDEZ, J. C. Antibiotic and synthetic growth promoters in animal diets: Review of impact and analytical methods. Food Control, v. 72, p. 255–267, fev. 2017. Disponível em: <a>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2016.03.001>.

GRAZIANI, C.; LOSASSO, C.; LUZZI, I.; RICCI, A.; SCAVIA, G.; PASQUALI, P. Salmonella. In: Foodborne Diseases. [s.l.] Elsevier, 2017. p. 133-169.

GREENACRE, E. J.; BROCKLEHURST, T. F.; WASPE, C. R.; WILSON, D. R.; WILSON, P. D. G. Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium and Listeria monocytogenes acid tolerance response induced by organic acids at 20°c: optimization and modeling. Applied and environmental microbiology, v. 69, n. 7, p. 3945–3951, 2003.

GRIFFITHS, M. Understanding pathogen behaviour. [s.l.] Woodhead Publishing Limited, 2005. 1–611 p.

GROISMAN, E. A.; MOUSLIM, C. Molecular mechanisms of Salmonella pathogenesis. Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases, v. 13, n. 5, p. 519-522, out. 2000. Disponível em: http://journals.lww.com/00001432-200010000-00014>.

GUAN, N.; LI, J.; SHIN, H. dong; DU, G.; CHEN, J.; LIU, L. Metabolic engineering of acid resistance elements to improve acid resistance and propionic acid production of Propionibacterium jensenii. Biotechnology and Bioengineering, v. 113, n. 6, p. 1294–1304, 2016.

GUAN, N.; LIU, L.; SHIN, H. dong; CHEN, R. R.; ZHANG, J.; LI, J.; DU, G.; SHI, Z.; CHEN, J. Systems level understanding of how Propionibacterium acidipropionici respond to propionic acid stress at the microenvironment levels: Mechanism and application. Journal of Biotechnology, v. 167, n. 1, p. 56–63, 2013. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2013.06.008>.

GUAN, N.; ZHUGE, X.; LI, J.; SHIN, H. dong; WU, J.; SHI, Z.; LIU, L. Engineering propionibacteria as versatile cell factories for the production of industrially important chemicals: Advances, challenges, and prospects. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, v. 99, n. 2, p. 585-600, 2015.

GUO, Y. J.; WANG, Z. Y.; WANG, Y. S.; CHEN, B.; HUANG, Y. Q.; LI, P.; TAN, Q.; ZHANG, H. Y.; CHEN, W. Impact of drinking water supplemented 2hydroxy-4-methylthiobutyric acid in combination with acidifier on performance, intestinal development, and microflora in broilers. **Poultry Science**, v. 101, n. 3, p. 101661, mar. 2022. Disponível em:

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0032579121006829>.

HA, S. .; MACIOROWSKI, K. .; KWON, Y. .; JONES, F. .; RICKE, S. . Survivability of indigenous microflora and a Salmonella Typhimurium marker strain in poultry mash treated with buffered propionic acid. Animal Feed Science and

Technology, v. 75, n. 2, p. 145–155, out. 1998. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0377840198001953>.

HANSEN-WESTER, I.; HENSEL, M. *Salmonella* pathogenicity islands encoding type III secretion systems. **Microbes and Infection**, v. 3, n. 7, p. 549–559, jun. 2001. Disponível em:

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1286457901014113.

HAQUE, M.; CHOWDHURY, R.; ISLAM, K.; AKBAR, M. Propionic acid is an alternative to antibiotics in poultry diet. **Bangladesh Journal of Animal Science**, v. 38, n. 1–2, p. 115–122, 1 jan. 1970. Disponível em: http://www.banglajol.info/index.php/BJAS/article/view/9920>.

HAUTEFORT, I.; THOMPSON, A.; ERIKSSON-YGBERG, S.; PARKER, M. L.; LUCCHINI, S.; DANINO, V.; BONGAERTS, R. J. M.; AHMAD, N.; RHEN, M.; HINTON, J. C. D. During infection of epithelial cells *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium undergoes a time-dependent transcriptional adaptation that results in simultaneous expression of three type 3 secretion systems. **Cellular Microbiology**, v. 10, n. 4, p. 958–984, 2008.

HINTON JR, A. Inhibition of the growth of *Salmonella* Typhimurium ST-10 by propionic acid and chloride salts. **Food Microbiology**, v. 16, n. 4, p. 401–407, 1999.

HOLO, H.; FAYE, T.; BREDE, D. A.; NILSEN, T.; ØDEGÅRD, I.; LANGSRUD, T.; BRENDEHAUG, J.; NES, I. F. Bacteriocins of propionic acid bacteria. **Le Lait**, v. 82, n. 1, p. 59–68, jan. 2002. Disponível em: http://lait.dairy-journal.org/10.1051/lait:2001005>.

HUANG, L.; HWANG, C.-A.; PHILLIPS, J. Evaluating the effect of temperature on microbial growth rate the Ratkowsky and a Bělehrádek-Type Models. **Journal of Food Science**, v. 76, n. 8, p. M547–M557, out. 2011. Disponível em: ">http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2011.02345.x>.

HUME, M. E.; CORRIER, D. E.; AMBRUS, S.; HINTON, A.; DELOACH, J. R. Effectiveness of dietary propionic acid in controlling *Salmonella* Typhimurium colonization in broiler chicks. **Avian Diseases**, v. 37, n. 4, p. 1051, out. 1993. Disponível em: https://www.jstor.org/stable/1591912?origin=crossref>.

HUYGHEBAERT, G.; DUCATELLE, R.; IMMERSEEL, F. Van. An update on alternatives to antimicrobial growth promoters for broilers. **The Veterinary Journal**, v. 187, n. 2, p. 182–188, fev. 2011. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2010.03.003>.

IBA, A. M.; BERCHIERI, A. Studies on the use of a formic acid-propionic acid mixture (Bio-add[™]) to control experimental *Salmonella* infection in broiler chickens. **Avian Pathology**, v. 24, n. 2, p. 303–311, 12 jun. 1995. Disponível em: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/03079459508419071>.

ISABELLE, L.; ANDRÉ, L. Quantitative prediction of microbial behaviour during food processing using an integrated modelling approach: a review. **International Journal of Refrigeration**, v. 29, n. 6, p. 968–984, set. 2006. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140700706001010>.

JARQUIN, R.; HANNING, I.; AHN, S.; RICKE, S. Development of rapid detection and genetic characterization of salmonella in poultry breeder feeds. **Sensors**, v. 9, n. 7, p. 5308–5323, 6 jul. 2009. Disponível em:

<a>http://www.mdpi.com/1424-8220/9/7/5308>.

JONES, F. T. A review of practical *Salmonella* control measures in animal feed. **Journal of Applied Poultry Research**, v. 20, n. 1, p. 102–113, mar. 2011. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.3382/japr.2010-00281.

KANELLOS, T. S.; BURRIEL, A. R. The *in vitro* bactericidal effects of the food decontaminants lactic acid and trisodium phoshate. **Food Microbiology**, v. 22, n. 6, p. 591–594, dez. 2005. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0740002004001510>.

KHAN, R. U.; NAZ, S.; RAZIQ, F.; QUDRATULLAH, Q.; KHAN, N. A.; LAUDADIO, V.; TUFARELLI, V.; RAGNI, M. Prospects of organic acids as safe alternative to antibiotics in broiler chickens diet. **Environmental Science and**

Pollution Research, v. 29, n. 22, p. 32594–32604, 23 maio 2022. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-022-19241-8>.

KHAN, S. H.; IQBAL, J. Recent advances in the role of organic acids in poultry nutrition. **Journal of Applied Animal Research**, v. 44, n. 1, p. 359–369, 10 jan. 2016. Disponível em:

http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09712119.2015.1079527>

KOUTSOUMANIS, K.; ALLENDE, A.; ALVAREZ-ORDÓÑEZ, A.; BOLTON, D.; BOVER-CID, S.; CHEMALY, M.; DE CESARE, A.; HERMAN, L.; HILBERT, F.; LINDQVIST, R.; NAUTA, M.; PEIXE, L.; RU, G.; SIMMONS, M.; SKANDAMIS, P.; SUFFREDINI, E.; DEWULF, J.; HALD, T.; MICHEL, V.; NISKANEN, T.; RICCI, A.; SNARY, E.; BOELAERT, F.; MESSENS, W.; DAVIES, R. *Salmonella* control in poultry flocks and its public health impact. **EFSA Journal**, v. 17, n. 2, fev. 2019. Disponível em: <http://doi.wiley.com/10.2903/j.efsa.2019.5596>.

KUANG, X.; HAO, H.; DAI, M.; WANG, Y.; AHMAD, I.; LIU, Z.; ZONGHUI, Y. Serotypes and antimicrobial susceptibility of *Salmonella* spp. isolated from farm animals in China. **Frontiers in Microbiology**, v. 6, n. JUN, 22 jun. 2015. Disponível em: http://journal.frontiersin.org/Article/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00602/abstract.

KUMAR, S.; SINGH, M.; COSBY, D. E.; COX, N. A.; THIPPAREDDI, H. Efficacy of peroxy acetic acid in reducing *Salmonella* and *Campylobacter* spp. populations on chicken breast fillets. **Poultry Science**, v. 99, n. 5, p. 2655–2661, maio 2020. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2019.12.045>.

KWON, Y. M.; HA, S. D.; RICKE, S. C. Growth response of a *Salmonella* Typhimurium poultry isolate to propionic acid under aerobic and anaerobic conditions. **Journal of Food Safety**, v. 18, n. 2, p. 139–149, jul. 1998. Disponível em: ">http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1745-4565.1998.tb00209.x>.

KWON, Y. M.; RICKE, S. C. Induction of acid resistance of *Salmonella* Typhimurium by exposure to short-chain fatty acids. **Applied and environmental microbiology**, v. 64, n. 9, p. 3458–63, set. 1998a. Disponível em: .

KWON, Y. M.; RICKE, S. C. Survival of a *Salmonella* Typhimurium Poultry isolate in the presence of propionic acid under aerobic and anaerobic conditions. **Anaerobe**, v. 4, n. 6, p. 251–256, dez. 1998b. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1075996498901779>.

LAI, J.; WU, C.; WU, C.; QI, J.; WANG, Y.; WANG, H.; LIU, Y.; SHEN, J.

Serotype distribution and antibiotic resistance of *Salmonella* in food-producing animals in Shandong province of China, 2009 and 2012. **International Journal of Food Microbiology**, v. 180, p. 30–38, 2014. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2014.03.030>.

LAMAS, A.; MIRANDA, J. M.; REGAL, P.; VÁZQUEZ, B.; FRANCO, C. M.; CEPEDA, A. A comprehensive review of non-enterica subspecies of *Salmonella enterica*. **Microbiological Research**, v. 206, n. October 2017, p. 60–73, 2018. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2017.09.010>.

LEE, S. I.; KIM, H. S.; KIM, I. Microencapsulated organic acid blend with MCFAs can be used as analternative to antibiotics for laying hens. **TURKISH JOURNAL OF VETERINARY AND ANIMAL SCIENCES**, v. 39, n. 5, p. 520–527, 2015. Disponível em:

http://online.journals.tubitak.gov.tr/openDoiPdf.htm?mKodu=vet-1505-36>.

LEE, Y. J.; JUNG, B. S.; KIM, K.-T.; PAIK, H.-D. Predictive model for the growth kinetics of *Staphylococcus aureus* in raw pork developed using Integrated Pathogen Modeling Program (IPMP) 2013. **Meat Science**, v. 107, p. 20–25, set. 2015. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2015.04.006>.

LEÓN PELÁEZ, A. M.; SERNA CATAÑO, C. A.; QUINTERO YEPES, E. A.; GAMBA VILLARROEL, R. R.; DE ANTONI, G. L.; GIANNUZZI, L. Inhibitory activity of lactic and acetic acid on *Aspergillus flavus* growth for food preservation. **Food Control**, v. 24, n. 1–2, p. 177–183, mar. 2012. Disponível em: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2011.09.024>.

LETTINI, A. A.; VO THAN, T.; MARAFIN, E.; LONGO, A.; ANTONELLO, K.; ZAVAGNIN, P.; BARCO, L.; MANCIN, M.; CIBIN, V.; MORINI, M.; DANG THI SAO, M.; NGUYEN THI, T.; PHAM TRUNG, H.; LE, L.; NGUYEN DUC, T.; RICCI, A. Distribution of *Salmonella* serovars and antimicrobial susceptibility from poultry and swine farms in central Vietnam. **Zoonoses and Public Health**, v. 63, n. 7, p. 569– 576, nov. 2016. Disponível em: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/zph.12265>.

LEUNG, K. Y.; SIAME, B. A.; SNOWBALL, H.; MOK, Y. K. Type VI secretion regulation: Crosstalk and intracellular communication. **Current Opinion in Microbiology**, v. 14, n. 1, p. 9–15, 2011. Disponível em: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2010.09.017>.

LEVISON, M. E. Pharmacodynamics of antimicrobial drugs. **Infectious Disease Clinics of North America**, v. 18, n. 3, p. 451–465, set. 2004. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0891552004000753.

LI, K.; YE, S.; ALALI, W. Q.; WANG, Y.; WANG, X.; XIA, X.; YANG, B. Antimicrobial susceptibility, virulence gene and pulsed-field gel electrophoresis profiles of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium recovered from retail raw chickens, China. **Food Control**, v. 72, p. 36–42, fev. 2017. Disponível em: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2016.07.032>.

LI, Y.; YANG, Q.; CAO, C.; CUI, S.; WU, Y.; YANG, H.; XIAO, Y.; YANG, B. Prevalence and characteristics of *Salmonella* isolates recovered from retail raw chickens in Shaanxi Province, China. **Poultry Science**, v. 99, n. 11, p. 6031–6044, nov. 2020. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2020.07.038>.

LI, Y.; YANG, S.; MA, D.; SONG, W.; GAO, C.; LIU, L.; CHEN, X. Microbial

engineering for the production of C 2–C 6 organic acids. **Natural Product Reports**, 2021. Disponível em: http://xlink.rsc.org/?DOI=D0NP00062K>.

LIU, L.; ZHU, Y.; LI, J.; WANG, M.; LEE, P.; DU, G.; CHEN, J. Microbial production of propionic acid from propionibacteria: Current state, challenges and perspectives. v. 32, n. October 2011, p. 374–381, 2012a.

LIU, L.; ZHUGE, X.; SHIN, H.; CHEN, R. R.; LI, J.; DU, G.; CHEN, J. Improved Production of propionic acid in *Propionibacterium jensenii* via combinational overexpression of glycerol dehydrogenase and malate dehydrogenase from *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. **Applied and Environmental Microbiology**, v. 81, n. 7, p. 2256–2264, 1 abr. 2015. Disponível em: <http://aem.asm.org/lookup/doi/10.1128/AEM.03572-14>.

LIU, Z.; GE, Y.; XU, J.; GAO, C.; MA, C.; XU, P. Efficient production of propionic acid through high density culture with recycling cells of *Propionibacterium acidipropionici*. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 216, p. 856–861, 2016. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.06.023>.

LIU, Z.; MA, C.; GAO, C.; XU, P. Efficient utilization of hemicellulose hydrolysate for propionic acid production using *Propionibacterium acidipropionici*. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 114, p. 711–714, jun. 2012b. Disponível em: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.02.118>.

LONG, S. F.; XU, Y. T.; PAN, L.; WANG, Q. Q.; WANG, C. L.; WU, J. Y.; WU, Y. Y.; HAN, Y. M.; YUN, C. H.; PIAO, X. S. Mixed organic acids as antibiotic substitutes improve performance, serum immunity, intestinal morphology and microbiota for weaned piglets. **Animal Feed Science and Technology**, v. 235, n. August 2017, p. 23–32, jan. 2018. Disponível em: <https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0377840116311671>.

LONGHI, D. A.; DALCANTON, F.; ARAGÃO, G. M. F. de; CARCIOFI, B. A. M.; LAURINDO, J. B. Assessing the prediction ability of different mathematical models for the growth of *Lactobacillus plantarum* under non-isothermal conditions. **Journal of Theoretical Biology**, v. 335, p. 88–96, out. 2013. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0022519313003020>.

LONGHI, D. A.; MARTINS, W. F.; DA SILVA, N. B.; CARCIOFI, B. A. M.; DE ARAGÃO, G. M. F.; LAURINDO, J. B. Optimal experimental design for improving the estimation of growth parameters of *Lactobacillus viridescens* from data under non-isothermal conditions. **International Journal of Food Microbiology**, v. 240, p. 57–62, jan. 2017. Disponível em:

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S016816051630335X>.

LÓPEZ-MALO, A.; BARRETO-VALDIVIESO, J.; PALOU, E.; MARTÍN, F. S. *Aspergillus flavus* growth response to cinnamon extract and sodium benzoate mixtures. **Food Control**, v. 18, n. 11, p. 1358–1362, nov. 2007. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0956713506001204>.

LUNA-FLORES, C. H.; PALFREYMAN, R. W.; KRÖMER, J. O.; NIELSEN, L. K.; MARCELLIN, E. Improved production of propionic acid using genome shuffling. **Biotechnology Journal**, v. 12, n. 2, p. 1600120, fev. 2017. Disponível em: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/biot.201600120>.

MABELEBELE, M.; ALABI, O. J.; NG`AMBI, J. W.; NORRIS, D.; GININDZA,

M. M. Comparison of Gastrointestinal tracts and pH values of digestive organs of ross 308 broiler and indigenous venda chickens fed the same diet. **Asian Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances**, v. 9, n. 1, p. 71–76, 15 dez. 2013. Disponível em: https://www.scialert.net/abstract/?doi=ajava.2014.71.76>.

MACIOROWSKI, K. G.; HERRERA, P.; KUNDINGER, M. M.; RICKE, S. C. Animal feed production and contamination by foodborne *Salmonella*. **Journal für Verbraucherschutz und Lebensmittelsicherheit**, v. 1, n. 3, p. 197–209, ago. 2006. Disponível em: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00003-006-0036-z.

MAFART, P.; COUVERT, O.; GAILLARD, S.; LEGUERINEL, I. On calculating sterility in thermal preservation methods: application of the Weibull frequency distribution model. **Acta Horticulturae**, v. 566, n. 566, p. 107–114, dez. 2001. Disponível em: https://www.actahort.org/books/566/566_11.htm.

MAJOWICZ, S. E.; MUSTO, J.; SCALLAN, E.; ANGULO, F. J.; KIRK, M.; O'BRIEN, S. J.; JONES, T. F.; FAZIL, A.; HOEKSTRA, R. M. The Global Burden of Nontyphoidal *Salmonella* gastroenteritis. **Clinical Infectious Diseases**, v. 50, n. 6, p. 882–889, 15 mar. 2010. Disponível em: https://academic.oup.com/cid/article-lookup/doi/10.1086/650733>.

MANI-LÓPEZ, E.; GARCÍA, H. S.; LÓPEZ-MALO, A. Organic acids as antimicrobials to control *Salmonella* in meat and poultry products. **Food Research International**, v. 45, n. 2, p. 713–721, mar. 2012. Disponível em: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2011.04.043>.

MAPA. Instrução Normativa Nº 20, de 20 de Outubro de 2016. **Diário Oficial da União**, p. 13–16, 2016. Disponível em:

http://www.agricultura.gov.br/assuntos/inspecao/produtos-animal/controle-de-patogenos/arquivos-controle-de-patogenos/SalmonellalN202016Salmonella.pdf

MAPA. Instrução Normativa nº60, de 20 de dezembro de 2019. **Diário Oficial da União**, n. 249, p. 133–148, 2019a. Disponível em: <https://www.in.gov.br/web/dou/-/instrucao-normativa-n-60-de-23-de-dezembro-de-2019-235332356>.

MAPA. Anuário dos Programas de Controle de Alimentos de Origem Animal do DIPOA. Brasília: MINISTÉRIO DA AGRICULTURA, PECUÁRIA E ABASTECIMENTO, 2019b. v. 548 p.

MAPA. Instrução Normativa nº 1, de 13 de janeiro de 2020. **Diário Oficial da União**, p. 6, 2020a. Disponível em: <https://pesquisa.in.gov.br/imprensa/jsp/visualiza/index.jsp?data=23/01/2020&jornal= 515&pagina=6>.

MAPA. Substâncias proibidas. **Ministério da Agricultura, Pecuária e Abastecimento**, p. 2020, 2020b. Disponível em: .

MAPA. **Uso responsável de antimicrobianos**. Disponível em: https://www.gov.br/agricultura/pt-br/assuntos/insumos-agropecuarios/insumos-pecuarios/resistencia-aos-antimicrobianos/uso-responsavel-de-

antimicrobianos#:~:text=O uso incorreto de antimicrobianos,a utilização prudente dos antimicrobianos.>.

MAPA; SDA. Portaria Nº 171, de 13 de dezembro de 2018. **Diário Oficial da União**, p. 23, 2018.

MARKS, B. P. Status of microbial modeling in food process models. **Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety**, v. 7, n. 1, p. 137–143, jan. 2008. Disponível em: ">http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1541-4337.2007.00032.x>.

MARON, D.; SMITH, T. J. S.; NACHMAN, K. E. Restrictions on antimicrobial use in food animal production: an international regulatory and economic survey. **Globalization and Health**, v. 9, n. 1, p. 48, 2013. Disponível em: <Globalization and Health>.

MARSHALL, B. M.; LEVY, S. B. Food animals and antimicrobials: Impacts on human health. **Clinical Microbiology Reviews**, v. 24, n. 4, p. 718–733, 2011.

MATLHO, G.; HIMATHONGKHAM, S.; RIEMANN, H.; KASS, P. Destruction of *Salmonella* Enteritidis in poultry feed by combination of heat and propionic acid. **Avian Diseases**, v. 41, n. 1, p. 58, jan. 1997. Disponível em: <https://www.jstor.org/stable/1592443?origin=crossref>.

MCKELLAR, R.; LU, X. Primary Models. *In*: MCKELLAR, R. C.; LU, X. **Modeling Microbial Responses in Food**. 1. ed. New York: CRC Press, 2003. p. 21–62.

MELO, A. N. F. de; SOUZA, G. T. de; SCHAFFNER, D.; OLIVEIRA, T. C. M. de; MACIEL, J. F.; SOUZA, E. L. de; MAGNANI, M. Changes in thermo-tolerance and survival under simulated gastrointestinal conditions of Salmonella Enteritidis PT4 and *Salmonella* Typhimurium PT4 in chicken breast meat after exposure to sequential stresses. **International Journal of Food Microbiology**, v. 251, p. 15–23, jun. 2017. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2017.03.022>.

MEMBRÉ, J.-M.; LAMBERT, R. J. W. Application of predictive modelling techniques in industry: From food design up to risk assessment. **International Journal of Food Microbiology**, v. 128, n. 1, p. 10–15, nov. 2008. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2008.07.006>.

MENCONI, A.; SHIVARAMAIAH, S.; HUFF, G. R.; PRADO, O.; MORALES, J. E.; PUMFORD, N. R.; MORGAN, M.; WOLFENDEN, A.; BIELKE, L. R.; HARGIS, B. M.; TELLEZ, G. Effect of different concentrations of acetic, citric, and propionic acid dipping solutions on bacterial contamination of raw chicken skin. **Poultry Science**, v. 92, n. 8, p. 2216–2220, ago. 2013. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.3382/ps.2013-03172>.

MENEZES-BLACKBURN, D.; GABLER, S.; GREINER, R. Performance of seven commercial phytases in an *in vitro* simulation of poultry digestive tract. **Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry**, v. 63, n. 27, p. 6142–6149, 15 jul. 2015. Disponível em: https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.jafc.5b01996>.

MENGARDA BUOSI, D. T.; DE MORAES, J. O.; CHENG, Y.; CHENG, R. A.; MORARU, C. I.; CARCIOFI, B. A. M. Effective pulsed light treatments for inactivating *Salmonella enterica* serotypes. **Food Control**, v. 135, n. July 2021, p. 108776, maio 2022. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2021.108776, MEZAL, E. H.; STEFANOVA, R.; KHAN, A. A. Isolation and molecular characterization of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Javiana from food, environmental and clinical samples. **International Journal of Food Microbiology**, v. 164, n. 1, p. 113–118, jun. 2013. Disponível em:

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2013.03.021>.

MIARELLI, M.; DRUMO, R.; SIGNORELLI, F.; MARCHITELLI, C.; PAVONE, S.; PESCIAROLI, M.; RUGGIERI, J.; CHIRULLO, B.; AMMENDOLA, S.; BATTISTONI, A.; ALBORALI, G. L.; MANUALI, E.; PASQUALI, P. *Salmonella* Typhimurium infection primes a nutriprive mechanism in piglets. **Veterinary Microbiology**, v. 186, p. 117–125, 2016. Disponível em: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2016.02.006>.

MILILLO, S. R.; RICKE, S. C. Synergistic reduction of *Salmonella* in a model raw chicken media using a combined thermal and acidified organic acid salt intervention treatment. **Journal of Food Science**, v. 75, n. 2, p. M121–M125, mar. 2010. Disponível em: ">http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2009.01510.x>.

MOORE, A.; NANNAPANENI, R.; KIESS, A.; SHARMA, C. S. Evaluation of USDA approved antimicrobials on the reduction of *Salmonella* and *Campylobacter* in ground chicken frames and their effect on meat quality. **Poultry Science**, v. 96, n. 7, p. 2385–2392, jul. 2017. Disponível em:

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0032579119314324>.

MS/SVS. Informe Semanal Sarampo – Brasil, Semanas Epidemiológicas 1 a 25, 2020. **Boletins Epidemiológicos**, v. 51, n. 21, p. 1–30, 2020. Disponível em: <www.saude.gov.br/svs>.

MÜHLIG, A.; BEHR, J.; SCHERER, S.; MÜLLER-HERBST, S. Stress Response of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium to acidified nitrite. **Applied and Environmental Microbiology**, v. 80, n. 20, p. 6373–6382, 15 out. 2014. Disponível em: http://aem.asm.org/lookup/doi/10.1128/AEM.01696-14>.

MURPHY, D.; RICCI, A.; AUCE, Z.; BEECHINOR, J. G.; BERGENDAHL, H.; BREATHNACH, R.; BUREŠ, J.; DUARTE DA SILVA, J. P.; HEDEROVÁ, J.; HEKMAN, P.; IBRAHIM, C.; KOZHUHAROV, E.; KULCSÁR, G.; LANDER PERSSON, E.; LENHARDSSON, J. M.; MAČIULSKIS, P.; MALEMIS, I.; MARKUS-CIZELJ, L.; MICHAELIDOU-PATSIA, A.; NEVALAINEN, M.; PASQUALI, P.; ROUBY, J.; SCHEFFERLIE, J.; SCHLUMBOHM, W.; SCHMIT, M.; SPITERI, S.; SRČIČ, S.; TABAN, L.; TIIRATS, T.; URBAIN, B.; VESTERGAARD, E.; WACHNIK-ŚWIĘCICKA, A.; WEEKS, J.; ZEMANN, B.; ALLENDE, A.; BOLTON, D.; CHEMALY, M.; FERNANDEZ ESCAMEZ, P. S.; GIRONES, R.; HERMAN, L.; KOUTSOUMANIS, K.; LINDQVIST, R.; NØRRUNG, B.; ROBERTSON, L.; RU, G.; SANAA, M.; SIMMONS, M.; SKANDAMIS, P.; SNARY, E.; SPEYBROECK, N.; TER KUILE, B.; WAHLSTRÖM. H.: BAPTISTE. K.: CATRY. B.: COCCONCELLI. P. S.: DAVIES. R.: DUCROT, C.; FRIIS, C.; JUNGERSEN, G.; MORE, S.; MUÑOZ MADERO, C.; SANDERS, P.; BOS, M.; KUNSAGI, Z.; TORREN EDO, J.; BROZZI, R.; CANDIANI, D.; GUERRA, B.; LIEBANA, E.; STELLA, P.; THRELFALL, J.; JUKES, H. EMA and EFSA Joint Scientific Opinion on measures to reduce the need to use antimicrobial agents in animal husbandry in the European Union, and the resulting impacts on food safety (RONAFA). EFSA Journal, v. 15, n. 1, jan. 2017. Disponível em: <http://doi.wiley.com/10.2903/j.efsa.2017.4666>.

NAVA, G. M.; ATTENE-RAMOS, M. S.; GASKINS, H. R.; RICHARDS, J. D.

Molecular analysis of microbial community structure in the chicken ileum following organic acid supplementation. **Veterinary Microbiology**, v. 137, n. 3–4, p. 345–353, jun. 2009. Disponível em:

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S037811350900073X>.

NETO, W. S.; LEOTTI, V. B.; PIRES, S. M.; HALD, T.; CORBELLINI, L. G. Non-typhoidal human salmonellosis in Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil: A combined source attribution study of microbial subtyping and outbreak data. **International Journal of Food Microbiology**, v. 338, n. January 2020, p. 108992, jan. 2021. Disponível em: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2020.108992>.

NG, W. K.; KOH, C. B.; TEOH, C. Y.; ROMANO, N. Farm-raised tiger shrimp, *Penaeus monodon*, fed commercial feeds with added organic acids showed enhanced nutrient utilization, immune response and resistance to *Vibrio harveyi* challenge. **Aquaculture**, v. 449, p. 69–77, 2015. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2015.02.006>.

NHUNG, N. T.; VAN, N. T. B.; CUONG, N. Van; DUONGB, T. T. Q.; NHAT, T. T.; HANG, T. T. T.; NHI, N. T. H.; KIET, B. T.; HIEN, V. B.; NGOC, P. T.; CAMPBELL, J.; THWAITES, G.; CARRIQUE-MAS, J. Antimicrobial residues and resistance against critically important antimicrobials in non-typhoidal *Salmonella* from meat sold at wet markets and supermarkets in Vietnam. **International Journal of Food Microbiology**, v. 266, n. August 2017, p. 301–309, 2018. Disponível em: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2017.12.015>.

NIKHIL, K. C.; NOATIA, L.; PRIYADARSINI, S.; PASHUPATHI, M.; GALI, J. M.; ALI, M. A.; BEHERA, S. K.; SHARMA, B.; ROYCHOUDHURY, P.; KUMAR, A.; BEHERA, P. Recoding anaerobic regulator fnr of *Salmonella* Typhimurium attenuates it's pathogenicity. **Microbial Pathogenesis**, v. 168, n. May, p. 105591, jul. 2022. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2022.105591>.

NOURMOHAMMADI, R.; HOSSEINI, S. M.; FARHANGFAR, H.; BASHTANI, M. Effect of citric acid and microbial phytase enzyme on ileal digestibility of some nutrients in broiler chicks fed corn-soybean meal diets. **Italian Journal of Animal Science**, v. 11, n. 1, p. 36–40, 2012.

OECD; FAO. **OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook 2015-2024**. 20. ed. [s.l.] OECD, 2015. 1–327 p.

OLAIMAT, A. N.; AL-HOLY, M. A.; ABU GHOUSH, M. H.; AL-NABULSI, A. A.; QATATSHEH, A. A.; SHAHBAZ, H. M.; OSAILI, T. M.; HOLLEY, R. A. The use of malic and acetic acids in washing solution to control *Salmonella* spp. on chicken breast. **Journal of Food Science**, v. 83, n. 8, p. 2197–2203, ago. 2018. Disponível em: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/1750-3841.14286>.

OLIVEIRA, G. R.; OLIVEIRA, W. K.; ANDRADE, C.; MELO, A. D. B.; LUCIANO, F. B.; MACEDO, R. E. F.; COSTA, L. B. Natural antimicrobials for control of *Salmonella* Enteritidis in feed and *in vitro* model of the chicken digestive process. **Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition**, v. 103, n. 3, p. 756–765, 13 maio 2019. Disponível em:

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/jpn.13070>.

OSOWSKI, G. V.; BARON, L. F.; CODEBELLA, A.; FONSECA, F. N.; MOTA, S. C. A.; DEGENHARDT, R.; DUARTE, S. C. Comparative study of egg contamination with *Salmonella* Heidelberg and *Salmonella* Typhimurium. **Brazilian**

Journal of Veterinary Research and Animal Science, v. 56, n. 1, p. e150479, 11 jul. 2019. Disponível em: http://www.revistas.usp.br/bjvras/article/view/150479.

OUR WORLD IN DATA. **Poultry production, 1961 to 2020**. Disponível em: https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/poultry-production-tonnes?tab=chart&time=1961..latest.

PAGANINI, C. C.; LONGHI, D. A.; DE ARAGÃO, G. M. F.; CARCIOFI, B. A. M. Modelling the inactivation, survival and growth of *Salmonella enterica* under osmotic stress considering inoculum phase and serotype. **Journal of Applied Microbiology**, v. 132, n. 5, p. 3973–3986, 1 maio 2022. Disponível em: https://academic.oup.com/jambio/article/132/5/3973/6988675>.

PANDA, A. K.; RAO, S. V. R.; RAJU, M. V. L. N.; SUNDER, G. S. Effect of butyric acid on performance, gastrointestinal tract health and carcass characteristics in broiler chickens. **Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences**, v. 22, n. 7, p. 1026–1031, 25 jun. 2009. Disponível em:

http://ajas.info/journal/view.php?doi=10.5713/ajas.2009.80298>.

PAPATSIROS, V. G.; KATSOULOS, P. D.; KOUTOULIS, K. C.; KARATZIA, M.; DEDOUSI, A.; CHRISTODOULOPOULOS, G. Alternatives to antibiotics for farm animals. **CABI Reviews**, v. 2013, n. 032, p. 1–15, 3 abr. 2013. Disponível em: http://cabidigitallibrary.org/doi/10.1079/PAVSNNR20138032>.

PARIZZI, L. P.; GRASSI, M. C. B.; LLERENA, L. A.; CARAZZOLLE, M. F.; QUEIROZ, V. L.; LUNARDI, I.; ZEIDLER, A. F.; TEIXEIRA, P. J.; MIECZKOWSKI, P.; RINCONES, J.; PEREIRA, G. A. The genome sequence of *Propionibacterium acidipropionici* provides insights into its biotechnological and industrial potential. **BMC Genomics**, v. 13, n. 1, p. 562, 2012. Disponível em: <http://bmcgenomics.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-2164-13-562>.

PARK, J. H.; KANG, M. S.; PARK, K. M.; LEE, H. Y.; OK, G. S.; KOO, M. S.; HONG, S. I.; KIM, H. J. A dynamic predictive model for the growth of *Salmonella* spp. and *Staphylococcus aureus* in fresh egg yolk and scenario-based risk estimation. **Food Control**, v. 118, n. February, p. 107421, dez. 2020. Disponível em: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2020.107421>.

PARRY, C. M.; THRELFALL, E. Antimicrobial resistance in typhoidal and nontyphoidal *Salmonella*. **Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases**, v. 21, n. 5, p. 531–538, out. 2008. Disponível em: http://journals.lww.com/00001432-200810000-00014>.

PEH, E.; KITTLER, S.; REICH, F.; KEHRENBERG, C. Antimicrobial activity of organic acids against *Campylobacter* spp. and development of combinations: A synergistic effect? **PLOS ONE**, v. 15, n. 9, p. e0239312, 17 set. 2020. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0239312>.

PHILLIPS, I.; BERGAN, J. A. T.; DEGENER, J.; BAQUERO, F.; FORSGREN, A.; SCHITO, G.; WIEDEMANN, B. Methods for the determination of susceptibility of bacteria to antimicrobial agents. Terminology. **Clinical Microbiology and Infection**, v. 4, n. 5, p. 291–296, maio 1998. Disponível em: <https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1198743X14650473>.

PIVA, A.; MORLACCHINI, M.; CASADEI, G.; GATTA, P. P.; BIAGI, G.; PRANDINI, A. Sodium butyrate improves growth performance of weaned piglets

during the first period after weaning. **Italian Journal of Animal Science**, v. 1, n. 1, p. 35–41, jan. 2002. Disponível em:

http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.4081/ijas.2002.35>.

PIVETEAU, P. Metabolism of lactate and sugars by dairy propionibacteria: A review. **Le Lait**, v. 79, n. 1, p. 23–41, 1999. Disponível em: http://www.edpsciences.org/10.1051/lait:199912>.

PIWOWAREK, K.; LIPIŃSKA, E.; HAĆ-SZYMAŃCZUK, E.; RUDZIAK, A.; KIELISZEK, M. Optimization of propionic acid production in apple pomace extract with *Propionibacterium freudenreichii*. **Preparative Biochemistry and Biotechnology**, v. 49, n. 10, p. 974–986, 26 nov. 2019. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.1080/10826068.2019.1650376>.

POLYCARPO, G. V.; ANDRETTA, I.; KIPPER, M.; CRUZ-POLYCARPO, V. C.; DADALT, J. C.; RODRIGUES, P. H. M.; ALBUQUERQUE, R. Meta-analytic study of organic acids as an alternative performance-enhancing feed additive to antibiotics for broiler chickens. **Poultry Science**, v. 96, n. 10, p. 3645–3653, out. 2017. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0032579119315792>.

POPOFF, M. Y.; LE MINOR, L. E. *Salmonella*. *In*: W.B. WHITMAN, F. RAINEY, P. KÄMPFER, M. TRUJILLO, J. CHUN, P. DEVOS, B. H. AND S. D. **Bergey's Manual of Systematics of Archaea and Bacteria**. Chichester, UK: Wiley, 2015. p. 1–1.

POSSAS, A.; VALERO, A.; PÉREZ-RODRÍGUEZ, F. New software solutions for microbiological food safety assessment and management. **Current Opinion in Food Science**, v. 44, p. 100814, abr. 2022. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S2214799322000169.

PRADHAN, A. K.; LI, M.; LI, Y.; KELSO, L. C.; COSTELLO, T. A.; JOHNSON, M. G. A modified Weibull model for growth and survival of *Listeria innocua* and *Salmonella* Typhimurium in chicken breasts during refrigerated and frozen storage. **Poultry Science**, v. 91, n. 6, p. 1482–1488, jun. 2012. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S003257911940271X.

PRAVASI, S. D. Acetic Acid. *In*: **Encyclopedia of Toxicology**. [s.l.] Elsevier, 2014. p. 33–35.

QIAN, J.; WANG, C.; ZHUANG, H.; ZHANG, J.; YAN, W. Oxidative stress responses of pathogen bacteria in poultry to plasma-activated lactic acid solutions. **Food Control**, v. 118, n. May, p. 107355, dez. 2020. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2020.107355>.

RAJAN, K.; SHI, Z.; RICKE, S. C. Current aspects of *Salmonella* contamination in the US poultry production chain and the potential application of risk strategies in understanding emerging hazards. **Critical Reviews in Microbiology**, v. 43, n. 3, p. 370–392, 4 maio 2017. Disponível em: .

RAMIREZ-HERNANDEZ, A.; BRASHEARS, M. M.; SANCHEZ-PLATA, M. X. Efficacy of lactic acid, lactic acid, acetic acid blends, and peracetic acid to reduce *Salmonella* on Chicken parts under simulated commercial processing conditions. **Journal of Food Protection**, v. 81, n. 1, p. 17–24, jan. 2018. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-17-087.

RANJBARAN, M.; CARCIOFI, B. A. M.; DATTA, A. K. Engineering modeling frameworks for microbial food safety at various scales. **Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety**, v. 20, n. 5, p. 4213–4249, 5 set. 2021. Disponível em: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/1541-4337.12818>.

RATKOWSKY, D. A.; OLLEY, J.; MCMEEKIN, T. A.; BALL, A. Relationship between temperature and growth rate of bacterial cultures. **Journal of Bacteriology**, v. 149, n. 1, p. 1–5, jan. 1982. Disponível em: <https://journals.asm.org/doi/10.1128/jb.149.1.1-5.1982>.

REIS, R. O. dos; SOUZA, M. N.; CECCONI, M. C. P.; TIMM, L.; IKUTA, N.; SIMON, D.; WOLF, J. M.; LUNGE, V. R. Increasing prevalence and dissemination of invasive nontyphoidal *Salmonella* serotype Typhimurium with multidrug resistance in hospitalized patients from southern Brazil. **The Brazilian Journal of Infectious Diseases**, v. 22, n. 5, p. 424–432, set. 2018. Disponível em: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bjid.2018.08.002>.

RICHARDSON, K. E.; COX, N. A.; COSBY, D. E.; BERRANG, M. E. Impact of desiccation and heat exposure stress on *Salmonella* tolerance to acidic conditions. **Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part B**, v. 53, n. 2, p. 141–144, 27 fev. 2018. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.1080/03601234.2017.1397467>.

RICKE, S. The gastrointestinal tract ecology of *Salmonella* enteritidis colonization in molting hens. **Poultry Science**, v. 82, n. 6, p. 1003–1007, jun. 2003. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ps/82.6.1003.

RICKE, S. C. Ensuring the safety of poultry feed. *In*: Food Safety Control in the Poultry Industry. [s.l.] Elsevier, 2005. p. 174–194.

RODPAI, E.; MOONGKARNDI, P.; TUNGRUGSASUT, W.; PHISANNORADEJ, R.; KANARAT, S. Comparison of multiplex polymerase chain reaction and immunoassay to detect *Salmonella* spp., *S*. Typhimurium, and *S*. Enteritidis in thai chicken meat. **ScienceAsia**, v. 39, n. 2, p. 150, 2013. Disponível em: http://www.scienceasia.org/content/viewabstract.php?ms=3714>.

RODRIGUES, G. L.; PANZENHAGEN, P.; FERRARI, R. G.; PASCHOALIN, V. M. F.; CONTE-JUNIOR, C. A. Antimicrobial resistance in nontyphoidal *Salmonella* isolates from human and swine sources in Brazil: A Systematic Review of the Past Three Decades. **Microbial Drug Resistance**, v. 26, n. 10, p. 1260–1270, 1 out. 2020. Disponível em: https://www.liebertpub.com/doi/10.1089/mdr.2019.0475>.

RODRIGUES, I.; CHOCT, M. The foregut and its manipulation via feeding practices in the chicken. **Poultry Science**, v. 97, n. 9, p. 3188–3206, set. 2018. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0032579119308661>.

RODRIGUEZ, B. A.; STOWERS, C. C.; PHAM, V.; COX, B. M. The production of propionic acid, propanol and propylene via sugar fermentation: An industrial perspective on the progress, technical challenges and future outlook. **Green Chem.**, v. 16, n. 3, p. 1066–1076, 2014. Disponível em: http://xlink.rsc.org/?DOI=C3GC42000K>.

RÖHE, I.; RUHNKE, I.; KNORR, F.; MADER, A.; BOROOJENI, F. G.; LÖWE, R.; ZENTEK, J. Effects of grinding method, particle size, and physical form of the diet on gastrointestinal morphology and jejunal glucose transport in laying hens. **Poultry Science**, v. 93, n. 8, p. 2060–2068, ago. 2014. Disponível em:

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0032579119384779>.

ROSS, T. Indices for performance evaluation of predictive models in food microbiology. **Journal of Applied Bacteriology**, v. 81, n. 5, p. 501–508, nov. 1996. Disponível em: ">http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1365-2672.1996.tb03539.x>.

ROSS, T.; MCMEEKIN, T. A. Predictive microbiology. **International Journal of Food Microbiology**, v. 23, n. 3–4, p. 241–264, nov. 1994. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/0168160594901554>.

ROUSE, J.; ROLOW, A.; NELSON, C. E. Research note: Effect of Chemical treatment of poultry feed on survival of *Salmonella*. **Poultry Science**, v. 67, n. 8, p. 1225–1228, ago. 1988. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.3382/ps.0671225.

RYAN, M. P.; O'DWYER, J.; ADLEY, C. C. Evaluation of the complex nomenclature of the clinically and veterinary significant pathogen *Salmonella*. **BioMed Research International**, v. 2017, p. 1–6, 2017. Disponível em: https://www.hindawi.com/journals/bmri/2017/3782182/.

RYCHLIK, I.; BARROW, P. A. *Salmonella* stress management and its relevance to behaviour during intestinal colonisation and infection. **FEMS Microbiology Reviews**, v. 29, n. 5, p. 1021–1040, nov. 2005. Disponível em: https://academic.oup.com/femsre/article-lookup/doi/10.1016/j.femsre.2005.03.005>.

SALEEM, G.; RAMZAAN, R.; KHATTAK, F.; AKHTAR, R. Effects of acetic acid supplementation in broiler chickens orallychallenged with *Salmonella* Pullorum. **TURKISH JOURNAL OF VETERINARY AND ANIMAL SCIENCES**, v. 40, n. 4, p. 434–443, 2016. Disponível em:

https://journals.tubitak.gov.tr/veterinary/vol40/iss4/10.

SALOMONSSON, A.-C.; ASPAN, A.; JOHANSSON, S.; HEINO, A.; HAGGBLOM, P. *Salmonella* detection by polymerase chain reaction after preenrichment of feed samples. **Journal of Rapid Methods and Automation in Microbiology**, v. 13, n. 2, p. 96–110, jun. 2005. Disponível em: <http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1745-4581.2005.00012.x>.

SANDERSON, K. E. S. N. Taxonomy and species concepts in the genus *Salmonella*. *In*: BARROW, P. A. U. M. *Salmonella* in Domestic Animals. 2. ed. Wallingford: CABI, 2013.

SAXENA, R. K.; SARAN, S.; ISAR, J.; KAUSHIK, R. production and applications of succinic acid. *In*: **Current Developments in Biotechnology and Bioengineering**. [s.l.] Elsevier, 2017. p. 601–630.

SCICUTELLA, F.; MANNELLI, F.; DAGHIO, M.; VITI, C.; BUCCIONI, A. Polyphenols and Organic Acids as alternatives to antimicrobials in poultry rearing: A review. **Antibiotics**, v. 10, n. 8, p. 1010, 20 ago. 2021. Disponível em: <https://www.mdpi.com/2079-6382/10/8/1010>.

SEMENOV, A. V.; VAN OVERBEEK, L.; TERMORSHUIZEN, A. J.; VAN BRUGGEN, A. H. C. Influence of aerobic and anaerobic conditions on survival of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium in Luria– bertani broth, farm-yard manure and slurry. **Journal of Environmental Management**, v. 92, n. 3, p. 780–787, mar. 2011. Disponível em: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2010.10.031>.

SENKOYLU, N.; SAMLI, H.; KANTER, M.; AGMA, A. Influence of a

combination of formic and propionic acids added to wheat and barley-based diets on the performance and gut histomorphology of broiler chickens. **Acta Veterinaria Hungarica**, v. 55, n. 4, p. 479–490, 1 dez. 2007. Disponível em: https://akjournals.com/doi/10.1556/avet.55.2007.4.7.

SHCARFF, R. L. Food attribution and economic cost estimates for meat and poultry-related illnesses. **Journal of Food Protection**, v. 83, n. 6, p. 959–967, 1 jun. 2020. Disponível em:

<https://meridian.allenpress.com/jfp/article/83/6/959/426022/Food-Attribution-and-Economic-Cost-Estimates-for>.

SILVA, E.; DUARTE, A. *Salmonella* Enteritidis em aves: Retrospectiva no Brasil. **Revista Brasileira de Ciência Avícola**, v. 4, n. 2, p. 85–100, 2002.

SINGH DHILLON, G.; KAUR BRAR, S.; VERMA, M.; TYAGI, R. D. Recent advances in citric acid bio-production and recovery. **Food and Bioprocess Technology**, v. 4, n. 4, p. 505–529, 14 maio 2011. Disponível em: <http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11947-010-0399-0>.

SKŘIVANOVÁ, E.; MOLATOVÁ, Z.; MATĚNOVÁ, M.; HOUF, K.; MAROUNEK, M. Inhibitory effect of organic acids on arcobacters in culture and their use for control of *Arcobacter butzleri* on chicken skin. **International Journal of Food Microbiology**, v. 144, n. 3, p. 367–371, jan. 2011. Disponível em: <https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0168160510005921>.

SOARES, Darlane Wellen Freitas. **Produção e caracterização de biossurfactantes obtidos por linhagens de Bacillus spp. isoladas de estações de tratamento de águas residuais e de solo de manguezais.** 2014. 202 f. Tese (Doutorado) - Curso Engenharia Química, Universidade Federal do Ceará, Fortaleza, 2014. Disponível em: https://repositorio.ufc.br/handle/riufc/11034>.

SOHAIB, M.; ANJUM, F. M.; ARSHAD, M. S.; RAHMAN, U. U. Postharvest intervention technologies for safety enhancement of meat and meat based products; a critical review. **Journal of Food Science and Technology**, v. 53, n. 1, p. 19–30, 25 jan. 2016. Disponível em: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s13197-015-1985-y>.

SOO LEE, I.; LIN, J.; HALL, H. K.; BEARSON, B.; FOSTER, J. W. The stationary-phase sigma factor Sigma S (RpoS) is required for a sustained acid tolerance response in virulent *Salmonella* Typhimurium. **Molecular Microbiology**, v. 17, n. 1, p. 155–167, jul. 1995. Disponível em:

http://aem.asm.org.ezproxyd.bham.ac.uk/content/61/5/2037.long [Accessed on 25/07/2016]>.

SOUZA, R. C. de; HABERBECK, L. U.; RIELLA, H. G.; RIBEIRO, D. H. B.; CARCIOFI, B. A. M. Antibacterial activity of zinc oxide nanoparticles synthesized by solochemical process. **Brazilian Journal of Chemical Engineering**, v. 36, n. 2, p. 885–893, jun. 2019. Disponível em:

">http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0104-66322019000200885&tlng=en>">http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0104-66322019000200885&tlng=en>">http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0104-66322019000200885&tlng=en>">http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0104-66322019000200885&tlng=en>">http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0104-66322019000200885&tlng=en>">http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0104-66322019000200885&tlng=en>">http://www.scielo.br/sci

SPECTOR, M. P.; KENYON, W. J. Resistance and survival strategies of *Salmonella enterica* to environmental stresses. **Food Research International**, v. 45, n. 2, p. 455–481, mar. 2012. Disponível em:

<a>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2011.06.056>.

STEVE YAN, S.; PENDRAK, M. L.; ABELA-RIDDER, B.; PUNDERSON, J. W.; FEDORKO, D. P.; FOLEY, S. L. An overview of *Salmonella* typing: Public health perspectives. **Clinical and Applied Immunology Reviews**, v. 4, n. 3, p. 189–204, fev. 2004. Disponível em:

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1529104903000850>.

STOKSTAD, E. L. R.; JUKES, T. H. Further Observations on the "Animal Protein Factor". **Experimental Biology and Medicine**, v. 73, n. 3, p. 523–528, 1 mar. 1950. Disponível em: http://ebm.sagepub.com/lookup/doi/10.3181/00379727-73-17731>.

STOWERS, C. C.; COX, B. M.; RODRIGUEZ, B. A. Development of an industrializable fermentation process for propionic acid production. **Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology**, v. 41, n. 5, p. 837–852, 1 maio 2014a. Disponível em: https://academic.oup.com/jimb/article/41/5/837/5995219>.

SVIHUS, B. Function of the digestive system. **Journal of Applied Poultry Research**, v. 23, n. 2, p. 306–314, jun. 2014. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.3382/japr.2014-00937>.

SWAGGERTY, C. L.; ARSENAULT, R. J.; JOHNSON, C.; PIVA, A.; GRILLI, E. Dietary supplementation with a microencapsulated blend of organic acids and botanicals alters the kinome in the ileum and jejunum of *Gallus gallus*. **PLOS ONE**, v. 15, n. 7, p. e0236950, 30 jul. 2020. Disponível em: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0236950>.

TACK, D. M.; MARDER, E. P.; GRIFFIN, P. M.; CIESLAK, P. R.; DUNN, J.; HURD, S.; SCALLAN, E.; LATHROP, S.; MUSE, A.; RYAN, P.; SMITH, K.; TOBIN-D'ANGELO, M.; VUGIA, D. J.; HOLT, K. G.; WOLPERT, B. J.; TAUXE, R.; GEISSLER, A. L. Preliminary incidence and trends of infections with pathogens transmitted commonly through food: Foodborne diseases active surveillance Network, 10 U.S. sites, 2015–2018. **American Journal of Transplantation**, v. 19, n. 6, p. 1859–1863, 28 jun. 2019. Disponível em:

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/ajt.15412.

TAOUKIS, P. Use of time-temperature integrators and predictive modelling for shelf life control of chilled fish under dynamic storage conditions. **International Journal of Food Microbiology**, v. 53, n. 1, p. 21–31, 1 dez. 1999. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0168160599001427.

TARLAK, F.; OZDEMIR, M.; MELIKOGLU, M. Mathematical modelling of temperature effect on growth kinetics of *Pseudomonas* spp. on sliced mushroom (*Agaricus bisporus*). **International Journal of Food Microbiology**, v. 266, n. October 2017, p. 274–281, fev. 2018. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2017.12.017>.

THOMPSON, J. L.; HINTON, M. Antibacterial activity of formic and propionic acids in the diet of hens on *Salmonella* in the crop. **British Poultry Science**, v. 38, n. 1, p. 59–65, mar. 1997. Disponível em:

http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00071669708417941>.

TIRLONI, E.; STELLA, S.; BERNARDI, C.; ROSSHAUG, P. S. A new predictive model for the description of the growth of *Salmonella* spp. in Italian fresh ricotta cheese. **Lwt**, v. 143, n. February, p. 111163, 2021. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2021.111163>.

TU, L. T. P.; HOANG, N. V. M.; CUONG, N. V.; CAMPBELL, J.; BRYANT, J. E.; HOA, N. T.; KIET, B. T.; THOMPSON, C.; DUY, D. T.; PHAT, V. V.; HIEN, V. B.; THWAITES, G.; BAKER, S.; CARRIQUE-MAS, J. J. High levels of contamination and antimicrobial-resistant non-typhoidal *Salmonella* serovars on pig and poultry farms in the Mekong Delta of Vietnam. **Epidemiology and Infection**, v. 143, n. 14, p. 3074–3086, 17 out. 2015. Disponível em:

">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0950268815000102/type/journal_article>">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S09502688150000000">https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S09502688150000</article>">https://wwww.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S095000">></article

UPADHAYA, S. D.; LEE, K. Y.; KIM, I. H. Protected Organic acid blends as an alternative to antibiotics in finishing pigs. **Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences**, v. 27, n. 11, p. 1600–1607, 16 out. 2014. Disponível em: <http://ajas.info/journal/view.php?doi=10.5713/ajas.2014.14356>.

USDA. Livestock and poultry: World markets and trade. **United States Department of Agriculture and Foreign Agricultural Service**, p. 31, 2020. Disponível em: http://apps.fas.usda.gov/psdonline/circulars/livestock_poultry.PDF>.

USDA. Livestock and poultry: World markets and trade. **United States Department of Agriculture and Foreign Agricultural Service**, p. 31, 2021. Disponível em: http://apps.fas.usda.gov/psdonline/circulars/livestock_poultry.PDF>.

VAN BOEKEL, M. On the use of the Weibull model to describe thermal inactivation of microbial vegetative cells. **International Journal of Food Microbiology**, v. 74, n. 1–2, p. 139–159, 25 mar. 2002. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0168160501007425.

VAN IMMERSEEL, F.; RUSSELL, J. B.; FLYTHE, M. D.; GANTOIS, I.; TIMBERMONT, L.; PASMANS, F.; HAESEBROUCK, F.; DUCATELLE, R. The use of organic acids to combat *Salmonella* in poultry: A mechanistic explanation of the efficacy. **Avian Pathology**, v. 35, n. 3, p. 182–188, 18 jun. 2006. Disponível em: <http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/03079450600711045>.

VON ENGELHARDT, W.; RÖNNAU, K.; RECHKEMMER, G.; SAKATA, T. Absorption of short-chain fatty acids and their role in the hindgut of monogastric animals. **Animal Feed Science and Technology**, v. 23, n. 1–3, p. 43–53, abr. 1989. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/0377840189900886>.

WALES, A. D.; ALLEN, V. M.; DAVIES, R. H. Chemical treatment of animal feed and water for the control of *Salmonella*. **Foodborne Pathogens and Disease**, v. 7, n. 1, p. 3–15, jan. 2010. Disponível em: http://www.liebertpub.com/doi/10.1089/fpd.2009.0373>.

WALES, A. D.; DAVIES, R. H. A critical review of *Salmonella* Typhimurium infection in laying hens. **Avian Pathology**, v. 40, n. 5, p. 429–436, out. 2011. Disponível em:

http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/03079457.2011.606799>

WANG, J.; LIN, M.; XU, M.; YANG, S.-T. Anaerobic fermentation for production of carboxylic acids as bulk chemicals from renewable biomass. *In*: **Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology**. [s.l: s.n.]p. 323–361.

WANG, P.; JIAO, Y.; LIU, S. Novel fermentation process strengthening strategy for production of propionic acid and vitamin B12 by *Propionibacterium freudenreichii*. Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology, v. 41, n. 12,

p. 1811–1815, 2014.

WANG, P.; WANG, Y.; LIU, Y.; SHI, H.; SU, Z. Novel *in situ* product removal technique for simultaneous production of propionic acid and vitamin B12 by expanded bed adsorption bioreactor. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 104, p. 652–659, 2012. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.10.047>.

WANG, Z.; LIN, M.; WANG, L.; AMMAR, E. M.; YANG, S. T. Metabolic engineering of *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* subsp. *shermanii* for enhanced propionic acid fermentation: Effects of overexpressing three biotin-dependent carboxylases. **Process Biochemistry**, v. 50, n. 2, p. 194–204, 2015. Disponível em: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2014.10.005>.

WANG, Z.; SUN, J.; ZHANG, A.; YANG, S.-T. Propionic acid fermentation. *In*: YANG, S.-T.; EL-ENSHASY, H. A.; THONGCHUL, N. **Bioprocessing Technologies in Biorefinery for Sustainable Production of Fuels, Chemicals, and Polymers**. 1. ed. Ohio: John Wiley & Sons, Inc, 2013. p. 331–345.

WANG, Z.; XU, H.; WU, J.; YE, J.; YANG, Z. Sensitive detection of *Salmonella* with fluorescent bioconjugated nanoparticles probe. **Food Chemistry**, v. 125, n. 2, p. 779–784, mar. 2011. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.09.020>.

WANG, Z.; YANG, S. T. Propionic acid production in glycerol/glucose cofermentation by *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* subsp. *shermanii*. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 137, p. 116–123, 2013. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.03.012>.

WEMMENHOVE, E.; VAN VALENBERG, H. J. F.; ZWIETERING, M. H.; VAN HOOIJDONK, T. C. M.; WELLS-BENNIK, M. H. J. Minimal inhibitory concentrations of undissociated lactic, acetic, citric and propionic acid for *Listeria monocytogenes* under conditions relevant to cheese. **Food Microbiology**, v. 58, p. 63–67, set. 2016. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2016.03.012>.

WERNICKI, A.; NOWACZEK, A.; URBAN-CHMIEL, R. Bacteriophage therapy to combat bacterial infections in poultry. **Virology Journal**, v. 14, n. 1, p. 179, 16 dez. 2017. Disponível em:

http://virologyj.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12985-017-0849-7>.

WHITE, D. G.; ZHAO, S.; SUDLER, R.; AYERS, S.; FRIEDMAN, S.; CHEN, S.; MCDERMOTT, P. F.; MCDERMOTT, S.; WAGNER, D. D.; MENG, J. The Isolation of Antibiotic-Resistant **Salmonella** from Retail Ground Meats. **New England Journal of Medicine**, v. 345, n. 16, p. 1147–1154, 18 out. 2001. Disponível em: http://www.nejm.org/doi/abs/10.1056/NEJMoa010315>.

WHITING, R. C.; BUCHANAN, R. L. A classification of models in predictive microbiology - a reply to K.R. Davey. **Food Microbiology**, v. 10, n. 2, p. 175–177, abr. 1993. Disponível em:

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0740002083710178.

WOOD, H. G. Metabolic Cycles in the fermentation by propionic acid bacteria. *In*: **Current Topics in Cellular Regulation**. [s.l.] ACADEMIC PRESS, INC., 1981. p. 255–287.

XU, Z.; SHI, Z.; JIANG, L. Acetic and propionic acids. *In*: **Comprehensive Biotechnology**. [s.l.] Elsevier, 2011. p. 189–199.

YADAV, P.; CHAUHAN, A. K.; SINGH, R. B.; KHAN, S.; HALABI, G. Organic acids: Microbial sources, production, and applications. *In*: **Functional Foods and Nutraceuticals in Metabolic and Non-Communicable Diseases**. [s.l.] Elsevier, 2022. p. 325–337.

YAN, G. L.; GUO, Y. M.; YUAN, J. M.; LIU, D.; ZHANG, B. K. Sodium alginate oligosaccharides from brown algae inhibit *Salmonella* Enteritidis colonization in broiler chickens. **Poultry Science**, v. 90, n. 7, p. 1441–1448, jul. 2011. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.3382/ps.2011-01364>.

YANG, H.; WANG, Z.; LIN, M.; YANG, S. T. Propionic acid production from soy molasses by *Propionibacterium acidipropionici*: Fermentation kinetics and economic analysis. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 250, n. November 2017, p. 1–9, 2018. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.11.016>.

YUK, H. G.; SCHNEIDER, K. R. Adaptation of *Salmonella* spp. in juice stored under refrigerated and room temperature enhances acid resistance to simulated gastric fluid. **Food Microbiology**, v. 23, n. 7, p. 694–700, out. 2006. Disponível em: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0740002005001449>.

ZENTEK, J.; GOODARZI BOROOJENI, F. (Bio)Technological processing of poultry and pig feed: Impact on the composition, digestibility, anti-nutritional factors and hygiene. **Animal Feed Science and Technology**, v. 268, n. April, p. 114576, out. 2020. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114576,

ZHANG, A.; YANG, S. Propionic acid production from glycerol by metabolically engineered *Propionibacterium acidipropionici*. **Process Biochemistry**, v. 44, n. 12, p. 1346–1351, dez. 2009. Disponível em: <https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1359511309002360>.

ZHAO, T.; ZHAO, P.; DOYLE, M. P. Inactivation of *Salmonella* and *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on lettuce and poultry skin by combinations of levulinic acid and sodium dodecyl sulfate. **Journal of Food Protection**, v. 72, n. 5, p. 928–936, 1 maio 2009. Disponível em:

https://meridian.allenpress.com/jfp/article/72/5/928/172259/Inactivation-of-Salmonella-and-Escherichia-coli.

ZHU, L.; WEI, P.; CAI, J.; ZHU, X.; WANG, Z.; HUANG, L.; XU, Z. Improving the productivity of propionic acid with FBB-immobilized cells of an adapted acid-tolerant *Propionibacterium acidipropionici*. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 112, p. 248–253, 2012. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.01.055>.

ZHU, Y.; LI, J.; TAN, M.; LIU, L.; JIANG, L.; SUN, J.; LEE, P.; DU, G.; CHEN, J. Optimization and scale-up of propionic acid production by propionic acid-tolerant *Propionibacterium acidipropionici* with glycerol as the carbon source. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 101, n. 22, p. 8902–8906, 2010. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.06.070>.

ZHU, Y.; XIA, X.; LIU, A.; ZOU, L.; ZHOU, K.; HAN, X.; HAN, G.; LIU, S. Effects of combined organic acid treatments during the cutting process on the natural microflora and quality of chicken drumsticks. **Food Control**, v. 67, p. 1–8, set. 2016. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2016.02.031.

ZHUGE, X.; LIU, L.; SHIN, H. dong; CHEN, R. R.; LI, J.; DU, G.; CHEN, J. Development of a *Propionibacterium-Escherichia coli* shuttle vector for metabolic

engineering of *Propionibacterium jensenii*, an efficient producer of propionic acid. **Applied and Environmental Microbiology**, v. 79, n. 15, p. 4595–4602, 2013.

ZISHIRI, O. T.; MKHIZE, N.; MUKARATIRWA, S. Prevalence of virulence and antimicrobial resistance genes in *Salmonella* spp. isolated from commercial chickens and human clinical isolates from South Africa and Brazil. **Onderstepoort J Vet Res**, v. 83, n. 1, p. 1–11, 9 mar. 2016. Disponível em: <http://www.ojvr.org/index.php/ojvr/article/view/1067>.